

## University of South Florida Digital Commons @ University of South Florida

USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations

USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations

November 2022

## Anthropogenic Fecal Pollution Affects Microbial Water Quality and Multidrug Resistance in Tropical Aquatic Environments

Adriana González-Fernández University of South Florida

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd

Part of the Microbiology Commons

#### Scholar Commons Citation

González-Fernández, Adriana, "Anthropogenic Fecal Pollution Affects Microbial Water Quality and Multidrug Resistance in Tropical Aquatic Environments" (2022). USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations.

https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd/10389

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations at Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. It has been accepted for inclusion in USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usf.edu.

#### Anthropogenic Fecal Pollution Affects Microbial Water Quality and Multidrug Resistance in

**Tropical Aquatic Environments** 

by

Adriana González-Fernández

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy with a concentration in Environmental and Ecological Microbiology Department of Integrative Biology College of Arts and Sciences University of South Florida

> Major Professor: Valerie J. Harwood, Ph.D. Mya Breitbart, Ph.D. Kathleen Scott, Ph.D. Andrew Kramer, Ph.D.

> > Date of Approval: October 4<sup>th</sup>, 2022

Keywords: QMRA, FIB, coliphages, norovirus, adenovirus, MST

Copyright © 2022, Adriana González-Fernández

#### **DEDICATION**

To my family, it was your unconditional love and support that made it possible for me to pursue my dreams.

To all my friends and loved ones who always encouraged me to keep pushing forward during the most difficult times. Carlos, you helped me get here. B you gave me shelter, endless support and you made me fall in love with Saint Pete. Greta and Greg, you both rescued me and offered your shoulder in the hardest moments. Ernest, you were my biggest supporter when I needed it the most.

To Erin, my first mentor and dear friend. Thank you for your guidance, you are a role model and inspiration.

To Hector, thank you for showing me the way of discipline, commitment, and perseverance, it changed my life.

To all international students that decide to leave their home country to pursue a postgraduate degree, you have my admiration.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	i
TABLE OF CONTENTS	ii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	X
ABSTRACT	xiii
CHAPTER ONE: BACKGROUND ON POINT SOURCE WASTEWATER POLLUTION EFFECTS ON MICROBIAL WATER QUALITY AND ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE IN TROPICAL BEACHES	1
Importance of the coastal environment	1
Environmental variables and their implications for recreational water quality	2
Waterborne pathogens and antibiotic resistance are a major public health concern	2
Microbial water quality monitoring of recreational waters	3
Source of pollution matters for microbial water quality purposes	4
Alternative indicators to conventional FIB in tropical waters, microbial source tracking of fecal pollution and reference pathogens	5
Quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA)	6
Monitoring of antibiotic resistant bacteria and multidrug resistance	7
Research chapters: Objectives of the dissertation	7
Chapter 2: The relationships among microbial indicators of fecal pollution, microbial source tracking markers, and pathogens in Costa Rican coastal waters	7
Chapter 3: Risk of gastroenteritis from swimming at a wastewater- impacted tropical beach varies across localized scales	8
Chapter 4: Multidrug-resistant E. coli and Enterococcus sp. in Costa Rican wastewater and surface waters	9
References	10

CHAPTER TWO: RELATIONSHIPS AMONG MICROBIAL INDICATORS OF	
FECAL POLLUTION, MICROBIAL SOURCE TRACKING MARKERS, AND	
PATHOGENS IN COSTA RICAN COASTAL WATERS	15
CHAPTER THREE: RISK OF GASTROENTERITIS FROM SWIMMING AT A	
WASTEWATER-IMPACTED TROPICAL BEACH VARIES ACROSS	
LOCALIZED SCALES	
Key Highlights	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Material and Methods	
Study site and study design	
Sample concentration and handling	
Microbial analysis	
Nucleic acid extraction (-reverse transcription)	
Extraction (-reverse transcription) controls and efficiency calculation	
(RT-)qPCR analyses	
(RT-)qPCR inhibition testing	
Estimation of microbial concentrations from (RT-)qPCR Cq values	40
Environmental data	
Data analyses	
Differences by river and season	
Redundancy analysis- Effect of environmental variables on fecal microorganisms	43
Risk of gastroenteritis and viral log10 reduction values required for safe swimming	
Results	
Differences in microbial concentrations by subwatershed and season	
Relationship of environmental variables to microbial concentrations	
Quantitative microbial risk assessment for GI illness due to swimming person and river.	er 50
Viral log10 reduction values needed for safe swimming conditions per subwatershed	
Discussion	
Conclusions	
Acknowledgments	61
References	61
Tables	

Figures	
CHAPTER FOUR: MULTIDRUG-RESISTANT E. COLI AND ENTEROCOCCUS	
SPP. IN COSTA RICAN WASTEWATER AND SURFACE WATERS	85
Abstract	85
Introduction	86
Methods	90
Study site	90
Sampling and culture of FIB	90
Phylogenetic confirmation of ampicillin-resistant isolates	91
Frequency of resistance of E. coli and Enterococcus to ampicillin	
Multidrug-resistance testing	92
Statistical data analysis	
Frequency of resistance of E. coli and Enterococcus to ampicillin	93
Differences in levels of ampicillin-resistant FIB among sampling sites	
Susceptibility of ampicillin-resistant FIB to other antibiotics	
Frequency of multidrug resistance	
Results	
Frequency of ampicillin-resistant E. coli and Enterococcus in wastewater, effluent, and the estuary	
Susceptibility of ampicillin-resistant FIB to other antibiotics	
Multidrug resistance in wastewater, effluent, and the estuary	
Discussion	99
Resistance of E. coli and Enterococcus to ampicillin in wastewater, effluent, and the Puntarenas estuary	100
Susceptibility of ampicillin-resistant FIB to other antibiotics	101
Multidrug resistance of E. coli and Enterococcus in wastewater, effluent, and the Puntarenas estuary	103
Conclusions	104
References	105
Tables	112
Figures	117
AFTERWORD	127
Summary	127
Future directions	127

APPENDICES	
Appendix A. Chapter two	
Appendix B. Chapter three	
Appendix C. Chapter three supplementary materials	
References	
Appendix D. Chapter four supplementary materials	

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	: Sampling design, concentration and analytical methods and their process limit of detection (pLOD) and quantification (pLOQ) in the rivers and ocean. See methods for citations for specific assays	. 70
Table 2:	: (RT-)qPCR assay primers probes and reaction conditions. Modified from Gonzalez-Fernandez <i>et al.</i> (2021)	. 72
Table 3:	: Frequency of exceedance of recreational water quality criteria (RWQC) according to Costa Rican (CR) and US Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) recommendations in the rivers and the ocean (Mora, 2007; US EPA, 2012a) in the rainy and dry seasons. STV = statistical threshold value and GM= geometric mean. CR = Costa Rica	. 75
Table 4:	: Frequency of pathogen detection (percentage of positive observations) in rivers $(n = 78)$ in the rainy (n=39) and dry seasons (n=39) per river sampled (n=13)	. 76
Table 5:	: Viral log10 reduction values (LRVs) needed to ensure safe swimming conditions at Jacó beach by river, and season. The LRV range represented was based upon the cumulative viral risk of GI illness to swimmers calculated using the norovirus genogroup I (NoVGI) disaggregate model	. 77
Table 6:	: Comparison of analysis of deviance results and calculated p-value to test if the independent variables provide a statistically significant improvement on the null model for: A) Logistic regression models used separately to predict <i>E. coli</i> and <i>Enterococcus</i> frequency of resistance with sampling sites, antibiotics tested and their interaction (sites*antibiotic) and B) a linear regression model used to predict FIB ( <i>E. coli</i> and <i>Enterococcus</i> ) frequency of resistance to three or more antibiotic classes with sampling site and FIB type	112
Table 7:	: Influence of site and antibiotics on the log odds of <i>E. coli</i> resistance frequency to additional antibiotics. The model's intercept corresponds to site [residential wastewater], antibiotic [GEN] or their interaction [residential wastewater] * [GEN]. Significant relationships are bolded (P-values <0.05)	113

Table 8: ]	Influence of site and antibiotic on the log odds of <i>Enterococcus</i> resistance frequency to additional antibiotics. The model's intercept corresponds to site [residential wastewater] and antibiotic [GEN]. Significant relationships are	
1	bolded (P-values <0.05)	. 115
Table 9: 1	Influence of site and FIB on the log odds of multidrug resistance frequency. The model's intercept corresponds to site [residential wastewater] or FIB [ <i>E. coli</i> ]. Significant relationships are bolded (P-values <0.05)	. 116
Table S1	: Descriptive statistics for rivers (CP= Copey, NJ=Naranjal and MD= Madrigal) sampled (n=13) during the rainy season (n=39). A) bacterial indicator microorganisms, B) viral indicator microorganisms, C) microbial source tracking (MST) markers and D) pathogens. Percent censored refers to the percentage of observations that were not quantifiable, arranged in order of non- detects (below the assay LOD)/ detected but not quantifiable (above assay LOD and below the assay LOQ)/combined non-detect and detected but not quantifiable. SD = standard deviation.	. 130
Table S2	: Descriptive statistics per river (CP= Copey, NJ=Naranjal and MD= Madrigal) sampled (n=13) during the dry season (n=39). A) bacterial indicator microorganisms, B) viral indicator microorganisms, C) MST markers and D) pathogens. Percent censored refers to the percentage of observations that were not quantifiable, arranged in order of non-detects (below the assay LOD)/ detected but not quantifiable (above assay LOD and below the assay LOQ)/combined non-detect and detected but not quantifiable. SD = Standard deviation.	. 133
Table S3	: Descriptive statistics for microbial variables at ocean sites impacted by each river regardless of season (n=26 samples per ocean site). Percent censored refers to the percentage of observations that were not quantifiable, arranged in order of non-detects (below the assay LOD)/ detected but not quantifiable (above assay LOD and below the assay LOQ)/combined non-detect and detected but not quantifiable. SD = standard deviation.	. 136
Table S4	: Statistical output of A) Multiple regression of species (microorganisms) with ordination axes in data. P-values <0.05 are bolded, B) Permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) to test for differences in microorganisms between seasons, subwatersheds and the interaction effect between season and subwatershed in river and ocean data, C) Pairwise PERMANOVA with Holm p-value adjustment in river data, D) Pairwise PERMANOVA with Holm p-value adjustment in ocean data, E) Redundancy analysis (RDA) in river data, F) RDA analysis in ocean data	. 137

Table S5:	Quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) model parameter assumptions and equations	142
Table S6:	Estimated distribution of pathogen concentrations in rivers calculated for quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA). CFU = colony forming units, rROS = robust regression on order statistics	144
Table S7:	Quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) model parameter assumptions for sensitivity analyses with realistic values from the literature	146
Table S8:	Frequency of pathogen detection (percentage of observations >LOD) with data combined from all rivers in the rainy and dry seasons. The theoretical process limit of detection and quantification is included in Table 1	149
Table S9:	Mean and standard deviation of pathogens in the river data $(n = 78)$ per season sampled $(n=39)$ . Percent left-censored refers to the percent of observations that are below the LOD of <i>Giardia</i> , <i>Cryptosporidium</i> and <i>Salmonella</i> assays and below the LOD and LOQ of NoVGI and AdV assays	150
Table S1(	): Descriptive statistics in the ocean data (n = 78) per season sampled (n=39). Percent censored refers to the percentage of observations that were not quantifiable, arranged in order of non-detects (below the assay LOD)/ detected but not quantifiable (above assay LOD and below the assay LOQ)/combined non-detect and detected but not quantifiable. SD = standard deviation	151
Table S11	I: Viral log10 reduction values (LRVs) needed to ensure safe swimming conditions at Jacó beach by river, and season. The LRV range represented was based upon the cumulative viral risk of GI illness to swimmers calculated using the norovirus genogroup I (NoVGI) aggregate (agg) model	152
Table S1:	Antibiotics chosen for the Kirby-Bauer disc diffusion assay for <i>E. coli</i> as well as their relevance to the study	160
Table S2:	Antibiotics chosen for the Kirby-Bauer disc diffusion assay for <i>Enterococcus spp</i> . as well as their relevance to the study	162
Table S3:	Statistical results for testing for differences in $log_{10}$ mean total and ampicillin- resistant <i>E. coli</i> and <i>Enterococcus</i> concentrations among sampling sites. Significant differences (P-values <0.05) are bolded. P- values associated to Tuckey HSD test are shown in the last column	164

Table S4: Significance of pairwise comparisons of log <sub>10</sub> mean concentrations of <i>E. coli</i>	
and Enterococcus by site. Significant differences between sites (P-values	
<0.05) are bolded	165

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Consan to t of r assa	mparison of left censored observations for each microbial variable in river nples during the rainy(n=39) and dry season (n=39). Percent censored refers the percentage of observations that were not quantifiable, arranged in order non-detects (below the assay LOD), detected but not quantifiable (above ay LOD and below the assay LOO) and quantifiable data (above assay	
LO	Q)	8
Figure 2: Con sam pere dete qua	mparison of left censored observations for each microbial variable in ocean nples during the rainy (n=39) and dry season (n=39). The y-axis refers to the centage of observations that were not detected (below the assay LOD), ected but not quantifiable (above assay LOD and below the assay LOQ) and antifiable data (above assay LOQ)	9
Figure 3: Can can coli <i>Cry</i> and mic	nonical analysis of principal components (CAP) ordination plot showing nonical axes that best discriminate microbial variables (enterococci, fecal iforms, somatic and F+ coliphage, <i>C. perfringens, Salmonella, Giardia,</i> <i>sptosporidium</i> , NovGI, AdV) across river sites: Copey (CP), Naranjal (NJ) I Madrigal (MD), and season: rainy (circle) and dry (triangle) seasons. Fecal croorganism's vectors are depicted in the correlation biplot as arrows	0
Figure 4: Fec. mea (cir	cal indicator microorganism, microbial source tracking marker and pathogen an concentrations across river sites: Copey, Naranjal and Madrigal, in rainy ccle) and dry (triangle) seasons	1
Figure 5: Can can coli rega	nonical analysis of principal components (CAP) ordination plot showing nonical axes that best discriminate microbial variables (enterococci, fecal iforms and HF183) across ocean areas: Copey, Naranjal and Madrigal, ardless of season. Fecal microorganism's vectors are depicted in the relation biplot as arrows	2
Figure 6: Fec. Nar	al indicator microorganism and HF183 mean concentrations in Copey (red), ranjal (blue) and Madrigal (green) in the ocean, regardless of season	3

Figure 7:	Median risk of gastrointestinal (GI) illness to swimmers for each river and season by pathogen, as well as cumulatively. Estimates for NoVGI and cumulative risk were calculated with the disaggregate NoVGI model. Color scales indicate how the median value of risk compared to the US EPA Recreational Water Quality health benchmark (recommendation 1: 36 illness per 1000 recreators), with red exceeding the criteria. Microbial abbreviations are as follows: adenovirus (AdV), norovirus disaggregate model (NoVGI), all pathogens (Total)
Figure 8:	Map of the study site. El Roble Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) and Monseñor Sanabria Hospital appear on map. Sampling stations are designated: A) hospital wastewater, B) residential wastewater, C) treated effluent, and D) Puntarenas estuary where the WWTP effluent is discharged
Figure 9:	Comparison of the frequency of ampicillin-resistant <i>E. coli</i> and <i>Enterococcus</i> spp. (proportion of total population) with data combined from all sites. The figure shows estimated least-square (LS) means derived from the fitted beta regression model. Whiskers are the 95% confidence intervals (CIs). The means of groups that do not share a letter are significantly different (p-value <0.05). Comparison among sampling sites is not shown in figure as sampling site was not a significant predictor
Figure 10	2: Comparison of $\log_{10}$ mean concentrations ( $\log_{10}$ CFU/100 mL) of ampicillin resistant <i>Enterococcus</i> spp. and <i>E. coli</i> among sampling sites. Boxplots represent 1 <sup>st</sup> , median and 3 <sup>rd</sup> quartile, and the dotted line represents the mean. Whiskers are the minimum and maximum and dots are outliers. The means of groups that share a letter are not significantly different
Figure 11	: Frequency of susceptibility of ampicillin-resistant <i>E. coli</i> isolates at each site to the following antibiotics: cefotaxime (CTX), ciprofloxacin (CIP), amoxicillin with clavulanic acid (AMC), gentamicin (GEN), tetracycline (TET), and trimethoprim sulfamethoxazole (SXT). Ampicillin is not shown in the plot as all isolates tested were fully resistant to ampicillin, the selective antibiotic in the isolation procedure. Larger circles denote higher frequency of isolates and smaller circles denote lower frequency. Additionally, the color scale from blue to red demotes increasing frequency of isolates

Figure 12:	Frequency of susceptibility of ampicillin-resistant <i>Enterococcus</i> isolates to the following antibiotics: ciprofloxacin (CIP), erythromycin (ERY), gentamycin (GEN), linezolid (LZD), tetracycline (TET), and vancomycin (VAN). Ampicillin is not shown in the plot as all isolates tested were fully resistant to ampicillin, the selective in the isolation procedure. Larger circles denote higher frequency of isolates and smaller circles denote lower frequency. Additionally, the color scale from blue to red demotes increasing frequency of isolates
Figure 13:	Frequency of additional resistance phenotypes in ampicillin-resistant <i>E. coli</i> isolates by site. CN (gentamicin), TE (tetracycline), CTX (cefotaxime), trimethoprim sulfamethazole (SXT) and ciprofloxacin (CIP). We fitted a logistic model to predict resistance (yes/no) with site, antibiotic, and the interaction effect between both factors (site* antibiotic). Predicted frequency of resistance (dots) and confidence intervals (CI) are shown in figure
Figure 14:	Comparison of frequency of multidrug resistance of <i>E. coli</i> and <i>Enterococcus</i> isolates per sampling site. The percent of multidrug-resistant isolates ( $\geq$ 3 antibiotic classes) is shown in a pie chart for <i>E. coli</i> (overall n= 112) (left) and <i>Enterococcus</i> (overall n = 58) (right). Sample size per site for <i>E. coli</i> and <i>Enterococcus</i> is as follows: Hospital influent (n = 27 and 11), residential influent (n=29 and 13), effluent (n = 28 and 18) and estuary (n=28 and 16) 123
Figure 15:	Proportion of isolates to multiple classes of antibiotics among <i>E. coli</i> and <i>Enterococcus</i> isolates at each site. Sample size per site for <i>E. coli</i> and <i>Enterococcus</i> is as follows: Hospital influent ( $n = 27$ and 11), residential influent ( $n=29$ and 13), effluent ( $n = 28$ and 18) and estuary ( $n=28$ and 16)
Figure 16:	Proportion of different combinations of antibiotics found in sampling sites for <i>E. coli</i> isolates. Sample size per site is as follows: Hospital influent ( $n = 27$ ), residential influent ( $n=29$ ), effluent ( $n = 28$ ) and estuary ( $n=28$ )
Figure 17:	Proportion of different combinations of antibiotics found in sampling sites for <i>Enterococcus</i> spp. isolates. Sample size is as follows: Hospital influent ( $n = 11$ ), residential influent ( $n = 13$ ), effluent ( $n = 18$ ) and estuary ( $n = 16$ )
Figure S1:	Redundancy analysis (RDA) ordination plot showing that water temperature and rainfall 48 h prior to sampling (blue arrows) were the environmental variables that optimized the relationship between microorganisms in rivers. Species (red) plotted were selected based on goodness of fit ( $r^2=0.4$ )

Figure S2: Redundancy analysis (RDA) ordination plot showing that water temperature and rainfall 48 h and 96 h prior of sampling were the environmental variables that optimized the relationship between microorganisms in the ocean
Figure S3: Median risk of gastrointestinal (GI) illness to swimmers for each river and season by pathogen, as well as cumulatively. Estimates for NoVGI and cumulative risk were calculated with the aggregate NoVGI model. Color scales indicate how the median value of risk compared to the US EPA Recreational Water Quality health benchmark (recommendation 1: 36 illness per 1000)
<ul> <li>Figure S4: Risk of gastrointestinal (GI) illness for swimmers recreating in the rivers during the dry and rainy seasons by pathogen, as well as cumulatively for all pathogens, in comparison to the US EPA Recreational Water Quality benchmark of 36 GI illness per 1000 swimmers (Recommendation 1, 0.036). Adenovirus (AdV), <i>Cryptosporidium</i> (Crypto), norovirus aggregate model (NoV_agg), norovirus dissagregate model (NoV_dis), all pathogens with NoVGI aggregate model (Path_agg), all pathogens with NoVGI dissagregate model (Path_dis). Boxes represent 25<sup>th</sup>, 50<sup>th</sup>, 75<sup>th</sup> quartiles and whiskers represent minimum and maximum</li></ul>
Figure S5: Sensitivity analysis of the quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) for swimmers in the rivers, demonstrating the sensitivity of each model parameter (y axis) on the cumulative pathogen illness based upon Spearman rank order correlations (x axis) depicted in a tornado plot

### ABSTRACT

Although an often-overlooked issue, fecal pollution at recreational beaches should concern everyone. Worldwide more than 80% of wastewater is discharged into rivers or the ocean without any treatment. Untreated and inefficiently treated wastewater can introduce diseasecausing microorganisms into the aquatic environment. Fecal-borne pathogens can also originate in animal waste, and humans can be exposed to these pathogens from poorly managed animal feces that make their way into the aquatic environment. Exposure to waterborne pathogens in recreational waters is a public health hazard, as it facilitates the transmission of waterborne illness, and surface waters serve as natural reservoirs of antibiotic resistant bacteria and their genes. To ensure safe swimming conditions the World Health Organization (WHO) recommends the use of sanitary inspections, routine monitoring, and quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA).

The use of fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) is essential for beach management. It is expensive and logistically challenging to try to measure all disease-causing microorganisms present in environmental waters. Therefore, we rely on compliance monitoring of FIB (e.g., enterococci) to help protect people from the health risks associated with swimming in polluted waters. FIB monitoring is based on standardized methodology, and the connection of FIB levels to gastrointestinal illness in swimmers is derived from epidemiology studies. Nevertheless, one of the major drawbacks of using FIB is that we are unable to differentiate sources of fecal contamination. FIB are present in the gut of numerous warm, and even cold-blooded animals, and can persist in extra-intestinal sources like sediments and vegetation. Due to the specific nature of the association of many pathogens with their host (for example, viruses that specifically infect humans), there is an increased risk when fecal contamination comes from humans and certain animals such as cattle (for example, Salmonella, Yersinia enterocolitica, Listeria monocytogenesis, and Crytosporidium are often found in manure:). For this reason, methods to detect host-associated microorganisms, collectively termed microbial source tracking (MST) markers are used to identify microbial contamination from feces of key animal groups that may contaminate recreational waters. For example, quantitative real-time PCR assays that target the human-specific HF183 Bacteriodes 16S rRNA genetic marker is often used to detect human faecal pollution in surface waters. Epidemiological studies are the gold standard when it comes to determining the human health risk associated with exposure to polluted waters. However, these studies are expensive and logistically difficult to perform. Quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) is a framework that uses mathematical models to estimate the risk of infection and disease when a population is exposed to microorganisms in the environment. In this sense, QMRA is a powerful tool that can be used to improve beach management, as it helps us understand the impact that certain microorganisms in the environment will have on the health of swimmers. Together, effective monitoring to characterize water quality, accurate identification of sources of pollution, and estimation of risk posed to swimmers are paramount to support management strategies to protect human health and the environment.

In chapter two of this dissertation, the relationships among microbial indicators of fecal pollution, MST marker genes, and pathogens were analyzed in Costa Rican coastal waters. We found that regardless of season, Jacó rivers were implicated as sources of human fecal contamination based on percent exceedance of recreational water quality guidelines (RWQC), high MST marker concentrations, and occurrence of diverse waterborne pathogens. We compared and

XV

evaluated exceedance of RWQC and performance of indicator microorganisms and MST markers with respect to pathogen detection and determined that the US EPA enterococci statistical threshold value (STV) criterion had the highest positive (78%) and negative (96%) predictive value of all indicators in ocean samples. We concluded that no one fecal indicator or MST sewage marker best correlated with pathogens; rather, the use of multiple fecal indicators and MST markers maximized pathogen correlations. We recommend a fecal pollution toolbox approach, containing at least one viral indicator for pathogen prediction at tropical beaches, as the use of viral indicators maximized pathogen correlations in both river and ocean data.

Chapter three describes a second study at the polluted beach in Costa Rica, wherein indicators, MST markers and pathogens were measured in river and ocean samples. QMRA was performed to estimate the risk of gastroenteritis from swimming in rivers in three subwatersheds at the beach. We determined that median risk from pathogens in river samples was above the USEPA benchmark of 36 illnesses per 1000 recreators (it ranged from 0.345 to 0.577). Risk of gastrointestinal illness varied at a localized scale within three different subwatersheds at the beach. Norovirus genogroup I (NoVGI) followed by adenoviruses contributed the most to risk of gastrointestinal illness in all subwatersheds. We found that FIB exceedances were higher during rainy season, but risk was greater in the dry compared to rainy season, due largely to the increased frequency of detection of NoVGI (the main driver of risk) in dry season (100% vs 41%). We concluded that substantial viral  $log_{10}$  reduction (3.8 – 4.1 dry; 2.7 -3.2 rainy) are needed to ensure safe swimming conditions in Jacó rivers.

Lastly, chapter four is a field study in which we explored the extent of ampicillin resistance and multidrug resistance of the FIB *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* spp. in Costa Rican wastewater and surface waters. *E. coli* were more frequently resistant to ampicillin (18%) than were *Enterococcus* spp (4%). Forty two percent of *E. coli* isolates and 45% of *Enterococcus* isolates in this study were multidrug-resistant (resistant to more than 3 antibiotic classes). *E. coli* isolates that were resistant to a combination of 6 different classes of antibiotics were found frequently and exclusively in the hospital wastewater. *E. coli* isolated from the hospital wastewater were more likely to be resistant (~ 40% of isolates) to gentamicin, cefotaxime, and ciprofloxacin versus those isolated from residential wastewater, the treated (but not disinfected) effluent and the estuary where the wastewater treatment plant discharges (<25% of isolates). *Enterococcus* isolates were frequently resistant to tetracycline (>50% of isolates), erythromycin (~ 25% of isolates) and ciprofloxacin (~10% to 25% of isolates). Our results indicate that although wastewater from hospital and residential water can be important sources of antibiotic resistant bacteria, those bacteria are also present in high frequency in the estuary and highlight the importance of disinfection of the treated effluent prior to its release into the environment.

Clean water is considered an essential human right by the United Nations. Not surprisingly, clean water is a prominent need described on the worldwide sustainable development agenda. The sustainable development goal to "ensure availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all", reminds us of the importance of water and sanitation in the global development agenda. Clean water and sanitation for all is an ambitious goal as millions of people worldwide collect their drinking water directly from surface waters and billons lack basic or managed sanitation services. A lack of progress on eliminating wastewater pollution impedes achieving many of the sustainable development goals. Furthermore, to achieve the water and sanitation-related sustainable development goals and address antibiotic resistance, sustainable management of water resources is necessary and more likely to be attainable by focusing efforts

xvii

in areas where sanitation is lacking. Results of this research serve as a baseline for future reference that can help improve coastal management of tropical polluted beaches.

## CHAPTER ONE: BACKGROUND ON POINT SOURCE WASTEWATER POLLUTION EFFECTS ON MICROBIAL WATER QUALITY AND ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE IN TROPICAL BEACHES

#### Importance of the coastal environment

Coastal ecosystems play an important role in the global economy since they provide substantial goods and services, including the rapidly growing coastal tourism industry (Burke *et al.*, 2001; Hall, 2001). According to the World Tourism Organization, tourism is one of the most important sectors in global economy, i.e., in 2019 tourism contributed to 10.3 % of global gross domestic product (GDP) (WTTC, 2021). Coastal tourism is increasing worldwide, adding pressure to the marine environment, which is one of the environments most affected by human pollution (Sánchez-Quiles and Tovar-Sánchez, 2015). For example, domestic sewage is a pollutant that has a major deleterious effect on many marine and freshwater ecosystems. Worldwide more than 80% of wastewater resulting from human activities is discharged into rivers or the ocean without any treatment (United Nations World Water Assessment Programme, 2017). Fecal pollution in the form of untreated or inefficiently treated wastewater may lead to the introduction of enteric human pathogens and antibiotic resistant bacteria into the aquatic ecosystem, which pose a serious threat to human health worldwide (Cui *et al.*, 2019; Gottlieb & Nimmo, 2011).

#### Environmental variables and their implications for recreational water quality

Climate change factors and population growth are expected to increasingly compromise recreational waters through increased introduction of pathogens, resulting in increased risk of human exposure to waterborne pathogens (Crimmins *et al.*, 2016). Pollution input on fresh water and marine resources is expected to be intensified by climate change factors, such as, increased precipitation, hurricanes and storm surges (Crimmins *et al.*, 2016; IPCC, 2007). The amount of runoff can affect bacterial input to aquatic environments in tropical regions (Coffey *et al.*, 2014; Milly *et al.*, 2005; Muller *et al.*, 2011; Strauch *et al.*, 2014). Climate change also poses a significant threat to sanitation infrastructure when failure due to extreme weather events causes either damage or exceedance of sanitation system capacity, which can lead to increased sewage spills and water quality deterioration (Crimmins *et al.*, 2016; Howard *et al.*, 2010).

#### Waterborne pathogens and antibiotic resistance are a major public health concern

Infectious disease caused by pathogenic microorganisms (i.e., bacteria, viruses, protozoa and helminths), as well as antibiotic resistant bacteria are a global health concern (Frieden, 2013; World Health Organization, 2014). The economic burden of recreational waterborne illness in the US has been estimated at \$2.2- \$3.7 billion annually (DeFlorio-Barker *et al.*, 2018). Between 333–1696 hospitalizations and 16–67 deaths have been estimated to occur in the US due to waterborne illness annually (DeFlorio-Barker *et al.*, 2018). Antibiotic resistance has emerged as a growing concern due to the cost of treatment of infections by antibiotic resistant bacteria, and the cost to society due to loss of productivity (Frieden, 2013; WHO, 2014). According to the CDC, antibiotic resistant bacteria in the US cause more than 2.8 million infections and 35,000 deaths per year (CDC, 2019). In addition, multidrug-resistant infections, which are more difficult to

treat, are increasing worldwide (Levy and Bonnie, 2004; Nikaido, 2009). These and other reasons make antibiotic resistance among the biggest threats to human health. (WHO, 2015).

#### Microbial water quality monitoring of recreational waters

Fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) are commonly used to predict the risk of pathogen presence in recreational waters and to assess microbial water quality (Griffith *et al.*, 2009; McQuaig *et al.*, 2012; US EPA, 2012). Waterborne enteric pathogens may be shed by the host through feces into the aquatic environment and may then infect other hosts (Percival *et al.*, 2004). Detection of pathogens in water can be challenging because (1) pathogens can be very diluted in water, (2) methods of detection often lack analytical sensitivity, (3) currently there is no single method to detect all pathogenic microorganisms because of physical differences between pathogen groups (Straub y Chandler, 2003). FIB are therefore used instead to indicate the presence of fecal contamination and probable presence of pathogens. Measuring FIB (i.e., *Escherichia coli*, fecal coliforms, and enterococci) concentrations in surface waters is preferred to quantifying pathogens since FIB are present at higher concentrations in wastewater, culturing techniques are straightforward and relatively inexpensive, and the testing poses little risk to laboratory personnel (Harwood *et al.*, 2005).

The predictive relationship of FIB with pathogens has not been well established in tropical settings, since recreational water quality criteria have been extrapolated from studies performed in temperate regions (Boehm *et al.*, 2009; Fujioka *et al.*, 2015). US EPA criteria used to determine whether it is safe to swim were developed based on the relationships between FIB concentrations and the rates of recreational waterborne illness taken from epidemiology studies performed at temperate beaches impacted by point sources of pollution, i.e., a single identifiable

3

source of pollution (e.g., a discharge pipe) (Cabelli, 1983; Cabelli *et al.*, 1982; US EPA, 2012). Furthermore, studies did not find statistically significant correlations between levels of FIB and adverse human health outcomes when beaches were impacted by non-point sources of pollution (e.g., runoff and stormwater), or showed no correlations between indicators and pathogens (Boehm *et al.*, 2009; Fujioka *et al.*, 2015; Saingam *et al.*, 2020; US EPA, 2012).

#### Source of pollution matters for microbial water quality purposes

Conventional FIB cannot identify the source of pollution (e.g., point vs non-point source; human vs. animal), which limits their use in monitoring water quality. FIB are not exclusively found in human feces; rather, high levels are present in the feces of a variety of animals (Ashbolt et al., 2001; Nguyen et al., 2018) and are able to persist and grow in the sediments and vegetation of tropical environmental waters (Anderson et al., 2005; Desmarais et al., 2002; Fujioka et al., 1998; Nguyen et al., 2018; Symonds y Breitbart, 2015). Accurate identification of the source(s) of fecal pollution in environmental waters can help to improve water management and risk prediction of being exposed to polluted waters (Ahmed and Kinzelman, 2015; Nguyen et al., 2018). Risk of illness for swimming in waters polluted with sewage varies depending on the source of fecal pollution (Fujioka et al., 2015). Microbial hazards include pathogens of human and animal origin (Soller et al., 2014). High risk is expected when the source of pollution is human sewage due to host-specificity of many waterborne pathogens that infect only humans, i.e., viruses such as NoVGI (Fujioka et al., 2015). Different risk is expected when FIB source comes from different animals since different species contain different pathogens (Brown et al., 2017; Fujioka et al., 2015; Soller et al., 2014). Minimal risk is expected when FIB multiply in the environment, because it implicates that FIB are indigenous to microbial communities in the

environment and therefore not indicative of a recent fecal contamination in water (Byappanahalli *et al.*, 2012; Fujioka *et al.*, 2015).

# Alternative indicators to conventional FIB in tropical waters, microbial source tracking of fecal pollution and reference pathogens

To account for the limitations of the conventional FIB identified in the U.S. Recreational Water Quality Criteria (RWQC) (enterococci or E. coli), alternative indicator microorganisms have been increasingly explored in microbial water quality testing and research (Fujioka et al., 2015; US EPA, 2012). The US State of Hawaii adopted *Clostridium perfringens* as secondary tracer bacteria (to be used in addition to enterococci), but no beach action is taken using C. perfringens results because of the lack of associations of C. perfringens concentrations and health risks. (Clean Water Branch, 2020). Coliphages have been proposed as viral indicators (Fujioka et al., 2015; US EPA, 2015). Reference human pathogens, like Giardia, Cryptosporidium, and norovirus, are often measured in microbial water quality studies since they provide direct evidence of human health risk (Ashbolt et al., 2010; Boehm et al., 2009). Microbial source tracking (MST) methods have been developed to determine sources of fecal pollution (Chase et al., 2012; Harwood et al., 2009). MST markers are derived from genes of host-specific microbes. Microorganisms associated with human feces and wastewater are frequent targets of MST assays, including the 16S rRNA gene of Bacteroides dorei (HF183) (Seurinck et al., 2005) and pepper mild mottle virus (PMMoV) (Symonds et al., 2018, 2016). MST markers for animal sources have also been developed; some animal-specific markers target the 16S rRNA gene of either porcine/dog/cow-associated Bacteroidales and shorebird markers target the 16S rRNA gene of Catellicoccous marimammalium (Harwood et al., 2014).

#### Quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA)

The World Health Organization recommends the use of sanitary inspections, routine monitoring, and QMRA to ensure safe swimming conditions (WHO, 2021). QMRA is a framework that uses mathematical models to estimate the risk of infection and disease when a population is exposed to microorganisms (Ashbolt et al., 2010), and is increasingly used to predict the risk of illness from human exposure to natural recreational waters (Federigi et al., 2019). Typically, QMRA in recreational surface waters includes several steps that are well described in the QMRA wiki community portal (http://www.qmrawiki.org/). The first step is the hazard characterization, where the microorganism of interest and related health outcome, i.e., risk of gastrointestinal illness, is identified. Following is the dose-response assessment. Dose response models are mathematical equations that describe the dose response relationship for a pathogen, transmission routes, and hosts, and is based on literature of medical studies of controlled or uncontrolled experiments (outbreaks) where the dose of the pathogen that the patient receives and then their response are measured. After the best dose-response of a given pathogen is identified, the exposure assessment is used to calculate the dose of pathogen ingested, considering the pathway from the source of the pathogen (i.e., concentrations in sewage) to the actual exposure (swimming at the beach). Then in the risk characterization step, the calculated dose of ingestion (from exposure assessment) feeds into the dose-response models (dose response assessment) to predict the probability of risk per dose ingested (e.g., risk of infection, illness, or death given a known dose of a pathogen). Finally, risk management (actions needed to reduce or eliminate risks) is most effective when informed by scientific assessment of risk through risk characterization. Risk management can also be improved by the combination of QMRA with MST which provides valuable information on the extent and specific source contribution to fecal contamination of superficial

waters. This way, beach managers can prioritize and address health risks, which can't be achieved by relying on FIB compliance monitoring only (Ashbolt *et al.*, 2010; Zhang *et al.*, 2019).

#### Monitoring of antibiotic resistant bacteria and multidrug resistance

There is an increasing need for monitoring antibiotic resistance in environmental waters. Fecal indicator bacteria are the most widely used indicators of fecal pollution in water. Monitoring FIB that can be isolated from both the environment and the human and animal gut since they are of fecal origin but can persist in the environment, is a good strategy for understanding antibiotic resistance prevalence and multidrug resistance (Hernando-Amado and Baquero, 2019; Oliveira *et al.*, 2020). FIB are known to acquire resistance (Berendonk *et al.*, 2015). In addition, FIB such as *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* spp., have clinical relevance since they are leading causes of nosocomial infections (Collignon, 2013; Emori and Gaynes, 1993; Ortega *et al.*, 2007). The use of FIB such as *E. coli* for the surveillance of antibiotic resistance and multidrug resistance in the environment is ideal since verified methods for isolation and characterization of FIB are available, and reference laboratories can easily implement FIB in monitoring (Anjum *et al.*, 2021).

#### **Research chapters: Objectives of the dissertation**

# Chapter 2: The relationships among microbial indicators of fecal pollution, microbial source tracking markers, and pathogens in Costa Rican coastal waters

Rationale: The suitability of fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) used to regulate recreational water quality, to indicate the presence of pathogens in tropical aquatic environments is still being challenged. Information on indicators of fecal pollution, microbial source tracking markers, and

pathogens in tropical environments is lacking, therefore fecal coliforms, *Enterococcus*, *C. perfringens*, somatic coliphages, F+ coliphages, *Cryptosporidium*, *Giardia*, NoVGI, AdV and *Salmonella* were measured at a tropical polluted beach to determine which microorganisms best predict the presence of pathogens.

Methodology: Microorganism concentrations were measured at a tropical beach influenced by sewage-contaminated rivers and a multivariate statistical approach was used to identify correlations between indicator microorganisms and MST markers, and pathogens in the rivers and ocean. Measure and compare FIB performance (specificity, sensitivity) with respect to pathogen presence/absence.

Hypothesis: There will be significant correlations between FIB and pathogens, but stronger correlations are expected between sewage specific MST markers and enteric pathogens, given that two of the reference pathogens measured are human-specific.

# Chapter 3: Risk of gastroenteritis from swimming at a wastewater-impacted tropical beach varies across localized scales

Rationale: Disease-causing microorganisms are present in our environment, and the levels at which they will cause illness in the population is location specific. Information on microbial source tracking markers, and pathogens in tropical environments is lacking. MST markers HF183 and PMMoV were measured to determine the source of pollution and pathogens *Cryptosporidium*, *Giardia*, NoVGI, AdV and *Salmonella* were measured to determine the risk from swimming in three different subwatersheds at tropical polluted beach to estimate the risk of GI illness and pathogen reductions necessary to ensure safe swimming conditions. Methodology: Pathogens, fecal microorganisms and MST markers concentrations were measured at three different subwatersheds and QMRA was used to estimate the risk of gastrointestinal illness of swimming in three polluted rivers, and the potential pathogen reductions necessary to ensure safe swimming conditions.

Hypothesis: Microorganisms and health risks associated with swimming in polluted rivers is expected to be vary on a localized scale due to the difference in land use surrounding each subwatershed, flow rate per river, and mixing occurring near the coast and currents that are likely to affect differently microorganisms' fate in the ocean.

# Chapter 4: Multidrug-resistant E. coli and Enterococcus sp. in Costa Rican wastewater and surface waters

Rationale: Antibiotic resistant bacteria pose a threat to human health but relatively little is known about the frequency of antibiotic resistant FIB and multidrug resistance in sewage and recreational waters in tropical developing countries. Fecal indicator bacteria *Escherichia coli* and *Enterococcus* spp were cultured from hospital and residential wastewater, the treated effluent, and the receiving estuary in Costa Rica, to determine the susceptibility of FIB to several antibiotic-ics and multidrug resistance prevalence across sites.

Methodology: Susceptibility of ampicillin resistant *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* spp. to several classes of antibiotics were measured and compared to determine if there are differences in resistance among FIB from different sources (hospital and residential wastewater), treated effluent, and the WWTP discharged into the Puntarenas estuary that is adjacent to a popular beach.

Hypothesis: Greater concentrations of ampicillin resistant FIB and higher number of isolates resistant to multiple antibiotics are expected in Hospital wastewater, which contains human enteric pathogens that may include antibiotic-resistant bacteria originating from hospital patients,

followed by the residential wastewater, and significantly lower levels of resistance are expected

after secondary treatment in the treated affluent and in the environment, where discharge is fur-

ther diluted into the estuary.

### References

- Ahmed, W., Kinzelman, J., 2015. Microbial source tracking: Field study planning and implementation, in: Manual of Environmental Microbiology, 4th Edition. American Society of Microbiology, pp. 3.4.5-1-3.4.5-11. https://doi.org/10.1128/9781555818821.ch3.4.5
- Anderson, K.L., Whitlock, J.E., Harwood, V.J., 2005. Persistence and differential survival of fecal indicator bacteria in subtropical waters and sediments. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 3041–3048. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.6.3041-3048.2005
- Anjum, M.F., Schmitt, H., Börjesson, S., Berendonk, T.U., Donner, E., Stehling, E.G., Boerlin, P., Topp, E., Jardine, C., Li, X., Li, B., Dolejska, M., Madec, J.Y., Dagot, C., Guenther, S., Walsh, F., Villa, L., Veldman, K., Sunde, M., Krzeminski, P., Wasyl, D., Popowska, M., Järhult, J., Örn, S., Mahjoub, O., Mansour, W., Thái, Đ.N., Elving, J., Pedersen, K., 2021. The potential of using *E. coli* as an indicator for the surveillance of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) in the environment. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2021.09.011
- Ashbolt, N., Grabow, W., Snozzi, M., 2001. Indicators of microbial water quality, in: Fewtrell, L. & Bartram J. (Eds.), Water Quality: Guidelines, Standards and Health. IWA Publishing, London UK, pp. 289–316. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315693606
- Ashbolt, N.J., Schoen, M.E., Soller, J.A., Roser, D.J., 2010. Predicting pathogen risks to aid beach management: The real value of quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA). Water Res. 44, 4692–4703. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.06.048
- Berendonk, T.U., Manaia, C.M., Merlin, C., Fatta-Kassinos, D., Cytryn, E., Walsh, F., Bürgmann, H., Sørum, H., Norström, M., Pons, M.N., Kreuzinger, N., Huovinen, P., Stefani, S., Schwartz, T., Kisand, V., Baquero, F., Martinez, J.L., 2015. Tackling antibiotic resistance: The environmental framework. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3439
- Boehm, A.B., Ashbolt, N.J., Colford, J.M., Dunbar, L.E., Fleming, L.E., Gold, M.A., Hansel, J.A., Hunter, P.R., Ichida, A.M., McGee, C.D., Soller, J.A., Weisberg, S.B., 2009. A sea change ahead for recreational water quality criteria. J. Water Health 7, 9–20. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2009.122
- Brown, K.I., Graham, K.E., Boehm, A.B., 2017. Risk-based threshold of gull-associated fecal marker concentrations for recreational water. Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett. 4, 44–48. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.6b00473
- Burke, L.A., Kura, Y., Kassem, K., Revenga, C., Spalding, M., Mcallister, D., 2001. Coastal Ecosystems, Pilot analysis of global ecosystems. World Resources Institute, Washigton, DC, USA.

- Byappanahalli, M.N., Nevers, M.B., Korajkic, A., Staley, Z.R., Harwood, V.J., 2012. Enterococci in the environment. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 76, 685–706. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00023-12
- Cabelli, V.J., 1983. Health effects criteria for marine recreational waters. Health Effects Research Laboratory, Office of Research and Development, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, OH.
- Cabelli, V.J., Dufour, A.P., Mccabe, L.J., Levin, M.A., 1982. Swimming-associated gastroenteritis and water quality. Am. J. Epidemiol. 115, 606–616. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a113342
- CDC, 2019. Antibiotic Resistance Threats in the United States, 2019. Atlanta. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.15620/cdc:82532.
- Chase, E., Hunting, J., Staley, C., Harwood, V.J., 2012. Microbial source tracking to identify human and ruminant sources of faecal pollution in an ephemeral Florida river. J. Appl. Microbiol. 113, 1396–1406. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12007
- Clean Water Branch, 2020. Hawaii beach monitoring program revised. Department of Health, Hawaii.
- Coffey, R., Benham, B., Krometis, L.A., Wolfe, M.L., Cummins, E., 2014. Assessing the effects of climate change on waterborne microorganisms: Implications for EU and U.S. Water policy. Hum. Ecol. Risk Assess. 20, 724–742. https://doi.org/10.1080/10807039.2013.802583
- Collignon, P., 2013. The importance of a one health approach to preventing the development and spread of antibiotic resistance. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 366, 19–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/82\_2012\_224
- Crimmins, A., Balbus, J., Gamble, J.L., Beard, C.B., Bell, J.E., Dodgen, D., Eisen, R.J., Fann, N., Hawkins, M., Herring, S.C., Jantarasami, L., Mills, D.M., Saha, S., Sarofim, M.C., Trtanj, J., Ziska, L., 2016. The impacts of climate change on human health in the United States: A scientific sssessment, U.S. Global Change Research Program. Washington, DC. https://doi.org/10.7930/J03F4MH4
- Cui, Q., Huang, Y., Wang, H., Fang, T., 2019. Diversity and abundance of bacterial pathogens in urban rivers impacted by domestic sewage. Environ. Pollut. 249, 24–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.02.094
- DeFlorio-Barker, S., Wing, C., Jones, R.M., Dorevitch, S., 2018. Estimate of incidence and cost of recreational waterborne illness on United States surface waters. Environ. Health: Glob. Access Sci 17, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-017-0347-9
- Desmarais, T.R., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Palmer, C.J., 2002. Influence of soil on fecal indicator organisms in a tidally influenced subtropical environment. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 1165–1172. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.68.3.1165-1172.2002
- Emori, T.G., Gaynes, R.P., 1993. An overview of nosocomial infections, including the role of the microbiology laboratory. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.6.4.428
- Federigi, I., Verani, M., Donzelli, G., Cioni, L., Carducci, A., 2019. The application of quantitative microbial risk assessment to natural recreational waters: A review. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 144, 334–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2019.04.073
- Frieden, T., 2013. Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States. Centers Dis. Control Prev. 114. https://doi.org/CS239559-B
- Fujioka, R., Sian-Denton, C., Borja, M., Castro, J., Morphew, K., 1998. Soil: the environmental source of *Escherichia coli* and Enterococci in Guam's streams. J. Appl. Microbiol. 85, 83S-89S. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.1998.tb05286.x

- Fujioka, R.S., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Byappanahalli, N.M., Kirs, M., 2015. U.S. recreational water quality criteria: A vision for the future. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 12, 7752–7776. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120707752
- Gottlieb, T., Nimmo, G., 2011. Antibiotic resistance is an emerging threat to public health: an urgent call to action at the Antimicrobial Resistance Summit 2011. Med J Aust 194, 281–283. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-052809-161223
- Griffith, J.F., Cao, Y., McGee, C.D., Weisberg, S.B., 2009. Evaluation of rapid methods and novel indicators for assessing microbiological beach water quality. Water Res. 43, 4900–4907. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2009.09.017
- Hall, C.M., 2001. Trends in ocean and coastal tourism: The end of the last frontier? Ocean Coast. Manag. 44, 601–618. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0964-5691(01)00071-0
- Harwood, V.J., Brownell, M., Wang, S., Lepo, J., Ellender, R.D., Ajidahun, A., Hellein, K.N., Kennedy, E., Ye, X., Flood, C., 2009. Validation and field testing of library-independent microbial source tracking methods in the Gulf of Mexico. Water Res. 43, 4812–4819. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2009.06.029
- Harwood, V.J., Levine, A.D., Scott, T.M., Chivukula, V., Lukasik, J., Farrah, S.R., Rose, J.B., 2005. Validity of the indicator organism paradigm for pathogen reduction in reclaimed water and public health protection. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 3163–3170. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.6.3163-3170.2005
- Harwood, V.J., Staley, C., Badgley, B.D., Borges, K., Korajkic, A., 2014. Microbial source tracking markers for detection of fecal contamination in environmental waters: Relationships between pathogens and human health outcomes. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 38, 1–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6976.12031
- Hernando-Amado, S., Baquero, F., 2019. Defining and combating antibiotic resistance from One Health and Global-Health perspectives Phenotypic resistance in microbes View project Antibiotic resistance-One Health approach View project. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-019-0503-9
- Howard, G., Katrina, C., Pond, K., Brookshaw, A., Hossain, R., Bartram, J., 2010. Securing 2020 vision for 2030: Climate change and ensuring resilience in water and sanitation services. J. Water Clim. Chang. 1, 2–16. https://doi.org/10.2166/wcc.2010.205
- IPCC, 2007. Climate change 2007: Synthesis report. contribution of working groups I, II and III to the fourth a report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change [WWW Document]. URL https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/ar4\_syr\_full\_report.pdf (accessed 3.15.20).
- Levy, S.B., Bonnie, M., 2004. Antibacterial resistance worldwide: Causes, challenges and responses. Nat. Med. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1145
- McQuaig, S., Griffith, J., Harwood, V.J., 2012. Association of fecal indicator bacteria with human viruses and microbial source tracking markers at coastal beaches impacted by nonpoint source pollution. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 78, 6423–6432. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00024-12
- Milly, P.C.D., Dunne, K.A., Vecchia, A. V, 2005. Global pattern of trends in streamflow and water availability in a changing climate. Nature 438, 347–350. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04312
- Muller, C.J., O'Gorman, P.A., Back, L.E., 2011. Intensification of precipitation extremes with warming in a cloud-resolving model. J. Clim. 24, 2784–2800. https://doi.org/10.1175/2011JCLI3876.1

- Nguyen, K.H., Senay, C., Young, S., Nayak, B., Lobos, A., Conrad, J., Harwood, V.J., 2018. Determination of wild animal sources of fecal indicator bacteria by microbial source tracking (MST) influences regulatory decisions. Water Res. 144, 424–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.07.034
- Nikaido, H., 2009. Multidrug resistance in bacteria. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 78, 119. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.BIOCHEM.78.082907.145923
- Oliveira, A.M.S., Baraúna, R.A., Marcon, D.J., Lago, L.A.B., Silva, A., Lusio, J., Tavares, R.D.S., Tacão, M., Henriques, I., Schneider, M.P.C., 2020. Occurrence, antibiotic-resistance and virulence of *E. coli* strains isolated from mangrove oysters (Crassostrea gasar) farmed in estuaries of Amazonia. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 157, 111302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111302
- Ortega, M., Almela, M., Martinez, J.A., Marco, F., Soriano, A., López, J., Sánchez, M., Muñoz, A., Mensa, J., 2007. Epidemiology and outcome of primary community-acquired bacteremia in adult patients. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 26, 453–457. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-007-0304-6
- Percival, S., Chalmers, R., Embrey, M., Hunter, P., Sellwood, J., Wyn-Jones, P., 2004. Microbiology of waterborne diseases: Microbiological aspects and risks, Elsevier Ltd. Great Britain. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-551570-2.X5000-9
- Saingam, P., Li, B., Yan, T., 2020. Fecal indicator bacteria, direct pathogen detection, and microbial community analysis provide different microbiological water quality assessment of a tropical urban marine estuary. Water Res. 185, 116280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116280
- Seurinck, S., Defoirdt, T., Verstraete, W., Siciliano, S.D., 2005. Detection and quantification of the human-specific HF183 Bacteroides 16S rRNA genetic marker with real-time PCR for assessment of human faecal pollution in freshwater. Environ. Microbiol. 7, 249–259. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2004.00702.x
- Soller, J., Bartrand, T., Molina, M., Whelan, G., Schoen, M., Ashbolt, N., 2014. Quantitative microbial risk assessment of freshwater impacted by animal fecal material, in: Proceedings -7th International Congress on Environmental Modelling and Software: Bold Visions for Environmental Modeling, IEMSs 2014. pp. 1521–1526.
- Straub, T.M., Chandler, D.P., 2003. Towards a unified system for detecting waterborne pathogens. J. Microbiol. Methods. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-7012(03)00023-X
- Strauch, A.M., Mackenzie, R.A., Bruland, G.L., Tingley, R., Giardina, C.P., 2014. Climate Change and Land Use Drivers of Fecal Bacteria in Tropical Hawaiian Rivers. J. Environ. Qual. 43, 1475–1483. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2014.01.0025
- Symonds, E.M., Breitbart, M., 2015. Affordable enteric virus detection techniques are needed to support changing paradigms in water quality management. Clean - Soil, Air, Water 43, 8– 12. https://doi.org/10.1002/clen.° 201400235
- Symonds, E.M., Nguyen, K.H., Harwood, V.J., Breitbart, M., 2018. Pepper mild mottle virus: A plant pathogen with a greater purpose in (waste)water treatment development and public health management. Water Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.06.066
- Symonds, E.M., Sinigalliano, C., Gidley, M., Ahmed, W., McQuaig-Ulrich, S.M., Breitbart, M., 2016. Faecal pollution along the southeastern coast of Florida and insight into the use of pepper mild mottle virus as an indicator. J. Appl. Microbiol. 121, 1469–1481. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.13252

- United Nations World Water Assessment Programme, 2017. The United Nations world water development report 2017: Wastewater, the untapped resource. UNESCO, Paris.
- US EPA, 2012. Recreational water quality Criteria., U. S. Environmental Protection Agency. Washington, DC, USA.
- US EPA, 2015. Review of coliphages as possible indicators of fecal contamination for ambient water quality, U. S. Environmental Protection Agency. Washigton, DC, USA.
- WHO, 2014. Antimicrobial resistance. Global report on surveillance. World Health Organization 61, 383–394. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13312-014-0374-3
- WHO, 2015. Global antimicrobial resistance surveillance system. World Health Organization 36.
- WHO, 2021. Guidelines on recreational water quality. Volume 1: coastal and fresh waters 1, 219.
- World Health Organization, 2014. Guidelines for Drinking-Water Quality: Fourth Edition Incorporating the First Addendum, World Health Organization.
- World Travel and Tourism Center (WTTC), 2021. Travel and tourism economic impact 2021. World Travel Tour. Counc. 1–29.
- Zhang, Q., Gallard, J., Wu, B., Harwood, V.J., Sadowsky, M.J., Hamilton, K.A., Ahmed, W., 2019. Synergy between quantitative microbial source tracking (qMST) and quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA): A review and prospectus. Environ. Int. 130, 104703. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2019.03.051

## CHAPTER TWO: RELATIONSHIPS AMONG MICROBIAL INDICATORS OF FECAL POLLUTION, MICROBIAL SOURCE TRACKING MARKERS, AND PATHOGENS IN COSTA RICAN COASTAL WATERS

### Authors

Adriana González-Fernández<sup>1</sup>, Erin M. Symonds<sup>2</sup>, Javier F. Gallard-Gongora<sup>1</sup>, Bonnie Mull<sup>3</sup>, Jerzy O. Lukasik<sup>3</sup>, Pablo Rivera Navarro<sup>4</sup>, Andrei Badilla Aguilar<sup>4</sup>, Jayme Peraud<sup>1</sup>, Megan L Brown<sup>5</sup>, Darner Mora Alvarado<sup>4</sup>, Mya Breitbart<sup>2</sup>, Maryann R. Cairns<sup>5</sup> and Valerie J. Harwood<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Integrative Biology, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL 33620

<sup>2</sup>College of Marine Science, University of South Florida, Saint Petersburg, FL 33701, USA

<sup>3</sup>Biological Consulting Services of North Central Florida, Inc., Gainesville, FL 32609, USA

<sup>4</sup>Laboratorio Nacional de Aguas, Instituto Costarricense de Acueductos y Alcantarillados, Tres Ríos, Cartago, Costa Rica

<sup>5</sup>Department of Anthropology, Southern Methodist University, Dallas, TX 75205, USA

E.M.S., M.B and M.R.C and V.J.H. conceived ideas, A.G.F and V.J.H. oversaw experiments in Tampa, FL, A.G.F. and E.M.S. conducted statistical analyses, and wrote the paper with comments and edits from all authors.

#### Water Research 188 (2021) 116507



## Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

#### Water Research

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/watres

#### Relationships among microbial indicators of fecal pollution, microbial source tracking markers, and pathogens in Costa Rican coastal waters

Adriana González-Fernández<sup>a</sup>, Erin M. Symonds<sup>b,1</sup>, Javier F. Gallard-Gongora<sup>a</sup>, Bonnie Mull<sup>c</sup>, Jerzy O. Lukasik<sup>c</sup>, Pablo Rivera Navarro<sup>d</sup>, Andrei Badilla Aguilar<sup>d</sup>, Jayme Peraud<sup>a</sup>, Megan L. Brown<sup>e</sup>, Darner Mora Alvarado<sup>d</sup>, Mya Breitbart<sup>b</sup>, Marvann R. Cairns<sup>e</sup>, Valerie I. Harwood<sup>a,\*</sup>

Department of Integrative Biology, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL 33620, USA

<sup>b</sup> College of Marine Science, University of South Florida, Saint Petersburg, FL 33701, USA <sup>c</sup> Biological Consulting Services of North Central Floida, Inc., Gainesville, FL 32609, USA

<sup>d</sup> Laboratorio Nacional de Aguas, Instituto Costarricense de Acueductos y Alcantarillados, Tres Ríos, Cartago, Costa Rica <sup>e</sup> Department of Anthropology, Southern Methodist University, Dallas, TX 75205, USA

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history Received 4 March 2020 Revised 6 October 2020 Accepted 8 October 2020 Available online 10 October 2020

Keywords: Recreational water quality HF183 Coliphage Norovirus Pepper mild mottle virus

#### ABSTRACT

Tropical coastal waters are understudied, despite their ecological and economic importance. They also reflect projected climate change scenarios for other climate zones, e.g., increased rainfall and water temperatures. We conducted an exploratory microbial water quality study at a tropical beach influenced by sewage-contaminated rivers, and tested the hypothesis that fecal microorganisms (fecal coliforms, enterococci, Clostridium perfringens, somatic and male-specific coliphages, pepper mild mottle virus (PMMoV), Bacteroides HF183, norovirus genogroup I (NoVGI), Salmonella, Cryptosporidium and Giardia) would vary by season and tidal stage. Most microorganisms' concentrations were greater in the rainy season; however, NoVGI was only detected in the dry season and Cryptosporidium was the only pathogen most frequently detected in rainy season. Fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) levels exceeded recreational water quality criteria standards in >85% of river samples and in <50% of ocean samples, regardless of the FIB or regulatory criterion. Chronic sewage contamination was demonstrated by detection of HF183 and PMMoV in 100% of river samples, and in >89% of ocean samples. Giardia, Cryptosporidium, Salmonella, and NoVGI were frequently detected in rivers (39%, 39%, 26%, and 39% of samples, respectively), but infrequently in ocean water, particularly during the dry season. Multivariate analysis showed that C. perfringens, somatic coliphage, male-specific coliphage, and PMMoV were the subset of indicators that maximized the correlation with pathogens in the rivers. In the ocean, the best subset of indicators was enterococci, male-specific coliphage, and PMMoV. We also executed redudancy analyses on environmental parameters and microorganim concentrations, and found that rainfall best predicted microbial concentrations. The seasonal interplay of rainfall and pathogen prevalence undoubtedly influences beach users' health risks. Relationships are likely to be complex, with some risk factors increasing and others decreasing each season. Future use of multivariate approaches to better understand linkages among environmental conditions, microbial predictors (fecal indicators and MST markers), and pathogens will improve prediction of high-risk scenarios at recreational beaches.

© 2020 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

Wastewater management practices affect the health of coastal ecosystems and the well-being of people who use these water resources for their livelihood and recreational purposes

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116507 0043-1354/© 2020 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. (Shuval, 2003). Globally, more than 80% of domestic wastewater is discharged into rivers or the ocean without any treatment (United Nations World Water Assessment Programme, 2017). Gastrointestinal and respiratory illnesses have been frequently associated with exposure to surface water contaminated with fecal waste (World Health Organization, 2003). The annual economic burden of recreation-associated waterborne illness in countries with high sanitation coverage and treatment, like the United States (US), is estimated at \$USD 2.2 - \$3.7 billion (DeFlorio-Barker et al.,



<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Co-first author.

E-mail address: vharwood@usf.edu (V.J. Harwood).
#### A. González-Fernández, E.M. Symonds, J.F. Gallard-Gongora et al.

2018). This burden is likely much greater in parts of the world where safe sanitation is lacking (Prüss-Ustün et al., 2014). Adequate wastewater treatment is essential for human health and well-being, yet sanitation infrastructure is vulnerable to climate change (Howard et al., 2010) and more research is needed to understand and mitigate this impact on sanitation infrastructure (Howard et al., 2016).

Routine monitoring of fecal indicator bacteria (FIB), such as E. coli, fecal coliforms, and enterococci, in recreational waters has been used for decades to protect public health (Griffith et al., 2009). FIB are intended to predict pathogen presence; however, poor correlations between FIB and pathogens have been reported in many studies (e.g. Boehm et al., 2003; Harwood et al., 2005). Exclusive reliance on FIB to indicate recent fecal pollution is problematic, since there is evidence of their persistence and growth in the sediments and vegetation in environmental waters (Anderson et al., 2005; Desmarais et al., 2002; Nguyen et al., 2018; Symonds and Breitbart, 2015). Extra-intestinal sources of FIB, such as soil, sediments, and aquatic vegetation, can confound the relationship between FIB and pathogens (Badgley et al., 2011; Lamb et al., 2017; Soupir et al., 2010; Whitman et al., 2003). FIB are also present in the feces of a variety of animal species (Byappanahalli et al., 2012), which limits their predictive relationship with pathogens, as well as their efficacy in risk assessment and remediation of fecal pollution in recreational waters (Harwood et al., 2014).

Alternative indicators to conventional FIB have been increasingly explored as replacements and/or additions to water quality monitoring. The US state of Hawaii has used Clostridium perfringens as a tracer of fecal contamination (Fujioka et al., 2015) and coliphages have been proposed as viral indicators (US EPA, 2015; Wanjugi et al., 2018). Human pathogens, like Giardia, Cryptosporidium, and norovirus genogroup I (NoVGI), are increasingly included in microbial water quality studies because conventional FIB do not always correlate with their presence (Ashbolt et al., 2010; Boehm et al., 2009). Microbial source tracking (MST) methods have been developed to determine fecal pollution sources (Chase et al., 2012; Harwood et al., 2009). Microorganisms associated with human feces and wastewater are frequent targets of MST assays, including the 16S rRNA gene of a Bacteroides species (HF183) (Seurinck et al., 2005) and pepper mild mottle virus (PM-MoV) (Symonds et al., 2018, 2016). These MST markers, which are strongly associated with domestic wastewater, were proposed as a proxy for pathogens in quantitative microbial risk assessment (OMRA) (Ahmed et al., 2018a; Zhang et al., 2019).

Most microbial water quality studies regarding FIB, alternative indicators, management criteria, and human health risks have been developed in temperate zones and are employed globally; thus, significant knowledge gaps exist with respect to tropical waters (Boehm et al., 2009; Fujioka et al., 2015; World Health Organization, 2003). Furthermore, tropical coastal beaches are useful study systems for the effects of climate change on water quality in temperate zones, as some temperate regions are likely to experience weather that is similar to tropical conditions (e.g., increased precipitation and flooding) (Trenberth, 2011). Such conditions will present challenges for wastewater treatment and collection systems and can result in widespread sewage spills (Dale et al., 2017; Howard et al., 2016).

Jacó beach, located on the Central Pacific Costa Rican coast, is characterized by a long, intense rainy season, and a short dry season (Solano and Villalobos, 2012). Known as a famous surfing destination, Jacó experiences heavy national and international tourism due to its close proximity to the greater San José metropolitan area. Tourism is central to the local economy. The tourism industry has led to intensive development of high-rise condominiums, hotels, and other infrastructure that serves tourists, which impacts local water and wastewater systems (Krause, 2012). According to the Costa Rican Institute of Tourism, tourism generated \$3.8 million USD during 2018 (Instituto Costaricense de Turismo, 2018), and 68% of the tourists visited the country's coasts in 2016–2018 (Instituto Costaricense de Turismo, 2018).

An estimated 5400 reside in Jacó (personal communication, Costa Rica Social Security, Garabito Health Area; Instituto Nacional de estadística y censos, 2014). Like the majority of tropical beach towns, Jacó lacks a central sewer and sanitation system, and generally relies on on-site sanitation infrastructure (Mora, 2009; Ramírez-Sánchez et al., 2015; World Health Organization and UNICEF, 2014). These septic systems frequently fail due to intense rainfall, lack of maintenance, and limited capacity that cannot keep pace with tourism, which quintuples the population in the dry season (December to March) (Borowy, 2004). Limited sources of animal fecal pollution are present in the watershed, i.e., there is no intensive production of livestock or dense bird populations (Orozco Montoya, 2015).

Deterioration in the microbial water quality of Jacó beach was reported by the Costa Rican government institution responsible for water quality monitoring, the Costa Rican National Water Quality Laboratory (Mora, 2011, 2009), and singled out by the community and local newspapers on several occasions (Angulo, 2013; Anonymous, 2008; Lopez, 2017). Due to its popularity, Jacó is among the prioritized areas for sanitation infrastructure improvements by the Costa Rican government (Angulo, 2015). Jacó beach was chosen for this study, in part, because it is heavily used for recreation year-round. Some of the larger commercial establishments, such as hotels, have small-scale wastewater treatment plants, while much of the population thas septic-leach field systems; however, there is a population that discharges directly into the surface waters or the stormwater collection system, which discharges to the rivers or the beach (Mora, 2009).

We tested two major hypotheses in this study: (1) was there seasonal variation in environmental variables that influenced fecal indicator microorganism, MST marker, and pathogen levels and relationships among them, and (2) could MST sewage markers predict the presence of pathogens better than established FIB criteria used to regulate recreational water quality. We used multivariate statistical methods that are appropriate for left-censored data (i.e., observations below the limit of detection or quantification of a given analytical method). Left-censored data are a major issue in public health-related water microbiology, because relevant pathogen concentrations tend to be below our ability to measure them in environmental waters (Ortega et al., 2009; Soller et al., 2016; Symonds and Breitbart, 2015).

#### 2. Methods

#### 2.1. Study site and sample collection

Jacó beach is a 4.2 km long beach located in a westward-facing bay on the Costa Rican Pacific Coast (Fig. 1). Tides at this beach are semidiurnal with a meso-tidal range (i.e., difference between high and low tide is 2 to 4 m); thus, samples were purposefully collected during outgoing (i.e., transition from high to low tide) and incoming (i.e., transition from low to high tide) tides each season. Three rivers and their ocean discharge sites were sampled on three occasions for each combination of season (rainy (October 2017) and dry (March 2018)) and tidal cycle (incoming and outgoing): Copey River, Naranjal River and Madrigal River, resulting in a total of 72 samples collected from 12 sampling events. Of the total number of samples collected, 36 were river samples and 36 ocean samples, such that 9 river and ocean samples were collected per season and tide combination.

A. González-Fernández, E.M. Symonds, J.F. Gallard-Gongora et al.



Fig. 1. Map of Jacó beach, located in the canton of Garabito and the province of Puntarenas, showing the three rivers sampled (Copey River (C), Naranjal River (N), Madrigal River (M)) and their corresponding ocean sites.

During each sampling event, water was collected from the three rivers along the beach, within three meters of the riverbank, ideally where salinity was less than 1 ppt. Additionally, water was collected in the ocean, between the swash zone and the first set of waves, just outside each river plume where the salinity was ideally 30 ppt. The direction of the river plume (northward or southward) was identified by adding a handful of Bright Dyes Standard Yellow/Green Powder (#25; Kingscote Chemicals; Miamisburg, US) to the river and observing the movement of the dyed-river plume. All samples were collected within 10 cm of the water surface. For each sampling site, two types of samples were collected: 500 mL and large-volume samples. The 500 mL-grab samples were collected in sterile containers and transported at 4 °C to the Costa Rican National Water Quality Laboratory for fecal coliform and enterococci analyses that were performed within 12 h. The large-volume water samples were concentrated on-site, as described in Section 2.2.

#### 2.2. Sample concentration and handling

Ultrafiltration was used on-site to concentrate alternative fecal indicators, pathogens, and MST markers from ~50L-water samples (<50L only when filter clogged), as previously described (Smith and Hill, 2009). Clogged filters infrequently (<3% of samples) resulted in lower sample volumes. Briefly, a peristaltic pump powered by a portable generator pushed ~50L of water through a 2-mm nylon mesh, and subsequently through a REXEED 25SX dialysis filter (Asahi Kasei, Japan). The REXEED 25SX dialysis filters were stored at 4  $^{\circ}$ C and shipped to BCS Laboratories in Gainesville, Florida for processing within 72 h of collection.

#### 2.3. Microbiological quantification methods

Fecal coliforms were enumerated by the five tube most probable number (MPN) technique using EC media according to the American Public Health Association standard methods, section 9221 E (American Public Health Association, 2017), and following Costa Rican regulations (33903-MINAE-S, 2007) and water quality monitoring recommendations ((Mora, 2007). Enterococci enumeration was performed using membrane filtration and mEI agar according to the US Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) Method 1600 (US EPA, 2005a).

All REXEED 25SX dialysis filters were eluted as previously described (Mull and Hill, 2012). Briefly, the filters were back-flushed with a 500-mL solution containing 0.5% Tween 80, 0.01% sodium polyphosphate, and 0.001% Antifoam Y-30 Emulsion. The final concentrate volume (460 mL) was used for different analyses as follows: F+ coliphages and somatic coliphages were cultured by US EPA Method 1601 (US EPA, 2001), *Salmonella* spp. were cultured using US EPA Method 1682 (US EPA, 2006), and C. perfringens were cultured using Standard Method ASTM D5916-96(2002) (American Public Health Association, 1996). *Giardia* spp. and *Cryptosporidium* spp. were also enumerated by immunomagnetic separation and microscopy by US EPA Method 1623 (US EPA, 2005b).

Finally, viruses and bacteria in the remaining 210-mL of final concentrate were further concentrated by polyethylene glycol (PEG) precipitation (Hill et al., 2010; Mull and Hill, 2012). The final concentrate was amended with 12% PEG 8000, 0.9 M NaCl, and 1% bovine serum albumin, held at 4°C for 2 h, and centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 20 min. The pellet was resuspended in 0.15 M Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>×7H<sub>2</sub>O, stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C, and shipped to the University of South Florida for molecular analysis of MST markers (HF183 and PMMoV), and NoVGI. HF183 and PMMoV were previously validated as appropriate sewage-associated markers in Costa Rica (greater than 90% sensitive and specific to domestic sewage) (Symonds et al., 2018). Limits of detection for analyses are provided in Table S1.

#### 2.4. Molecular analyses

#### 2.4.1. Nucleic acid extraction and qPCR analysis

DNA and RNA were extracted from all sample PEG concentrates, negative controls (extraction blanks), and DNA (salmon testes DNA (sketa)) and RNA (feline calicivirus (FCV)) positive extraction controls using the AllPrep PowerViral DNA/RNA Kit (Qiagen; Germantown, USA) (see Section 2.4.2). All DNA samples were tested for HF183 and Sketa (Table 1). cDNA synthesis was performed by reverse transcription (RT) with the Superscript IV First-strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen; Carlsbad, USA) and all cDNA samples were analyzed for PMMoV, NoVGI, and FCV (Table 1). All samples and extraction(-RT) controls were analyzed in duplicate.

The presence of (RT-)qPCR inhibition was assessed by analyzing a 1:10 dilution of sample DNA and cDNA for the HF183 and PM-MoV assays, respectively. PCR inhibition was determined by comparing the Cq (quantification cycle) of an undiluted sample to a 1:10 diluted sample. PCR inhibition was deemed to be absent if the Cq of the diluted sample was at least 2 Cq lower than that of the undiluted sample (Cao et al., 2012). No inhibition was observed during this study. All assays were run using an ABI 7500 Real-Time PCR System (Thermo Fisher Scientific; Waltham, US). All extraction blanks were negative for all (RT-)qPCR assays. Negative controls, containing no template, were included in each qPCR instrument run and all were negative.

In order to quantify the number of copies detected for each assay, standard curves were constructed from gene fragments in gBlocks (NoVGI, HF183; IDT; Coralville, US) or plasmids (PMMoV; IDT: Coralville, USA) containing the target sequences. For each assay, a ten-fold dilution series of the assay gBlock or plasmid, ranging from 107 to 101 gene copies per reaction, was analyzed in duplicate alongside samples. Linear regression analysis of the Cq and log<sub>10</sub>-transformed gene copy (GC) number was executed. All standard curves had >90% efficiency and >97% R<sup>2</sup> values. For all (RT-)qPCR assays, the calculated GC number was divided by two to account for differences between the standard material (doublestranded) and the single-stranded viruses analyzed. Targets were considered detectable but not quantifiable (DNQ) when the sample's Cq was between the analytical (assay) limit of quantification (LOQ) and limit of detection (LOD; (e.g.,  $Cq_{LOQ} < Cq_{sample} < Cq_{LOD}$ ). The original concentration in the sample, as well as the process LOD and LOQ, were back-calculated to take into account every step

			121		
٩.	González-Fernández,	E.M.	Symonds,	1.F.	Gallard-Gongora et al.

**T T** 

Reverse transcriptase-qPCR and qPCR assay prime	s, probes and reaction conditions.		
Assay	Primers and probes $(5' - 3')$	Reaction	Reference
Human norovirus genogroup I (NoVGI)	F: CARGCCATGTTYCGYTGGATG R: CCTTAGAGGCCATGATTTAC	Primers: 500 nM each Prohe: 750 nM	(Svraka et al., 2009)
	[6-FAM]TGGACAGGAGAYCGCRATCT[BHQ1a~Q]	Conditions: 95 °C for 10 min then, 40 X	
HF183 Bacteroides 16s rRNA	F: ATCATGAGTTCACATGTCCG		(Green et al., 2014)
	FAM-CTAATGGAAGGCATCCC-MGB	Conditions: 2 min at 50 °C, 10 min at 95 °C, then 40 X	
Pepper mild mottle virus (PMMoV)	F: GAGTGGTTTGACCTTAACGTTTGA		(Zhang et al., 2006;
	R: TTGTCGGTTGCAATGCAAGT	Probe: 200 nM Conditions: 05 of for 10 min than 40 V	Haramoto et al., 2013)
		(95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C for 1 min)	
Feline calicivirus (FCV)	F: CCGGGTGGGACTGAGTGG	Primers: 300 nM each	(Mattison et al., 2009)
	R: GCATAACTCGTCGAGGTGTC	Probe: 200 nM	
	[0-נאוג]בטבר דארטטאואדטאטראטראיד דאאר[ופעכ]	(95 °C for 15s and 60 °C for 1 min)	
Salmon testes DNA (Sketa22)	F: GGTTTCCGCAGCTGGG	Primers: 1000 nM each	(US EPA, 2012a)
	R: CCGAGCCGTCCTGGTC	Probe: 80 nM	
	[6~FAM]AGTCGCGGCGGCCACCGT[TAMRA]	Conditions: 95 °C for10 min then, 40 X	
		(95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C for 1 min)	
<sup>a</sup> Modified from citation.			

Water Research 188 (2021) 116507

in the analytical process and assumed 100% efficiency. HF183 and PMMoV were reported per 100 mL, while NoVGI was reported per L.

#### 2.4.2. Process controls and extraction-RT efficiency

Just prior to initiating the lysis step for each round of D/RNA extraction, all PEG concentrates, as well as a sterile water calibrator, were spiked with 14 uL (140 ng) of salmon testes DNA (Sigma D7656-1 mL; 10 mg/mL in H<sub>2</sub>O) and 5 µL (2.5 × 10<sup>6</sup> FCV PFU) FCV particles (RNA control; ATCC VR-782), according to previously published methods (Mattison et al., 2009; US EPA, 2012a). A sterile water blank (e.g., no spiking) was also used in each round of extraction. The D/RNA extraction(-RT) process efficiency for each sample was calculated as previously described (Symonds et al., 2014). Overall, the D/RNA extraction(-RT) efficiencies were good (greater than > 10% recovery of Sketa and FCV); however, 7% of samples had poor RNA extraction-RT efficiency (<10% FCV recovery).

#### 2.4.3. Environmental data

Water temperature (°C), pH, salinity (ppt), and turbidity (nephelometric turbidity unit; NTU) were measured with a YSI 556 Multiprobe (Rye Brook, USA) *in situ* at the time of sample collection. Rainfall (mm) in the last 12 h was measured using a weather station (AcuRite Pro 5-in-1 Weather Station; Lake Geneva, US) located in Jacó within 1.2 km of the sample collection sites.

#### 2.5. Data analyses

R version 4.0.2 was used to execute all statistical analyses: descriptive statistics, hypothesis testing, and redundancy analyses, as well as correlation analyses (R Core Team, 2013). All values less than the LOD and LOQ were censored (to 1 – LOD or LOQ, respectively), and all subsequent statistical analyses for censored data were executed using the "NADA" R package and a package obtained from the Nondetects and Data Analysis training course (downloaded at https://practicalstats.teachable.com/ on June 20, 2020) (Helsel, 2019, 2011; Lee, 2017). Data censoring took into account both the non-detects (concentrations below the LOD) and positive, but not quantifiable detects (concentrations below the LOQ).

Multivariate analyses were executed to avoid problems with the increased type I error associated with multiple pair-wise comparisons and multiple hypothesis tests. Prior to all multivariate analyses, all environmental parameters were standardized by calculating their z-Score and an Euclidean distance matrix was calculated. All microbial data were natural log (ln)-normally distributed; thus, they were ln-transformed. The u-Score ranks were calculated for all the ln-transformed microbial data to account for censored observations (Helsel, 2019, 2011). To accommodate left-censored data in all multivariate analyses, Euclidean distance matrices were calculated for the microbial u-Score ranks (Helsel, 2011). Statistical significance for all analyses was assessed at  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

River and ocean water sampling were based upon measurements of salinity, and not a specific location, given the influence of tides on the river and ocean sampling locations. Differences by water type were confirmed by the clear clustering observed in the non-metric multidimensional scaling plot using all environmental and microbial variables (Fig. S1). Consequently, river and ocean data were analyzed separately. Non-metric multidimensional scaling was also used to identify possible differences between subwatersheds for all of the river, as well as the ocean, environmental and microbial variables, separately. The data for each subwatershed were grouped together for the river and ocean, respectively, given the lack of distinctive clustering by sub-watershed and the close proximity of the sub-watersheds (Figures S2 and S3).

#### A. González-Fernández, E.M. Symonds, J.F. Gallard-Gongora et al.

#### 2.5.1. Descriptive statistics

In order to describe and understand the water quality at Jacó beach, the data from river and ocean discharge sites were grouped by season (rainy vs. dry). There were 18 samples for any given water type and season. For the environmental data only, boxplots were created to describe each environmental parameter by season and by tide (n = 9 for each grouping). For the microbial data, boxplots were created to describe each non-censored microorganism by season. Based upon these groupings, descriptive statistics were calculated for all environmental and non-censored microbial data.

For all microbial variables that included left-censored data values, but that were <80% left-censored, descriptive statistics were estimated using Robust Regression on Order Statistics (rROS), where a lognormal distribution was assumed for modeling the left-censored portion of the distribution (observations below the process LOD or LOQ) using "NADA" R package (Helsel, 2011; Lee, 2017). Pathogen data included >80% left-censored values; thus, the frequency of detection for each pathogen was determined.

## 2.5.2. Testing differences in environmental and microbial data by season and tide

Given the multi-factor sampling design (by season and by tide) and the multivariate data, distance-based Redundancy Analysis (dbRDA), followed by an analysis of variance-like permutation test to assess the significance of constraints, was used to test for differences in the environmental data by season, tide, and season and tide combined (rainy/incoming vs. rainy/outgoing vs. dry/incoming vs. drv/outgoing) (Legendre et al., 2011; Legendre and Anderson, 1999). Differences in microorganism concentrations by season, tide, and season and tide combined were also tested by dbRDA, as previously described. River and ocean data were considered separately. Analyses was executed using the Vegan Package (Oksanen et al., 2016). A Manhattan distance matrix was calculated from the binomial season and tide categories. For all dbRDA analyses, each season contained 18 samples, in which nine were collected during the outgoing tide and nine were collected during the incoming tide.

# 2.5.3. Relationships between environmental variables and microorganisms

Redundancy analysis (RDA) is a multivariate analysis commonly used in microbial ecology to understand multivariate linear relationships (Legendre and Legendre, 2012; Ramette, 2007). Here it was executed using the Vegan package (Oksanen et al., 2016) to test the following null hypotheses for river and ocean data, separately: there is no significant multivariate linear relationship between environmental parameters and microbial data. The variance inflation factor was calculated for each set of model explanatory variables to assess the severity of multicollinearity. All variance inflation factors were less than or equal to 2; thus, minimal correlations were identified between the explanatory environmental variables.

# 2.5.4. Exceedance of recreational water quality criteria, pathogen presence, and indicator criteria and MST marker performance with respect to pathogen detection

All water samples were classified by their fecal coliform and enterococci concentrations according to Costa Rican and US EPA recreational water quality criteria (RWQC). Costa Rican RWQC include fecal coliform and enterococci criteria (fecal coliform criteria developed in Costa Rica; Mora, 2007), and the CR enterococci criteria are based upon the US EPA RWQC (US EPA, 2012b). Coastal waters were considered appropriate for recreation when enterococci geometric mean concentrations were below 35 CFU/100 mL and/or fecal coliform geometric mean concentrations were below 240 or 1000 MPN/100 mL for marine or freshwater, respectively. The US EPA RWQC statistical threshold value (STV; 130 CFU/100 mL) was used to define when water samples were not appropriate for swimming per US EPA RWQC. Since Costa Rica's recommendations do not include a threshold value for a single sample, the geometric mean criterion was used to classify each water sample.

To explore the predictive relationship between FIB RWQC and pathogen presence, water samples were binned as follows: (1) FIB above or below RWQC and (2) any pathogen detected, or no pathogen detected. The relationship between RWQC exceedance and pathogen detection was subsequently calculated as follows: (1) % true-negative (TP; RWQC exceedance + pathogen detection); (2) % true-negative (TN; RWQC not exceeded and pathogen not detected); (3) % false-positive (FP; RWQC exceedance but pathogen not detected); For each criterion, the following were calculated: the sensitivity (indicating how frequently the criterion was exceeded when at last one pathogen was detected) was determined as:

$$\frac{TF}{(TP + FN)}$$
(1)

the specificity (indicating how frequently FIB levels were below the criterion when no pathogen was detected) was calculated as

$$\frac{117}{(TN + FP)}$$
(2)

the positive predictive value (indicating how frequently a RWQC exceedance co-occurred with detection of at least one pathogen) was calculated as TD

$$\frac{TT}{(TP + FP)}$$
(3)

and the negative predictive value (indicating how frequently FIB levels below the criterion co-occurred with detection of 0 pathogens) was calculated as

$$\frac{IN}{(TN+FN)} \tag{4}$$

A similar exercise was carried out to compare the predictive ability of MST sewage markers, HF183 and PMMoV, to indicate pathogen presence given the lack of livestock activities and point sources of treated and undertreated domestic wastewater (Mora, 2009; Orozco Montoya, 2015). In this case, the MST markers were binned according to whether they were above or below the process LOD, or according to MST marker criteria, which were based on QMRA estimates of human health risks associated with recreational water exposure (Ahmed et al., 2018a; Crank et al., 2019). Ahmed et al. (2018a) calculated that 3220 HF183 GC/100 mL and 544 PMMoV GC/100 mL are associated with the US EPA benchmark for recreational waters (36 illnesses/1000 swimmers). For PMMoV only, Crank et al. (2019) estimated that 5054 PMMoV GC/100 mL was associated with the US EPA benchmark for recreational waters (30 illnesses/1000 swimmers).

2.5.5. Correlations between fecal indicator microorganisms and MST markers, and pathogens

The Mantel test, a multivariate approach, was used to identify correlations between indicator microorganisms and MST markers (one matrix), and pathogens (second matrix) in the rivers and ocean, separately (Legendre and Legendre, 2012). This approach was executed using the Kendall method with the Vegan package (Oksanen et al., 2016), and included 9999 permutations. Euclidean distance matrices, one for the indicator microorganisms and MST markers, and the second one for the pathogens, were calculated and the correlation between the two matrices was analyzed. In order to identify the best subset of indicator microorganism and MST markers that maximized the correlations with the A. González-Fernández, E.M. Symonds, J.F. Gallard-Gongora et al.

Table 2

Frequency of pathogen detection (percentage of positive observations) in river (n=36) and ocean (n=36) samples in the rainy (n=18) and dry seasons (n=18). The theoretical process limit of detection and quantification is included in Table S1.

	Percentage of Positive Samples (number of positive samples)								
	Rivers $(n = 36)$ By seasonRainy $(n = 18)$ Dry $(n = 18)$		Regardless of season	Ocean $(n = 36)$	Regardless of season				
Pathogen				By season					
				Rainy $(n = 18)$	Dry $(n = 18)$				
Giardia	33% (6)	44% (8)	39% (14)	11% (2)	0%	6% (2)			
Cryptosporidium	78% (14)	0%	39% (14)	33% (6)	0%	17% (6)			
<sup>a</sup> Salmonella	18% (3)	35% (6)	26% (9)	6% (1)	0%	3% (1)			
NoVGI	0%	78% (14)	39% (14)	6% (1)	0%	3% (1)			

<sup>a</sup> Salmonella n = 17 during dry season in river and ocean, therefore n = 35 by season and 70 by water type.

pathogen concentrations, iterative Mantel tests with the Kendall method were executed using the BIO-ENV procedure (Clarke and Ainsworth, 1993) from the Vegan package (Oksanen et al., 2016).

#### 3. Results

The environmental data varied by season, and to a lesser extent, by tide (Figure S4). The mean rainfall was 0.88 mm and 21.42 mm in the dry and rainy season, respectively. The mean physical-chemical water parameters were as follows for the river in the dry and rainy season, respectively: water temperature (28.84 °C and 27.07 °C), salinity (0.23 ppt and 0.37 ppt), and turbidity (3.95 NTU and 24.06  $\pm$  NTU). In the ocean data, mean physical-chemical water parameters were as follows for the dry and rainy season, respectively: water temperature (29.80 °C and 27.43 °C), salinity (31.40 ppt and 27.60 ppt), and turbidity (23.19 NTU and 64.96 NTU).

With respect to tides, median turbidity was greatest during the incoming tide in the rivers (16.5 NTU) and the outgoing tide in the ocean (21.5 NTU; Figure S4). Median river and ocean water temperatures were greatest during the outgoing tide (30.2 °C and 30.55 °C, respectively). The median salinities were similar in the river (~0.2 ppt) and ocean (~32 ppt), respectively, regardless of season or tidal stage. However, increased variability was observed in the rainy season in which higher salinities (>0.4 ppt) were identified in the river, and lower salinities in the ocean (<30 ppt), particularly on the outgoing tide.

Similarly, the microbial data varied by season. In the river, measurements of enterococci, male-specific coliphage, and HF183 were at least one order of magnitude greater during the rainy season (Fig. 2 and Table S2). Furthermore, the frequency of detection of most pathogens (*Giardia, Salmonella* and *Cryptosporidium*) was greatest during the rainy season, except for NoVGI, which was only detected during dry season (Table 2). In the ocean, enterococci, fecal coliforms, male-specific coliphage, and HF183 were at least one order of magnitude greater during the rainy season, and somatic coliphage had greater concentrations during the dry season (Fig. 2, and Tables S2). The overall pathogen detection frequency was greatest in the ocean during the rainy season (Table 2).

# 3.1. Hypothesis testing for differences associated with seasons and tides

River and ocean samples were collected on six occasions in the rainy and six occasions in the dry season as well as during outgoing (i.e., transition from high to low tide) and incoming (i.e., transition from low to high tide) tides. Thus, analyses testing the differences in environmental parameters and microorganisms by season and tide were executed for the river and ocean data, separately (for each water type, n=9 for each season and tide combination).

3.1.1. Differences in environmental parameters by season and tide

*River:* Significant differences in river environmental parameters between seasons (F=7.3483, p=0.001) and tides (F=4.519, p=0.003) were identified by dbRDA separately. Significant differences in river environmental parameters were also identified by the multi-factor hypothesis test for season and tide using dbRDA (F=5.9689, p=0.001), in which water temperature (F=9.7402, p=0.001) and rainfall (F=6.2202, p=0.001) significantly contributed to the differences observed. Turbidity (F=0.4917, p=0.751) and salinity (F=1.9470, p=0.061) were not significant contributors.

Ocean: Significant differences in environmental parameters between seasons were also identified by season (F=14.845, p=0.001) and tide (F=3.3044, p=0.015) by dbRDA separately. Significant differences in ocean environmental parameters were also identified by the dbRDA multi-factor hypothesis test for season and tide (F=6.0915, p=0.001), in which water temperature (F=8.7430, p=0.001) and rainfall (F=8.0718, p=0.001) most significantly contributed to the differences observed. Turbidity (F=0.4717, p=0.852) and salinity (F=1.1654, p=0.354) were not a significant contributors.

#### 3.1.2. Differences in microbial parameters by season and tide

*River:* Significant differences in river microorganism concentrations were identified between seasons (F=12.667, p=0.001), and not tides (F=1.8465, p=0.116), using dbRDA. Significant differences in river microorganisms concentrations were identified by the dbRDA multi-factor hypothesis test for season and tide combined (F=3.1006, p=0.001), in which *Cryptosporidium* concentrations significantly contributed the most to the differences observed (F=5.5225, p=0.003), followed by enterococci (F=4.4098, p=0.007) and NoVGI (F=3.8663, p=0.014).

*Ocean:* Significant differences in ocean microorganism concentrations between seasons (F=6.5674, p=0.001), but not between tides (F=1.5659, p=0.179) were identified by dbRDA. Somatic coliphage contributed the most to the differences observed between seasons (F=5.9577, p=0.028), followed by PMMoV (F=3.9262, p=0.064). Significant differences in ocean microorganism concentrations were identified by the dbRDA multi-factor hypothesis test for season and tide (F=2.1354, p=0.003); however, no specific microorganism(s) significantly contributed to the differences identified.

## 3.2. Relationships between environmental variables and microorganisms

*River*: There was a significant relationship between environmental variables and microorganisms in the river, in which the RDA model explained 12.34% of the overall microorganism variability (F=2.1969, p=0.001, adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=0.1234) (Fig. 3). All of the variability was explained by the first canonical axis (RDA1; p=0.001).



Fig. 2. Fecal indicator microorganism and microbial source tracking marker concentrations in dry (top) and rainy (bottom) seasons in oceans and rivers. For left-censored data, the method limit of quantification (LOQ) is identified (dark circle) along with the the left-censored data (dashed lines).

Rainfall and salinity significantly explained the variability in microbial concentrations (F = 2.8307, p = 0.006 and F = 2.619, p = 0.003, respectively). Water temperature and turbidity did not significantly explain microbial variability (F = 0.7604, p = 0.617 and F = 0.9993, p = 0.459, respectively) in the model. In the RDA ordination plot, all microorganisms clustered where salinity was lowest. Enterococci, male-specific coliphage and *Cryptosporidium* grouped together and were clustered with higher rainfall and turbidity, and decreasing temperature. Contrastingly, fecal coliforms, *C. perfringens*, somatic coliphage, *Salmonella*, and NoVGI grouped together with increasing temperature and decreasing rainfall and turbidity.

Ocean: There was also a significant relationship between environmental parameters and microorganisms in the ocean, in which the RDA model explained 26.44% of microorganism variability (F=4.0561, p=0.001, adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=0.2644) (Fig. 4). All of the variability was explained by the first canonical axis (RDA1; p=0.001). Rainfall (F=3.1391, p=0.025), water temperature (F=3.0286, p=0.035), and salinity (F=2.8416, p=0.024) were the best predictors of microorganism concentrations in the ocean. Turbidity was not predictive of microorganism concentrations

tions (F=0.8766, p=0.508) in the model. In the RDA ordination plot, microorganism concentrations were typically clustered where salinity and water temperature were lowest. Enterococci, fecal coliforms, *C. perfringens*, male-specific coliphage, HF183, PM-MoV, *Cryptosporidium*, and *Giardia* grouped together according to increasing rainfall and decreasing water temperature, while somatic coliphage clustered with decreasing rainfall and increasing temperatures.

#### 3.3. Exceedance of RWQC and performance of indicator

microorganisms and MST markers with respect to pathogen detection

FIB concentrations in 89 – 100% of the river samples exceeded RWQC regardless of the standard to which they were compared (Table 3). Fecal coliform and enterococci geometric mean concentrations were 9.04 × 10<sup>3</sup> CFU/100 mL and  $1.26 \times 10^3$  MPN/100 mL, respectively. FIB levels in the ocean samples exceeded RWQC much less frequently (25 – 44%), with fecal coliform and enterococci geometric mean concentrations of  $9.68 \times 10^1$  CFU/100 mL and  $2.98 \times 10^1$  MPN/100 mL, respectively. With respect to MST markers,

#### Water Research 188 (2021) 116507



**Fig. 3.** Redundancy analysis ordination plot of river data, showing the relationships between environmental parameters (arrows) and microorganisms (numbers; fecal indicators = red, MST markers = blue, and pathogens = green). Data points are identified by season (circle = rainy; triangle = dry). The first axis significantly described all the variability (p = 0.001). Significant predictor environmental variables are identified with a \* ( $\alpha$  = 0.05).

#### Table 3

Percent of samples exceeding recreational water quality criteria (RWQC) by water type according to Costa Rican and US Environmental Protection Agency recommendations. Performance of the FIB criteria with respect to pathogen detection are evaluated by sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV) and negative predictive value (NPV). The theoretical process limit of detection and quantification are in Table S1.

FIB	FIB% exceedance (# above RWQC)		Prediction	Pathogen detection (%)		Criteria	Reference
	<sup>b</sup> River	<sup>b</sup> Ocean	-1	<sup>b</sup> River	<sup>b</sup> Ocean	-	
Fecal coliforms	100% (36)	44% (16)	Sensitivity	100	88	CR seawater - 240 MPN/ 100 mL geometric mean	(Mora 2017)
			Specificity	0	68		
			PPV	89	44	CR freshwater - 1000 MPN/ 100 mL geometric mean	(La Gaceta, 2017)
			NPV	11	95		
Enterococci	100% (36)	31% (11)	Sensitivity	<sup>a</sup> ND	88	CR seawater - 35 CFU/ 100 mL geometric mean	(Mora 2017)
			Specificity	aND	75		
			PPV	"ND	50		
			NPV	*ND	50		
Enterococci	89% (32)	25% (9)	Sensitivity	91	88	US EPA sea- and freshwater - 130 CFU/ 100 mL STV <sup>c</sup>	(US EPA 2012)
			Specificity	25	93	the first production of the second	0000000
			PPV	91	78		
			NPV	25	96		

<sup>a</sup> ND – not determined because the indicator is not used to regulate freshwater in Costa Rica. <sup>b</sup> n = 36 samples per water type

<sup>b</sup> n = 36 samples per water type. <sup>c</sup> STV = Statistical threshold value.

#### Water Research 188 (2021) 116507



Fig. 4. Redundancy analysis ordination plot of ocean data, showing the relationships between environmental parameters (arrows) and microorganisms (numbers; fecal indicators = red, MST markers = blue, and pathogens = green). Data points were identified by season (circle = rainy; triangle = dry). The first axis significantly described all the variability (p = 0.001). Significant predictor environmental variables are identified with a \* ( $\alpha$  = 0.05).

HF183 and PMMoV were detected in 100% of river samples, as well as 88.9% and 91.7% of ocean samples, respectively. The mean HF183 and PMMoV concentrations in the rainy season were  $5.7 \times 10^3$  and  $5.3 \times 10^3$  GC/100 mL in the rivers, respectively, compared to  $7.9 \times 10^2$  and  $5.1 \times 10^2$  GC/100 mL in the ocean, respectively (Table S2). During the dry season, mean HF183 and PMMoV concentrations in the rivers were  $3.8 \times 10^2$  and  $1.0 \times 10^2$  GC/100 mL, respectively, compared to  $7.9 \times 10^2$  and  $5.1 \times 10^2$  GC/100 mL, respectively, compared to  $7.9 \times 10^2$  and  $5.1 \times 10^2$  GC/100 mL in the ocean, respectively (Table S2).

The ability of indicator microorganisms to predict pathogen presence was assessed by binning indicator observations into above or below RWQC (i.e., criteria for enterococci or fecal coliforms), and by binning pathogen detection results (e.g., at least one pathogen detected or no pathogens detected in a sample). Performance metrics (sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, and negative predictive value) were then calculated (see Methods for details) (Table 3; Table S3). Regardless of the criterion used, enterococci and fecal coliforms were sensitive to pathogen presence in both water types (88 – 100%; i.e., indicator criteria were generally exceeded when pathogens were present). Specificity was low in river samples (0 – 25%), but higher in ocean samples (68– 93%), due largely to infrequent observations of FIB below RWQC in river samples (0% for CR fecal coliforms and enterococci criteria; 11% for the US EPA STV). Positive predictive values were higher in river (89 –91%) than in ocean (44–78%) samples, indicating greater confidence that indicator microorganisms above RWQC in river samples would correctly indicate pathogen presence compared to ocean samples (Table 3). Negative predictive values were low in the river (11- 25%), again driven by very few indicator microorganism observations below the RWQC. In the ocean, the negative predictive values were highest for enterococci (STV standard) and fecal coliforms (95- 96%) and were much lower for the Costa Rican enterococci criteria (50%%.

The ability of MST markers to predict pathogen presence in water samples was explored in a similar manner (Table 4). When MST markers were binned as above (positive) or below (negative) the LOD, sensitivity was 100% in river and ocean samples, indicating that the MST marker was always observed when at least one pathogen was detected. When binning criteria for MST markers was changed to reflect the QMRA-estimated criteria byAhmed et al. (2018a), sensitivity dropped to 88% for PMMoV and 53% for HF183 in river samples, and dropped to 0% for both A. González-Fernández, E.M. Symonds, J.F. Gallard-Gongora et al.

Table 4

Performance of the sewage-associated microbial source tracking (MST) markers with respect to pathogen detection evaluated by sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV) and negative predictive value (NPV). MST markers were binned positive or negative by comparison to the process limit of detection (LOD) or to QMRA-derived benchmark values from Ahmed et al. (2018) or Crank et al. (2019). The theoretical process limit of detection and quantification are included in Table S1.

MST	Performance Criterion	Process LOD <sup>a</sup> , this study		(Ahmed et al., 2018a) <sup>b</sup>		(Crank et al., 2019) <sup>c</sup>	
markers		River	Ocean	River	Ocean	River	Ocean
PMMoV	Sensitivity	100	100	88	0	40	0
	Specificity	0	11	0	86	100	100
	PPV	89	24	88	0	100	NPd
	NPV	11	100	0	75	0	78%
HF183	Sensitivity	100	100	53	0	NAC	NA <sup>e</sup>
	Specificity	0	14	25	93	NA <sup>e</sup>	NA <sup>e</sup>
	PPV	89	25	85	0	NA <sup>e</sup>	NA <sup>e</sup>
	NPV	11	100	6	76	NA <sup>e</sup>	NA <sup>e</sup>

<sup>a</sup> HF183 and PMMoV process LOD 6 GC/ 100 mL.

<sup>b</sup> HF183 3220 GC/100 mL and PMMoV 544 GC/100 mL (Ahmed et al., 2018a).

<sup>c</sup> PMMoV 5054 GC/100 mL (Crank et al., 2019).

<sup>d</sup> NP - not possible because no samples were above the benchmark for QMRA risk.

<sup>e</sup> NA – not applicable because no benchmark criteria exist.

markers in ocean samples. Thus, this drop in sensitivity by using QMRA-estimated criteria indicated an increased frequency of falsenegative relationships (MST marker below criteria but pathogen present). For PMMoV, the more stringent criteria estimated by Cranks et al. (2019) produced a much lower sensitivity in river samples (40% compared to 88%) compared to Ahmed's criteria.

Specificity was low for both MST markers when they were binned according to the LOD (0 –14%), but was improved by binning according to QMRA criteria, particularly in ocean samples. For example, specificity of HF183 in ocean samples increased from 14% (LOD binning) to 93% (QMRA binning). PMMoV followed a similar pattern, indicating that the more stringent criteria for defining a MST marker positive decreased the rate of false-positives (MST marker positive, no pathogens detected). Positive predictive values for MST markers under all criteria were markedly better in river compared to ocean samples, indicating greater confidence that a positive MST result would be co-observed with a pathogen in river samples compared to ocean, while negative predictive values showed the opposite trend.

#### 3.4. Correlations between indicator microorganisms and MST markers and pathogens

A significant correlation between indicator microorganisms and MST markers, and pathogens was identified by the multivariate Mantel test for river ( $\tau = 0.131$ , p = 0.0004) and ocean datasets ( $\tau = 0.1699$ , p = 0.0008). *C. perfringens*, somatic coliphage, male-specific coliphage, and PMMoV were the subset of indicator microorganisms and MST markers that maximized the correlation with pathogen concentrations in the rivers ( $\tau = 0.1529$ , p = 0.0003). In the ocean, enterococci, male-specific coliphage, and PMMoV were the subset of indicator microorganisms and MST markers that maximized correlations with the pathogen concentrations ( $\tau = 0.2710$ , p = 0.0001). Fig. 5 is a conceptual diagram that illustrates these results.

#### 4. Discussion

Jacó, like the majority of tropical beaches, is a popular beach whose recreational waters receive treated and undertreated domestic wastewater (Mora, 2009; World Health Organization and UNICEF, 2014). Our analyses consisted of multivariate approaches that were appropriate for the left-censored data sets typical of environmental pathogens, which allowed for their analysis in spite of frequent undetectable concentrations (Helsel, 2011). Since the



Fig. 5. Summary of the subset of indicator microorganisms and MST markers identified by the BIO-ENV procedure that best maximized correlations with pathogens in the river ( $\tau = 0.1529$ , p = 0.0003) and ocean waters ( $\tau = 0.2710$ , p = 0.0001).

power of statistical analyses are compromised when a large percentage of the data are censored, future studies are needed to corroborate the findings presented here. Using multivariate analyses, we identified that the environmental parameters were significantly different by season and tide, and explained 12% and 26% of the microbial variability in the river and the ocean, respectively. The percentage of variability explained by environmental parameters is similar to other studies (Laureano-Rosario et al., 2017). It also likely reflects the constant discharge of domestic wastewater to the rivers, which was identified by frequently high levels of MST markers *Bacteroides* HF183 and PMMoV in river samples, and to a lesser extent, in the ocean waters. A previous study identified illegal sewage connections to the stormwater system that drained into the river study areas (Mora, 2009).

#### 4.1. Environmental variables explain some variability in pathogens

While correlations among variables are not necessarily indicative of cause-and-effect relationships, they nonetheless provide important information about relationships among variables in complex natural systems. These relationships can be used to develop hypotheses that may be tested in manipulative experiments; however, this type of scientific inquiry is extremely difficult to carry out in a representative manner in scenarios as complex and variable as anthropogenically-impacted beaches. Multivariate statistical analyses yield more insight about complex systems than univariate analyses because they consider multiple independent and dependent variables simultaneously. As such, they produce a more holistic analysis that is also less subject to the type I statistical er-

#### A. González-Fernández, E.M. Symonds, J.F. Gallard-Gongora et al.

rors that easily arise from conducting multiple univariate analyses (Grace, 2002). We therefore used multivariate statistics to analyze relationships of microorganisms with environmental variables, and with each other, throughout this study. An additional complexity in analyses of relationships among human pathogens in anthropogenically-impacted environments is that pathogens may be contributed to water bodies by sewage, or by the feces of a variety of animals (Harwood et al., 2014; Korajkic et al., 2018; Nguyen et al., 2018). Fecal material derived from various sources will doubtlessly be affected differently by environmental variables, contributing to discrepant relationships that would not be expected in simpler systems.

Rainfall, which was significantly different between seasons, was a significant predictive variable of microbial concentrations in river and ocean models. Previous studies also found a positive relationship between rainfall and fecal-associated microorganisms (Ahmed et al., 2018b; Curriero et al., 2001; Laureano-Rosario et al., 2017; Shehane et al., 2005). Interestingly, contrasting associations between rainfall and the fecal microorganisms occurred in the rivers and ocean. In the rivers, Cryptosporidium increased with increasing rainfall, while NoVGI was highest when rainfall was lowest. While pathogen detection was infrequent in the ocean, Cryptosporidium tended to increase when rainfall was higher. Heavy rainfall often results ito increased runoff and saturation of soils, which can cause leakage from septic-leach field systems. Such leakage may increase pathogen concentrations in surface waters, particularly those pathogens that are usually removed (e.g., unicellular parasites) (Hofstra and Vermeulen, 2016; Neumann et al., 2015).

Of the microorganisms, Cryptosporidium made the greatest contribution to the differences observed between seasons, as it was only detected during rainy season in the river and ocean. Although this pathogen is not exclusive to humans, limited agricultural and livestock activities occur in the Jacó beach watershed (Orozco Montoya, 2015). It is likely that the high percentage of septic-leach field systems, combined with intense rainfall, led to increased Cryptosporidium concentrations in the rainy season. The other protozoan parasite analyzed. Giardia, was detected equally across seasons and as frequently as Cryptosporidium overall. Cryptosporidium prevalence in human populations is strongly correlated with precipitation, particularly in tropical locations (Jagai et al., 2009). Our results suggest that Giardia prevalence in fecal-contaminated surface waters is not as affected by season as Cryptosporidium, perhaps because of the presence of a source other than sewage. Giardia infection in canines is not uncommon, even in well-cared for dogs (Hascall et al., 2016). Many dogs roam Jacó beach and canineassociated parasites have been frequently detected in Jacó beach sand (Castro et al., 2009).

Salmonella and NoVGI were detected most frequently during the dry season in the rivers, which likely reflects the increased volume of sewage generated when tourism is greatest and possibly the seasonality of the pathogen in the population. Seasonal variability in NoVGI concentrations in domestic wastewater is understudied in the tropics; nevertheless, there is evidence of high concentrations year-round on the Costa Rican Pacific coast (Symonds et al., 2017), and increased concentrations have been identified in the dry season in the San José Greater Metropolitan Area (Chacon et al., 2020). It is likely that NoVGI was detected most frequently in the rivers during the dry season due to increased tourism in the area (Borowy, 2004), which leads to increased wastewater generated, and also increases the potential for the introduction of NoVGI cases from other countries or areas within Costa Rica. Furthermore, an outbreak of gastrointestinal illness occurred in Jacó during the dry season sampling period, in which NoV was among the suspected causative agents (Ministerio de Salud, 2018). It is also likely that lower river flow in the dry season (indicating less dilution by rainwater), as well as lower turbidities, improved the likelihood of NoVGI detection in the rivers during the dry season (Mull and Hill, 2012).

Salinity was a dominant predictive variable in the river and ocean models, generally correlating negatively with pathogens. This relationship was likely due to the greater inflow of untreated and partially-treated sewage directly to the rivers; thus, lower salinity waters almost always contained more pathogens given the higher percentage of riverwater. Tidal stage also influenced salinity by changing the relative proportion of river and ocean water in samples, which was visually apparent in the rainy season when the river discharge created a marked brown mass of low-salinity water along the coast. This relationship was also identified by previous studies, where higher FIB and *Salmonella* levels were negatively correlated with salinity (Ortega et al., 2009; Walters et al., 2011).

Water temperature was a significant predictor of fecal microorganisms in the ocean, in which they clustered according to decreasing temperature. Several studies have also determined an inverse relationship between fecal microorganisms and water temperature, and have found associations between bacterial die-off and increasing water temperature (Walters et al., 2011) (Faust et al., 1975; Vasconcelos and Swarmz, 1976). Although water temperature was significantly different between seasons in both river and the ocean, it was not a significant predictor of microorganism variability in the rivers.

4.2. Performance of indicator criteria and MST markers with respect to pathogen detection

Recreational water quality at Jacó and many other tropical beaches is regulated by FIB criteria originally developed in temperate climates. Some have recommended regionally specific guidelines for tropical beaches due to the influence of climate on microbial ecology and ineffective wastewater treatment in low-income communities (e.g. Verhougstraete et al., 2020). While epidemiological studies are needed to identify and validate RWQC in the tropics, we were able to relate FIB RWQC from the United States and Costa Rica, as well as sewage-associated MST markers, with pathogen detection in this study.

The predictive capabilities of the CR fecal coliform and enterococci geometric mean RWQC, and the US EPA enterococci STV RWQC with respect to pathogen presence were similar, and most had high sensitivity (RWQC exceedance when at least one pathogen was detected). This result was unexpected because fecal coliform concentrations are less likely to be correlated with human health outcomes from exposure to recreational water in comparison to enterococci in marine and freshwaters (US EPA, 2012b, 2000; Wade et al., 2003). Enterococci were more specific with respect to pathogen presence in river and ocean samples compared to fecal coliforms, indicating fewer false-positive results when using enterococci criteria (FIB above RWQC when pathogens were not detected).

The predictive capability of MST markers HF183 and PMMoV to identify pathogen presence was also assessed. MST marker detection was used as a permissive criterion for calling a marker positive, while criterion based on QMRA estimates of exceeding the US EPA benchmark were used as a more rigorous criterion. The permissive LOD criterion (detection) produced 100% sensitivity (marker always present when at least one pathogen was detected), but very low specificity (marker frequently positive when no pathogen was detected); thus, it appears that low levels of the markers are unlikely to be associated with sewage-borne pathogens, particularly in the ocean where positive predictive values were low.

Ahmed et al. (2018a) calculated that 3220 HF183 GC/100 mL and 544 PMMoV GC/100 mL are associated with the US EPA bench-

#### A. González-Fernández, E.M. Symonds, I.F. Gallard-Gongora et al.

mark for recreational waters (36 gastroenteritis illnesses/1000 swimmers). For PMMoV only, Crank et al. (2019) estimated that 5054 PMMoV GC/100 mL is associated with the approximate US EPA benchmark for recreational waters (30 illnesses/1000 swimmers). Both studies based risk in part on estimated NoV sewage concentrations from the literature, which may not accurately describe the NoV prevalence in Jacó sewage. Binning MST marker levels according to these QMRA estimates (greater than or less than the benchmark) markedly increased specificity with respect to prediction of pathogen presence in river and ocean samples compared to binning MST markers by LOD (detected or not detected). The sensitivity of PMMoV towards pathogens using the Ahmed et al. (2018a) benchmark was markedly greater than that for the Crank et al. (2019) estimate, suggesting that, at Jacó beach, the higher PMMoV criterion elevated the false-negative results (MST marker below criterion, pathogens detected). This comparison illustrates the variability of QMRA estimates developed in different geographic regions. The data collected in this study will provide the opportunity to develop a regionally-specific QMRA, and will also be augmented by data from subsequent sampling efforts.

#### 4.3. Fecal pollution toolbox approach in tropical surface waters

Relationships between fecal microorganisms are complex, making the predictive capabilities of one fecal indicator or MST marker alone inadequate to accurately indicate pathogen presence (Fujioka et al., 2015; Symonds and Breitbart, 2015; Viau et al., 2011a). In this study, for example, fecal microorganisms formed two distinct clusters based on the influence of environmental parameters in RDA ordination plots in both rivers and the ocean. Furthermore, no one fecal indicator or MST marker best correlated with pathogens in the river or ocean waters. Rather, the use of multiple fecal microorganisms best correlated with pathogens, which was also previously observed for tropical streams (Viau et al., 2011a).

In this study, different subsets of the fecal microorganisms best correlated with pathogens: C. perfringens, somatic and malespecific coliphage, and PMMoV in the rivers and enterococci, malespecific coliphage, and PMMoV in ocean waters (Fig. 5). The best subset of indicator microorganisms and MST markers always included at least two viruses and one FIB regardless of the water type. The presence of PMMoV and male-specific coliphage in both the river and ocean subsets of fecal microorganisms that best correlated with pathogens further highlights the importance of these microorganisms as water quality indicators (Fujioka et al., 2015; Nappier et al., 2019; Symonds et al., 2018; Vergara et al., 2015: Viau et al., 2011a, 2011b). It also further emphasizes the importance of including viral indicators to increase the likelihood of identifying the presence of pathogens (Symonds and Breitbart, 2015).

For the river and ocean samples, different FIB were identified in the best subset of fecal microorganisms that maximized correlations to pathogens. C. perfringens was best for freshwaters when accompanied by three viral indicators, which may reflect previous observations that C. perfringens is a useful fecal indicator in tropical environments (Viau et al., 2011; Fujioka et al., 2015). Enterococci and two viral indicators best correcated with pathogens in the ocean. Previous studies have identified a significant relationship with enterococci concentrations and swimmer gastrointestinal illnesses in marine waters with point source pollution in temperate latitudes, as well as in the tropics (Lamparelli et al., 2015; Verhougstraete et al., 2020). Our study further supports enterococci as an indicator of fecal contamination and human health risks in marine tropical waters. Future studies are needed to confirm the most appropriate combination of fecal indicators, as well as their specific RWQC, for Jacó and other tropical beaches.

#### 5. Conclusions

- · Regardless of season, Jacó rivers were implicated as sources of human fecal contamination based on percent exceedance RWQC, high MST sewage marker concentrations, and occurrence of diverse waterborne pathogens.
- Environmental variables explained <26% of the microbial variability; rainfall was the most important predictor at Jacó beach, while salinity and water temperature were also significant in river and ocean models.
- · FIB and MST sewage markers had high positive predictive values for pathogens in rivers when RWQC or QMRAestimated criteria were used as benchmarks. The US EPA enterococci STV criterion had the highest positive (78%) and negative (96%) predictive value of all indicators in ocean samples.
- C. perfringens, somatic and male-specific coliphages, and PM-MoV together maximized correlations with pathogens in the rivers, while male-specific coliphages, PMMoV and enterococci together maximized correlations with pathogens at ocean sites.
- · No one fecal indicator or MST sewage marker best correlated with pathogens; rather, the use of multiple fecal indicators and MST markers maximized pathogen correlations. A fecal pollution toolbox approach, containing at least one viral indicator, is recommended for pathogen prediction at tropical beaches. Further research is needed to confirm the constituents of this toolbox.

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Acknowledgments

This work was supported by grants OCE-1566562 and OCE-1745934 from the US National Science Foundation (NSF). Special thanks to the following employees at the Costa Rica's Water and Sewage Authority (Instituto Costarricense de Acueductos y Alcantarillados): Yamileth Astorga Espeleta, Rodolfo Lizano Rojas, Johanna Méndez Araya, Xinia Mesén Arroyo, Noilyn Castillo Ríos, Marlen Víquez Guerrero, Juan Carlos Calvo, Luis Vega Molina, Alejandra Gómez Mora, Melisa Chaves Mora, Diana Peña Flores and Adrián Rojas Barrantes. The authors would like to thank Dr. Mark E. Luther for advising the team about coastal physical oceanography, as well as Mark Wills and Surfline for providing discounted access to Surfline during the study. We would also like to thank Dr. Dennis Helsel for his advice on multivariate analyses for leftcensored data. Finally, we would like to thank Carlos Fernández Arce for his assistance during fieldwork, as well as for providing assistance with graphical design, photography and videography.

#### Supplementary materials

Supplementary material associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.watres.2020.116507.

#### References

- 33903-MINAE-S, D.N., 2007. Reglamento para la evaluación y clasificación de la cal-
- 33903-MINAE-S, D.N., 2007. Reglamento para la evaluacion y clasificacion de la cal-idad de cuerpos de agua superficiales.Ahmed, W., Hamilton, K.A., Lobos, A., Hughes, B., Staley, C., Sadowsky, M.J., Har-wood, V.J., 2018a. Quantitative microbial risk assessment of microbial source tracking markers in recreational water contaminated with fresh untreated and secondary treated sewage. Environ. Int. 117, 243-249. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2018

A. González-Fernández, E.M. Symonds, J.F. Gallard-Gongora et al.

- Ahmed, W., Zhang, Q., Lobos, A., Senkbeil, J., Sadowsky, M.J., Harwood, V.J., Saeidi, N., Marinoni, O., Ishii, S., 2018b. Precipitation influences pathogenic bac-teria and antibiotic resistance gene abundance in storm drain outfalls in coastal sub-tropical waters. Environ. Int. 116, 308–318. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2018.04.005. erican Public Health Association, 2017. Standard Methods for the Examination of
- Water and Wastewater, twenty-third ed..
- American Public Health Association, 1996. Standard test Method for Detection and Enumeration of *Clostridium Perfringens* from Water and Extracted Sediments by Membrane Filtration. American Public Health Association, Inc., West Con-Shohoken, PA doi:10.1520/D5916-96R02.
  Anderson, K.L., Whitlock, J.E., Harwood, V.J., 2005. Persistence and differential sur-
- vival of fecal indicator bacteria in subtropical waters and sediments. Appl. Env-iron. Microbiol. 71, 3041–3048. doi:10.1128/AEM.71.6.3041-3048.2005.
- Angulo, F., 2015. Gestión del recurso hídrico y saneamiento en Costa Rica, Vigésimo-primer informe estado del la nación de desarrollo humano sostenible. San José Costa Rica.
- Angulo, F., 2013. Manejo, disposición y desecho de las aguas residuales en Costa Rica, Decimonoveno informe del Estado de la Nación en desarrollo humano sostenible.
- Anonymous, 2008. 'La contaminación en playa Jacó es persistente' [WWW Document]. La Nac. URL https://www.nacion.com/el-pais/la-conta playa-jaco-es-persistente/NIJB6JISLVFDTMDEWEZOX4VN7Q/story/ (accessed 3.17.19)
- Ashbolt, N.J., Schoen, M.E., Soller, J.A., Roser, D.J., 2010. Predicting pathogen risks to aid beach management: the real value of quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA). Water Res. 44, 4692–4703. Badgley, B.D., Thomas, F.I.M., Harwood, V.J., 2011. Quantifying environmental reser-
- voirs of fecal indicator bacteria associated with sediment and submerged aquatic vegetation. Environ. Microbiol. 13, 932-942. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920. 2010 02397 x
- Boehm, A.B., Ashbolt, N.J., Colford, J.M., Dunbar, L.E., Fleming, L.E., Gold, M.A., Hansel, J.A., Hunter, P.R., Ichida, A.M., McGee, C.D., Soller, J.A., Weisberg, S.B., 2009. A sea change ahead for recreational water quality criteria. J. Water Health 7, 0, 20, doi:10.2026/tb.2000.1201 7, 9-20. doi:10.2166/wh.2009.122.
- Boehm, A.B., Fuhrman, J.A., Mrše, R.D., Grant, S.B., 2003. Tiered approach for identification of a human fecal pollution source at a recreational beach: case study at Avalon bay, Catalina island, California. Environ. Sci. Technol. 37, 673-680. doi:10.1021/es025934x.
- Borowy, F., 2004. Informe final investigación sobre el impacto socioeconómico de las instalaciones conocidas como Marina Los Sueños, localizadas en Playa Herradura, distrito de Jacó, cantón de Garabito, Puntarenas.
- Byappanahalli, M.N., Nevers, M.B., Korajkic, A., Staley, Z.R., Harwood, V.J., 2012. Ente-rococci in the environment. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 76, 685–706. doi:10.1128/
- Cao, Y., Griffith, J.F., Dorevitch, S., Weisberg, S.B., 2012. Effectiveness of qPCR permu-tations, internal controls and dilution as means for minimizing the impact of inhibition while measuring Enterococcus in environmental waters. J. Appl. Mi-crobiol. 113, 66–75. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.2012.05305.x.Castro, C., de Oliveira, J., Hernández, J., Jiménez, A., Jiménez, M., 2009. Contami-
- nación por parásitos gastrointestinales de caninos en dieciocho playas del Pací-fico Central de Costa Rica: implicaciones para la salud pública, Revista Ciencias Veterinarias.
- Chacón, L., Barrantes, K., Santamaría-Ulloa, C., Solano, M., Reyes, L., Taylor, L., Va-liente, C., Symonds, E.M., Achí, R., 2020. A somatic coliphage threshold approach to improve the management of activated sludge wastewater treatment plant effluents in resource-limited regions. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 86. doi:10.1128/ AEM.00616-20.
- Chase, E., Hunting, J., Staley, C., Harwood, V.J., 2012. Microbial source tracking to identify human and ruminant sources of faecal pollution in an ephemeral Florida river. J. Appl. Microbiol. 113, 1396–1406. doi:10.1111/jam.12007.
- Clarke, K., Ainsworth, M., 1993. A method of linking multivariate community struc-ture to environmental variables. Marine Ecol.-Prog. Ser. 92 205-205.
- Crank, K., Petersen, S., Bibby, K., 2019. Quantitative microbial risk assessment of swimming in sewage impacted waters using CrAssphage and Pepper mild mot-tle virus in a customizable model. Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett. 6, 571–577. doi:10. 1021/acs estlett 9b00468
- Curriero, F.C., Patz, J.A., Rose, J.B., Lele, S., 2001. The association between extreme precipitation and waterborne disease outbreaks in the United States, 1948-
- precipitation and wateroome disease outbreaks in the United States, 1948– 1994, Am. J. Public Health 91, 1194–1199, doi:10.2105/JPH-918.1194.
  Dale, M., Luck, B., Fowler, H.J., Blenkinsop, S., Gill, E., Bennett, J., Kendon, E., Chan, S., 2017. New climate change rainfall estimates for sustainable drainage. In: Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers: Engineering Sustainability, pp. 214–224. doi:10.1680/jensu.15.00030.
- DeFlorio-Barker, S., Wing, C., Jones, R.M., Dorevitch, S., 2018. Estimate of incidence and cost of recreational waterborne illness on United States surface waters. Environ. Heal. Glob. Access Sci. Source 17, 1-10. doi:10.1186/s12940-017-0347-9.
- Desmarais, T.R., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Palmer, C.J., 2002. Influence of soil on fecal in-dicator organisms in a tidally influenced subtropical environment. Appl. Envi-ron. Microbiol. 68, 1165–1172. doi:10.1128/AEM.68.3.1165-1172.2002.
- st, M.A., Aotaky, A.E., Hargadon, M.T., 1975. Effect of physical parameters on the in situ survival of Escherichia coli MC-6 in an estuarine environment American Society for Microbiology
- Fujioka, R., Solo-Gabriele, H., Byappanahalli, M., Kirs, M., 2015. U.S. recreational wa ter quality criteria: a vision for the future. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 12 (7), 7752-7776. doi:10.3390/ijerph120707752.

- Grace, J.B., 2002. Shipley, B. Cause and correlation in Biology. Ann. Bot. 90, 777-778.
- Green, H.C., Haugland, R.A., Varma, M., Millen, H.T., Borchardt, M.A., Field, K.G., Walters, W.A., Knight, R., Sivaganesan, M., Kelty, C.A., Shanks, O.C., 2014. Improved HF183 quantitative real-time PCR assay for characterization of human fecal pollution in ambient surface water samples. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 80, 3086-3094 doi:10 1128/AFM 04137-13
- Griffith, J.F., Cao, Y., McGee, C.D., Weisberg, S.B., 2009. Evaluation of rapid methods and novel indicators for assessing microbiological beach water quality. Water Res. 43, 4900–4907. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2009.09.017.
  Haramoto, E., Kitajima, M., Kishida, N., Konno, Y., Katayama, H., Asami, M., Ak-
- iba, M., 2013. Occurrece of pepper mild mottle virus in drinking water sources in Japan. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79, 7413–7418. doi:10.1128/AEM.02354-13. Harwood, V.J., Staley, C., Badgley, B.D., Borges, K., Korajkic, A., 2014. Microbial source
- reaching markers for detection of fecal contamination in environmental waters relationships between pathogens and human health outcomes. FEMS Microbiol Rev. doi:10.1111/1574-6976.12031.
- Wood, V.J., Brownell, M., Wang, S., Lepo, J., Ellender, R.D., Ajidahun, A., Hellein, K.N., Kennedy, E., Ye, X., Flood, C., 2009. Validation and field testing of
- Herlein, K.A., Reinedy, E., R. X., Hoot, C., 2009. Variation and neuro testing of library-independent microbial source tracking methods in the Gulf of Mexico. Water Res. 43, 4812–4819. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2009.06.029.
  Harwood, V.J., Levine, A.D., Scott, T.M., Chivukula, V., Lukasik, J., Farrah, S.R., Rose, J.B., 2005. Validity of the indicator organism paradigm for pathogen re-duction in reclaimed water and public health protection. Appl. Environ. Micro-biol. 71, 3163–3170. doi:10.1128/AEM.71.6.3163-3170.2005.
- Hascall, K.L., Kass, P.H., Saksen, J., Ahlmann, A., Scorza, A.V., Lappin, M.R., Marks, S.L., 2016. Prevalence of enteropathogens in dogs attending 3 regional dog parks in Northern California. J. Vet. Intern. Med. 30, 1838-1845. doi:10.1111/jvim.14603. Helsel, D., 2019. Statistical analysis of censored data (data with nondetects). [WWW
- Perset, D., 2015. Statistical analysis of censored data (data with holidects). [WWW Document]. URL https://practicalstat.eachable.com/p/nada
  Helsel, D.R., 2011. Statistics for Censored Environmental Data Using Minitab® and R, second ed. John Wiley and Sons doi:10.1002/9781118162729.
  Hill, V.R., Mull, B., Jothikumar, N., Ferdinand, K., Vinjé, J., 2010. Detection of GI and GII noroviruses in ground water using ultrafiltration and TaqMan real-time RT-PCR. Food Environ. Virol. 2, 218-224. doi:10.1007/s12560-010-9049-y.
- Hofstra, N., Vermeulen, L.C., 2016. Impacts of population growth, urbanisation and sanitation changes on global human *Cryptosporidium* emissions to surface water. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 219, 599–605. doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2016.06.005.
- Howard, G., Calow, R., Macdonald, A., Bartram, J., 2016. Climate change and water and sanitation: likely impacts and emerging trends for action. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 41, 253-276. doi:10.1146/annure v-environ-110615-085856
- tron. Resour. 41, 253–276. doi:10.146/ahnurev-environ-110613-055856.
  Howard, C., Katrina, C., Pond, K., Brookshaw, A., Hossain, R., Bartram, J., 2010. Securing 2020 vision for 2030: climate change and ensuring resilience in water and sanitation services. J. Water Clim. Chang. 1, 2–16. doi:10.2166/wcc.2010.205.
  Instituto Costaricense de Turismo, 2018. Estimación del porcentaje de turistas que realizaron las siguientes actividades [WWW Document]. URL
- http://www.ict.go.cr/es/documentos-institucionales/estadisticas/cifras-turísticactividades-realizadas/568-3-3-1-principales-actividades-realizadas/file.html actividades-realizadas/file.html activi(accessed 1.21.20).
- Instituto Nacional de estadística y censos, 2014. Estimaciones y proyec-ciones nacionales de población [WWW Document]. URL https://www.inec.cr/ ublicaciones?field area tematica documento tid=387 (accessed 8.8.20)
- Jagai, J.S., Castronovo, D.A., Monchak, J., Naumova, E.N., 2009. Seasonality of cryp-tosporidiosis: a meta-analysis approach. Environ. Res. 109, 465–478. doi:10. 1016/i.envres.2009.02.008.
- Korajkic, A., McMinn, B.R., Harwood, V.J., 2018. Relationships between microbial indicators and pathogens in recreational water settings. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health doi:10.3390/ijerph15122842.
- Krause, S.M., 2012. Pilgrimage to the playas [WWW Document]. Anthropolology action, URL https:// ww.berghahnjournals.com/view/journals/aia/19/3/aia190304.
- xml (accessed 2.2.20). Lamb, J.B., Van De Water, J.A.J.M., Bourne, D.G., Altier, C., Hein, M.Y., Fiorenza, E.A., Abu, N., Jompa, J., Harvell, C.D., 2017. Seagrass ecosystems reduce exposure to bacterial pathogens of humans, fishes, and invertebrates. Science 355, 731–733. doi:10.1126/science.aal1956.
- Darelli, C.C., Pogreba-Brown, K., Verhougstraete, M., Sato, M.I.Z., de Castro Bruni, A., Wade, T.J., Eisenberg, J.N.S., 2015. Are fecal indicator bacteria appropriate measures of recreational water risks in the tropics: a cohort study of beach goers in Brazil? Water Res. 87, 59–68. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2015.09.001.
  Laureano-Rosario, A.E., Symonds, E.M., Rueda-Roa, D., Otis, D., Muller-Karger, F.E.,
- 2017. Environmental factors correlated with culturable enterococci concentra-tions in tropical recreational waters: a case study in Escambron beach, San Juan, Puerto Rico. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 14, 1602. doi:10.3390/ mb14121603
- Lee, L., 2017. CRAN package NADA [WWW Document]. URL https://cran.r-project. org/web/packages/NADA/index.html (accessed 10.13.19).
- Legendre, P., Anderson, M.J., 1999. Distance-based redundancy analysis: testing mul-tispecies responses in multifactorial ecological experiments. Ecol. Monogr. 69, 1-24 https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9615(1999)069[0001:DBRATM12.0.CO:2.
- Legendre, P., Legendre, L., 2012. Numerical Ecology, third ed. Elsevier. Legendre, P., Oksanen, J., ter Braak, C.J.F., 2011. Testing the significance of canonical axes in redundancy analysis. Methods Ecol. Evol. 2, 269-277. doi:10.1111/j. 2041-210X.2010.00078.x

A. González-Fernández, E.M. Symonds, I.F. Gallard-Gongora et al

- Lopez, M., 2017, Construcción de alcantarillado sanitario en Garabito lleva paralizada años [WWW Document]. Sem. Univ. URL https://semanariouniversidad.co is/construccion-alcantarillado-sanitario-garabito-lleva-paralizada-15-anos/ (accessed 3 17 19)
- Mattison, K., Brassard, J., Gagné, M.J., Ward, P., Houde, A., Lessard, L., Simard, C., Shukla, A., Pagotto, F., Jones, T.H., Trottier, Y.L., 2009. The feline calicivirus as a sample process control for the detection of food and waterborne RNA viruses. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 132, 73–77. doi:10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2009.04.002.
- Mora, A., 2011. Calidad sanitaria de los esteros v/o desembocaduras de ríos en los
- Mora, A., 2011. Calidad sanitaria de los esteros y/o desembocaduras de rios en los litorales de Costa Rica: 1996-2011 [WWW Document]. URL http://www.bvs.sa. cr/AMBIENTE/textos/ambiente11.pdf (accessed 3.17.19).
  Mora, D., 2009. Calidad Sanitaria de las Aguas de Playa Jacó: Costa Rica 1986-2008 [WWW Document]. Rev. Costarric. Salud Pública URL https://www.scielo.sa.cr/ scielo.php?script=sci\_arttext\amp:pid=S1409-14292009000100002.
- Mora, D., 2007. Calidad sanitaria de las aguas de playa en Costa Rica. San José, Costa
- Mull, B., Hill, V.R., 2012. Recovery of diverse microbes in high turbidity surface wa ter samples using dead-end ultrafiltration. J. Microbiol. Methods 91, 429-433. doi:10.1016/j.mimet.2012.10.001.
- Nappier, S.P., Hong, T., Ichida, A., Goldstone, A., Eftim, S.E., 2019. Occurrence of colhage in raw wastewater and in ambient water: a meta-analysis. Water Res. 153, 263-273, doi:10.1016/j.watres.2018.12.058,
- Neumann, B., Vafeidis, A.T., Zimmermann, J., Nicholls, R.J., 2015. Future coastal pop-ulation growth and exposure to sea-level rise and coastal flooding a global assessment. PLoS ONE 10, e0118571. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0118571.
- Nguyen, K.H., Senay, C., Young, S., Nayak, B., Lobos, A., Conrad, J., Harwood, V.J., 2018. Determination of wild animal sources of fecal indicator bacteria by microbial source tracking (MST) influences regulatory decisions. Water Res. 144, 424–434. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2018.07.034. Oksanen, J., Blanchet, G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin,
- Oksanen, J., Bianchet, G., Friendily, M., Kindt, K., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G., Solymos, P., Henry, M., Stevens, H., Szoces, E., Wag-ner, H., 2016. Vegan: community ecology package. R package version 2.3-5.Orozco Montoya, R., 2015. Propuesta de manejo de uso y cobertura de la tierra para la reducción del riesgo de contaminación del acuífero costero Jacó, Pací-fico Central, Costa Rica. Tesis de Graduacion. [WWW Document]. URL http:// v hidrolo gia.una.ac.cr/index.php/tesis/103-manejo-uso-cobertura-tierra (ac cessed 8.8.20)
- Ortega, C., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Abdelzaher, A., Wright, M., Deng, Y., Stark, L.M., 2009. Correlations between microbial indicators, pathogens, and environmen-tal factors in a subtropical Estuary. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 1374–1381. doi:10.1016/ polbul.2009.04.015.
- Prüss-Ustün, A., Bartram, J., Clasen, T., Colford, J.M., Cumming, O., Curtis, V., Bon-jour, S., Dangour, A.D., De France, J., Fewtrell, L., Freeman, M.C., Gordon, B., Hunter, P.R., Johnston, R.B., Mathers, C., Mäusezahl, D., Medlicott, K., Neira, M., Stocks, M., Wolf, J., Cairncross, S., 2014. Burden of disease from inadequate wa-ter, sanitation and hygiene in low- and middle-income settings: a retrospective analysis of data from 145 countries. Trop. Med. Int. Heal. 19, 894-905. doi:10.1111/tmi.12329. R Core Team, 2013. R: a language and environment for statistical computing.
- Ramette, A., 2007. Multivariate analyses in microbial ecology. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2007.00375.x. ).1111/j.15 Ramírez-Sánchez, I.M., Doll, S., Bandala, E.R., 2015, Drinking water and sanitation in central America: challenges, perspectives, and alternative water treatment. In: ACS Symposium Series. American Chemical Society, pp. 53–70. doi:10.1021/
- bk-2015-1206.ch004
- bk-2015-1206.ch004.
   Seurinck, S., Defoirdt, T., Verstraete, W., Siciliano, S.D., 2005. Detection and quantification of the human-specific HF183 Bacteroides 165 rRNA genetic marker with real-time PCR for assessment of human faecal pollution in freshwater. Environ. Microbiol. 7, 249-259. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2004.00702.x.
   Shehane, S.D., Harwood, V.J., Whitock, J.E., Rose, J.B., 2005. The influence of rainfall on the incidence of microbial faecal indicators and the dominant sources of faecal pollution in a Florida river. J. Appl. Microbiol. 98, 1127–1136. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.204.001.
- .1365-2672.2005.02554.x. Shuval, H., 2003. Estimating the global burden of thalassogenic diseases: human infectious diseases caused by wastewater pollution of the marine environment.
- J. Water Health 1, 53–64. doi:10.2166/wh.2003.0007. Smith, C.M., Hill, V.R., 2009. Dead-end hollow-fiber ultrafiltration for recovery of
- diverse microbes from water, Appl. Environ, Microbiol, 75, 5284-5289, doi:10. 1128/AFM 00456-09
- Villalobos, R., 2012. Regiones y sub-regiones climáticas de Costa Solano, J., Rica IWWW Documentl. Inst. Meteorológico Nac. URL https://v nents/10179/20909/Regi analizació nática+de+Costa+Rica (accessed 3.24.19)
- Soller, J.A., Eftim, S., Wade, T.J., Ichida, A.M., Clancy, J.L., Johnson, T.B., Schwab, K., Ramirez-Toro, G., Nappier, S., Ravenscroft, J.E., 2016. Use of quantitative micro-bial risk assessment to improve interpretation of a recreational water epidemi-
- Join Tak assistant to import interpretation of accentional mater epidemiological study. Microb. Risk Anal. 1, 2-11. doi:10.1016/j.mran.2015.04.001.
   Soupir, M.L., Mostaghimi, S., Dillaha, T., 2010. Attachment of *Escherichia coli* and enterococci to particles in runoff. J. Environ. Qual. 39, 1019–1027. doi:10.2134/
- Svraka, S., van der Veer, B., Duizer, E., Dekkers, J., Koopmans, M., Vennema, H., 2009. Novel approach for detection of enteric viruses to enable syndrome surveillance of acute viral gastroenteritis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 47, 1674–1679. doi:10.1128/JCM. 00307-09

- Symonds, E.M., Nguyen, K.H., Harwood, V.I., Breitbart, M., 2018, Pepper mild motthe virus: a plant pathogen with a greater purpose in (waste)water treatment development and public health management. Water Res. doi:10.1016/j.watres. 2018 06 066
- ZUISJUDJOD, Symonds, E.M., Young, S., Verbyla, M.E., McQuaig-Ulrich, S.M., Ross, E., Jiménez, J.A., Harwood, V.J., Breitbart, M., 2017. Microbial source tracking in shellfish har-vesting waters in the Gulf of Nicoya, Costa Rica. Water Res. 111, 177–184. doi:10.1016/j.unemer.2010.0017 doi:10.1016/j.watres.2017.01.004
- Symonds, F.M., Sinigalliano, C., Gidley, M., Ahmed, W., McOuaig-Ulrich, S.M., Breitbart, M., 2016. Faecal pollution along the southeastern coast of Florida and insight into the use of pepper mild mottle virus as an indicator. J. Appl. Microbiol. 121. 1469-1481. doi:10.1111/jam.13252
- Symonds, E.M., Breitbart, M., 2015. Affordable enteric virus detection techniques are needed to support changing paradigms in water quality management. Clean -Soil Air Water 43, 8-12. doi:10.1002/clen.201400235.Symonds, E.M., Verbyla, M.E., Lukasik, J.O., Kafle, R.C., Breitbart, M., Mihelcic, J.R.,
- 2014. A case study of enteric virus removal and insights into the associated risk of water reuse for two wastewater treatment pond systems in Bolivia. Water Res. 65, 257–270. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2014.07.032.
- Trenberth, K.E., 2011. Changes in precipitation with climate change. Clim. Res. 47, 123–138. doi:10.3354/cr00953.
  United Nations World Water Assessment Programme, 2017. The United Nations
- World Water Development Report 2017: Wastewater, the Untapped Resource. UNESCO, Paris.
- US Environmental Protection Agency, 2015. Review of coliphages as possible indicators of fecal contamination for ambient water quality. Off. Sci. Technol. Heal. Ecol. Criteria Div. 129.
- US Environmental Protection Agency, 2012a, Method 1611; enterococci in water by TaqMan ® quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) assay. US Environmental Protection Agency, 2012b. Recreational Water Quality Criteria.
- FPA LIS US Environmental Protection Agency, 2006. Method 1682: Salmo
- sludge (biosolids) by modified semisolid rappaport-vassiliadis (MSRV) medium. Environ. Prot. 42.
- US Environmental Protection Agency, 2005a. Method 1600: Enterococci in water by membrane filtration using membrane-Enterococcus indoxyl-B-D-glucoside agar (mEI).
- US Environmental Protection Agency, 2005b. Method 1623: Cryptosporidium and Giardia in Water by Filtration/IMS/FA\_68\_United States Prot\_Agenc
- US Environmental Protection Agency, 2001. Method 1601: male-specific (F+) and somatic coliphage in water by two-step enrichment procedure April 2001. EPA Document 821-R-01-030 40.
- US Environmental Protection Agency, 2000. Improved enumeration methods for the recreational water quality indicators: Enterococci and Escherichia coli. concelos, G.J., Swarmz, R.G., 1976. Survival of bacteria in seawater using sion chamber apparatus in situ, Appl. Environ, Microbiol..
- Vergara, G.G.R.V., Goh, S.G., Rezaeinejad, S., Chang, S.Y., Sobsey, M.D., Gin, K.Y.H., 2015. Evaluation of FRNA coliphages as indicators of human enteric viruses in a tropical urban freshwater catchment. Water Res. 79, 39–47. doi:10.1016/j.watres. 2015 04 022
- 2015.04.022.
  Verhougstraete, M.P., Pogreba-Brown, K., Reynolds, K.A., Lamparelli, C.C., Zanoli Sato, M.I., Wade, T.J., Eisenberg, J.N.S., 2020. A critical analysis of recreational water guidelines developed from temperate climate data and applied to the tropics. Water Res. 170. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2019.115294.
  Viau, E.J., Goodwin, K.D., Yamahara, K.M., Layton, B.A., Sassoubre, L.M., Burns, S.L., Tong, H.I., Wong, S.H.C., Lu, Y., Boehm, A.B., 2011a. Bacterial pathogens in Hawaiian coastal streams-associations with fecal indicators, Iand cover, and water quality. Water Res. 45, 3279–3290. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2011.03.033.
  Viau, E.J., Lee, D., Boehm, A.B., 2011b. Swimmer risk of gastrointestinal illness from exposure to tropical coastal waters impacted by terrestrial dry-weather runoff.
- exposure to tropical coastal waters impacted by terrestrial dry-weather runoff. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 7158-7165. doi:10.1021/es200984b. Wade, T.J., Pai, N., Eisenberg, J.N.S., Colford, J.M., 2003. Environmental protection
- agency water quality guidelines for recreational waters prevent gastrointestinal illness? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Env. Heal. Perspect. 111, 1102-1109. doi:10.1289/ehp.6241.
- Walters, S.P., Thebo, A.L., Boehm, A.B., 2011, Impact of urbanization and agriculture on the occurrence of bacterial pathogens and stx genes in coastal waterbodies of central California. Water Res. 45, 1752–1762. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2010.11.032.
- Wanjugi, P., Sivaganesan, M., Korajkic, A., McMinn, B., Kelty, C.A., Rhodes, E., Cyter-ski, M., Zepp, R., Oshima, K., Stachler, E., Kinzelman, J., Kurdas, S.R., Citriglia, M., Hsu, F.C., Acrev, B., Shanks, O.C., 2018. Incidence of somatic and F<sup>+</sup> coliphage in Great Lake Basin recreational waters. Water Res. 140, 200-210. doi:10.1016/j. watres.2018.04.055
- Whitman, R.L., Shively, D.A., Pawlik, H., Nevers, M.B., Byappanahalli, M.N., 2003. Occurrence of *Escherichia coli* and enterococci in Cladophora (Chlorophyta) in nearshore water and beach sand of Lake Michigan. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69, 1990 (2010) (201 4714-4719. doi:10.1128/AEM.69.8.4714-4719.2003. World Health Organization, 2003. Guidelines for Safe Recreational Water. Volume 1.
- astal and Fresh Waters, 1, p. 219 Geneva
- Coastal and Fresh Waters, 1, p. 219 Geneva. World Health Organization and UNICEF, 2014. Progress on sanitation and drinking water: 2014. Joint monitoring programme for water supply and sanitation. [WWW Document] . URL https://www.unwater.org/publication\_categories/ whounicef-joint-monitoring-programme-for-water-supply-sanitation-huming (scened 8.2.00) whounicef-joint-monitoring-pro hygiene-jmp/ (accessed 8.8.20).

A. González-Fernández, E.M. Symonds, J.F. Gallard-Gongora et al.

Zhang, Q., Gallard, J., Wu, B., Harwood, V.J., Sadowsky, M.J., Hamilton, K.A., Ahmed, W., 2019. Synergy between quantitative microbial source tracking (qMST) and quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA): a review and prospectus. Environ. Int. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2019.03.051. Water Research 188 (2021) 116507

Zhang, T., Breitbart, M., Lee, W.H., Run, J-Q, Wei, C.L., Soh, S.W.L., Hibberd, M.L., Liu, E.T., Hibberd, M.L., Rohwer, F., Ruan, Y., 2006. RNA Viral Community in Human Feces: Prevalence of Plant Pathogenic Viruses. PLOS Biol. 4, 108–118. https://journals.plos.org/plosbiology/article?id=10.1371/journal.pbio.0040003.

# CHAPTER THREE: RISK OF GASTROENTERITIS FROM SWIMMING AT A WASTEWATER-IMPACTED TROPICAL BEACH VARIES ACROSS LOCALIZED SCALES

### Authors

Adriana González-Fernández<sup>1</sup>, Erin M. Symonds<sup>2</sup>, Javier F. Gallard-Gongora<sup>1</sup>, Bonnie Mull<sup>3</sup>, Jerzy O. Lukasik<sup>3</sup>, Pablo Rivera Navarro<sup>4</sup>, Andrei Badilla Aguilar<sup>4</sup>, Jayme Peraud<sup>1</sup>, Allison Cantor<sup>5</sup>, Darner Mora Alvarado<sup>4</sup>, Mya Breitbart<sup>2</sup>, Maryann R. Cairns<sup>5</sup> and Valerie J. Harwood<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Integrative Biology, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL 33620

<sup>2</sup>College of Marine Science, University of South Florida, Saint Petersburg, FL 33701, USA

<sup>3</sup>Biological Consulting Services of North Central Florida, Inc., Gainesville, FL 32609, USA

<sup>4</sup>Laboratorio Nacional de Aguas, Instituto Costarricense de Acueductos y Alcantarillados, Tres Ríos, Cartago, Costa Rica

<sup>5</sup>Department of Anthropology, Southern Methodist University, Dallas, TX 75205, USA

E.M.S, M.B and M.R.C and V.J.H. conceived ideas, A.G.F and V.J.H. oversaw experiments in Tampa, FL, A.G.F. and E.M.S. conducted statistical analyses, and AGF wrote the paper with comments and edits from all authors.

### **Key Highlights**

- 1. Pathogen levels differed by subwatershed across 2.4 km of beach.
- 2. Norovirus and adenovirus drove health risk for swimmers.

3. QMRA found that swimmers' health risk was higher in dry (tourist) season.

4. Viral log reduction up to 4.1 is needed for safe swimming in Jacó rivers.

### Abstract

Population growth and changing climate are expected to increase human exposure to pathogens in tropical coastal waters. We examined microbiological water quality in three rivers within 2.3 km of each other that impact a Costa Rican beach and in the ocean outside their plumes during the rainy and dry season. We performed quantitative microbial risk assessment to predict the risk of gastroenteritis associated with swimming and the amount of pathogen reduction needed to ensure safe conditions. Recreational water quality criteria based on enterococci were exceeded in >90% of river samples, but in only 13% of ocean samples. Multivariate analysis grouped microbial observations by subwatershed and season in river samples, but only by subwatershed in the ocean. The modeled median risk from all pathogens in river samples was between 0.345 and 0.577, tenfold above the USEPA benchmark of 0.036 (36 illnesses/1000 swimmers). Norovirus genogroup I (NoVGI) contributed most to risk, but adenoviruses raised risk above the threshold in the two most urban subwatersheds. Risk was greater in the dry compared to rainy season, due largely to the greater frequency of NoVGI detection (100% vs 41%). Viral log10 reduction needed to ensure safe swimming conditions varied by subwatershed and season, and was greatest in dry season (3.8 - 4.1 dry; 2.7 - 3.2 rainy). QMRA that accounts for seasonal and local variability of water quality contributes to understanding the complex influences of hydrology, land use, and environment on human health risk in tropical coastal areas and can contribute to improved beach management.

### Introduction

The release of untreated and inadequately treated domestic wastewater into rivers and the ocean is a global threat to the health of both humans and the environment (DeFlorio-Barker *et al.*, 2018; Fleming *et al.*, 2006). An estimated 90 million illnesses per year are caused by exposure to pathogens in recreational water in the United States (US), where sewage is routinely treated and disinfected (DeFlorio-Barker *et al.*, 2018). This situation is likely worse in many other countries that have less wastewater treatment infrastructure (Prüss-Ustün *et al.*, 2014). Less than 65% of domestic wastewater is collected in Latin American countries and the Caribbean, of which only 41% is disinfected (UN Habitat & WHO, 2021).

Recreational water quality criteria (RWQC) used to assess the safety of recreational waters are based on fecal indicator bacteria (FIB), including enterococci, fecal coliforms and *E. coli*, which are used as surrogates for waterborne pathogens (US EPA, 2012a). Although FIB can originate from human feces, they can also be found in the feces of other animals and in extra-intestinal sources, such as vegetation and sediments, disrupting their relationships with pathogens (Anderson *et al.*, 2005; Byappanahalli *et al.*, 2012; Desmarais *et al.*, 2002; Nguyen *et al.*, 2018). Alternative indicators such as *Clostridium perfringens* and somatic and F+ coliphages suffer from many of the same drawbacks of conventional indicators (Boehm *et al.*, 2009; Cabelli, 1978; Fujioka *et al.*, 2015; US EPA, 2015, 2012a). The information provided by general fecal indicators is increasingly supported by data on host- or source-associated microbial source tracking (MST) microorganisms or genes in research studies and actions (Harwood *et al.*, 2014; Nguyen *et al.*, 2018). Many MST methods for human/sewage fecal pollution have been developed, among them the extensively-validated *Bacteroides* gene marker HF183 (Ahmed *et al.*, 2016, 2008; Bernhard and Field, 2000; Boehm *et al.*, 2013; Gawler *et al.*, 2007; Odagiri *et al.*, 2015;

Seurinck *et al.*, 2005). Pepper mild mottle virus (PMMoV) is a plant virus that is ubiquitous and present at high levels in sewage (Rosario *et al.*, 2009; Symonds *et al.*, 2019, 2018). HF183 and PMMoV have been used as complementary bacterial and viral markers, respectively, for sewage in several studies (González-Fernández *et al.*, 2021; Harwood *et al.*, 2014; Symonds *et al.*, 2017, 2016).

Epidemiology studies are the "gold-standard" for estimating disease burden associated with water exposure, and they provide the definitive information on human health risk required to develop evidence-based guidance for public health protection (Hedberg & Maher, 2019). It is, however, logistically challenging and very expensive to perform robust epidemiology studies that can detect a given health effect. Quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) is a more feasible mathematical modeling approach used to predict the impact that pathogens in polluted waters may have on the health of exposed individuals (Ashbolt *et al.*, 2010). QMRA provides a quantitative estimate of the probability of illness resulting from a specific exposure, such as submerging one's head underwater, and can help guide management strategies that maximize human health protection at beaches.

The QMRA framework starts by identifying the microbial hazard(s) and defining exposure, which for beach recreators involves defining distributions for pathogen concentration(s) in the water and the volume of water ingested while recreating. While pathogens can be measured directly, they are typically present at low concentrations in environmental waters. Thus, a variety of left-censored data techniques (e.g., Robust Regression on Order Statistics (rROS), 95th percentile estimation based on surrogate) are often required to define the distribution of pathogens in the model (Helsel, 2011; Orner *et al.*, 2021; Verbyla *et al.*, 2016). The volume of water ingested is typically assumed from the distribution defined by swimming pool studies from the US

(Dufour *et al.*, 2006). Additionally, uncertainties and assumptions are inherent to all dose-response models (Haas *et al.*, 2014), particularly for norovirus genogroup I (NoVGI) where a ~1000-fold difference in risk of infection is determined depending upon the use of the disaggregate or aggregate model (Orner *et al.*, 2021; Schmidt, 2015; Sunger *et al.*, 2019; Van Abel *et al.*, 2017). Despite the assumptions of each model parameter and the introduction of uncertainty, QMRA and its interpretation can be improved through effective model construction from source to exposure, the use of distributions and not point estimates, identification of sensitive system components to ensure that parameters are representative, and measurement of model parameter sensitivity (Haas *et al.*, 2014; Petterson & Ashbolt, 2016).

Few studies executed in the tropics have measured indicators, MST-markers, and pathogens or repeatedly measured the same site over time (Kongprajug *et al.*, 2021; Vadde *et al.*, 2019). This study builds upon a prior microbial water quality study and a QMRA performed at Jacó beach (González-Fernández *et al.*, 2021; Orner *et al.*, 2021). Jacó is a heavily-visited beach that lacks a central sewer and sanitation system, and relies on on-site sanitation infrastructure (Mora, 2009; Ramírez-Sánchez *et al.*, 2015; WHO & UNICEF, 2014). The field work of our previous study occurred during the rainy season of 2017 and the dry season of 2018 and will be referred to as the 2018 study, while our current study took place in the same location during the rainy season of 2018 and the dry season of 2019 and will be referred to as the 2019 study. In this 2019 study, we measured FIB, sewage-associated MST markers, and pathogen levels in three of the five rivers that convey wastewater contamination to Jacó Beach and estimated the risk of gastrointestinal (GI) illness from swimming in the rivers. We also determined differences among microbes at a more localized scale; per subwatershed, and in both rivers and in the ocean outside their plumes for a subset of microbes. Using QMRA, we modeled the viral log10 reduction value

(LRV) required to lower viral concentrations to achieve safe recreational water quality in the rivers (Orner *et al.*, 2021).

### **Material and Methods**

### Study site and study design

Jacó is a highly visited beach that is known to be polluted by domestic wastewater (González-Fernández *et al.*, 2021). It is located in the province of Puntarenas in the Central Pacific coast of Costa Rica. The beach is 4.2 km long, and most water recreation activities (surfing and swimming) occur near three of the rivers that discharge on the southern end of the beach. Copey, Naranjal and Madrigal rivers, including their respective ocean discharges, each comprise a separate subwatershed, which we sampled on a localized scale. River and ocean water of each subwatershed were sampled 13 times each during the rainy (Aug – Oct, 2018) and dry seasons (Jan – Mar, 2019), which resulted in 39 river samples and 39 ocean samples per season, 78 per water type (river and ocean) and a total of 156 water samples (Table 1).

### Sample concentration and handling

Microorganisms in the river samples (salinity ~ 0) were concentrated on site from 50 L of water by ultrafiltration using REXEED 25SX dialysis filters as previously described (González-Fernández *et al.*, 2021; Mull & Hill, 2012). The filters were stored at 4 °C and shipped on Techni Ice<sup>TM</sup> to BCS Laboratories in Gainesville, Florida for processing within 72 h of collection. Dialysis filters were eluted and back-flushed with a 500-mL solution containing 0.5% Tween 80, 0.01% sodium polyphosphate, and 0.001% Antifoam Y-30 Emulsion as previously described, yielding 460 ml eluate (~1,000-fold concentration factor). A proportion of eluate was further concentrated by PEG precipitation as previously described (González-Fernández *et al.*, 2021).

Ocean samples were not analyzed for pathogens due to the infrequent detection of pathogens in ocean samples during our previous study (González-Fernández *et al.*, 2021), and were therefore processed differently. Ocean samples were collected just outside of the river plume (salinity generally >30 ppt) where ocean depth was approximately 1 m.

Microorganisms in the ocean samples were filtered from a 500-mL grab sample onto a 0.45-µm, mixed cellulose ester, 47-mm diameter filter (Type HAWP; Millipore, Billerica, MA) using a modified can crusher, sterile syringe, and syringe filter holder as previously described (Symonds *et al.*, 2014). PEG concentrates from river samples and membrane filters from ocean samples were stored at -80 °C and were thawed only once for nucleic acid extraction. Simultaneously, 500-mL grab samples were collected from all river and ocean sites and transported on ice to the Costa Rican National Water Quality Laboratory for fecal coliform and enterococci analyses within 12 hours of collection (Table 1).

### Microbial analysis

Pathogens (NoVGI, human adenovirus (AdV), *Giardia* and *Cryptosporidium*), human wastewater-associated MST markers (HF183 and PMMoV), and bacterial (enterococci, fecal coliforms, *C. perfringens*) and viral (somatic and F+ coliphage) fecal indicators were quantified in river samples, while only HF183 and FIB (enterococci and fecal coliforms) were quantified in ocean samples (Table 1). From the concentrated eluate of river samples, somatic coliphages and F+ coliphages were cultured by the US Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) Method 1601 (US EPA, 2001), *C. perfringens* were cultured using Standard Method ASTM D5916-96(2002) (American Society for Testing & Materials, 1996). *Salmonella* spp. were cultured from the concentrated eluate of river samples of 20-mL, 10-mL and 1-mL volumes for the most probable number (MPN) analysis. *Salmonella* spp. was quantified and confirmed following US EPA Method 1682 (US EPA, 2006). *Giardia* spp. and *Cryptosporidium* spp. were enumerated by immunomagnetic separation and microscopy by US EPA Method 1623.1 (US EPA, 2005a) (Table 1). Fecal indicator bacteria in river and ocean samples were cultured from 500-mL grab samples. Fecal coliforms were enumerated by multiple tube fermentation according to the American Public Health Association standard methods, section 9221 E (American Public Health Association, 2017) and enterococci enumeration was performed using membrane filtration according to US EPA Method 1600 (US EPA, 2005b). NoVGI, AdV, HF183, PMMoV and extraction efficiency controls (See section 1.5) were all quantified from nucleic acid using quantitative PCR (qPCR) (Table 2).

### Nucleic acid extraction (-reverse transcription)

Nucleic acid was extracted from PEG concentrates and membrane filters from river and ocean water samples using the AllPrep PowerViral DNA/RNA Kit (Qiagen; Germantown, USA) and the PowerWater DNA Kit (Qiagen), respectively, following the manufacturer's instructions. An extraction control consisting of nuclease-free water was processed for each batch of samples. All river DNA samples were tested for AdV, HF183 and salmon testes DNA (Sketa; positive process control; Table 2). Reverse transcription (RT) was performed using random hexamers and the Superscript IV First-strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen; Carlsbad, USA) immediately following nucleic acid extraction, and all river cDNA samples were analyzed for PMMoV, NoVGI, and feline calicivirus (FCV; positive process control) (Table 2). Ocean DNA samples were only tested for HF183 and salmon testes DNA (Sketa; positive process control) (Table 2). DNA and cDNA were stored at -20 °C for no longer than ten months for all pathogens and MST markers prior to qPCR.

### Extraction (-reverse transcription) controls and efficiency calculation

An extraction negative control (sterile water added to an extraction tube and carried through the entire process) was included during each extraction round to test for contamination. The positive and negative controls represent a control for the following processes: D/RNA purification in all samples, and reverse transcription only in river samples. To determine the efficiency of nucleic acid extraction, each sample as well as a sterile water calibrator was spiked with salmon testes DNA and FCV (ATCC VR-782, lot #63847341), and efficiency was calculated according to previously published methods (Mattison *et al.*, 2009; Symonds *et al.*, 2014; US EPA, 2012b). Mean recovery of Sketa and FCV was 82% and 81% respectively.

### (RT-)qPCR analyses

Quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction [(RT-)qPCR] analyses were executed to determine the concentrations of microbial targets in river water (original volume = 50 L) and ocean water (original volume = 500 mL) samples. All samples were analyzed following previously published assays in 25-µL reactions using TaqMan<sup>TM</sup> Environmental Master Mix 2.0 (Table 2). Negative controls containing no template were included in each qPCR instrument run and all were negative. All assays were run using an ABI 7500 Real-Time PCR System (Thermo Fisher Scientific; Waltham, USA).

Standard curves for qPCR analyses were constructed from gBlocks Gene Fragments (IDT; Coralville, USA). For each assay, ten-fold serial dilutions of the gBlock standard, ranging from 10,000 to 10 gene copies (GC) per reaction, were analyzed in duplicate alongside samples and no-template controls. For each instrument run, log10-linear regression analysis of the quantification cycle (Cq) value and gene copy (GC) number associated with each point in the ten-fold

dilution series was executed to produce a standard curve. To adhere to the qPCR MIQE guidelines, data were only generated from qPCR instrument runs when standard curves had 90 to 110% efficiency and R2 values were  $\geq 0.97$  (Bustin *et al.*, 2009).

Microbial targets were considered quantifiable when duplicate measurements were within the assay dynamic range and the standard deviation was less than 1 Cq. If no fluorescence was observed in duplicate reactions during 40 cycles, the quantity measured was classified as 'less than the assay limit of detection' (<LOD). Samples in which only one technical replicate amplified were rerun. The sample was considered positive but below the limit of quantification (LOQ) when the target was detected in at least two out of the four reactions, and when the mean Cq was greater than the assay LOQ.

### (RT-)qPCR inhibition testing

qPCR inhibition was assessed by analyzing a 1:10 dilution of target nucleic acids for a DNA (HF183) and a cDNA (PMMoV) assay. PCR inhibition was determined by comparing the Cq of an undiluted sample to that of a 1:10 dilution. PCR inhibition was deemed to be absent if the dilution Cq was at least 2 Cq lower than that of the undiluted sample (Cao *et al.*, 2012). No inhibition was observed during this study.

### Estimation of microbial concentrations from (RT-)qPCR Cq values

To account for inter-plate variability across all qPCR runs for a specific assay, the 'pooled approach' was used to estimate the mean GC in each sample using WinBUGS software V1.4.3 (Imperial College and Medical Research 107 Council, UK) (Sivaganesan *et al.*, 2010). This approach uses Markov chain Monte Carlo simulations to calculate a single, standard curve equation (also known as a calibration equation) from all of the standard curves generated during the experiment (4 to 9 instrument runs, depending on the assay). For PMMoV, NoVGI, and FCV, all mean copy numbers were divided by two to take into account the differences between the double-stranded gBlock standard curve material and the viruses' single-stranded genomes.

Based upon all of the standard curves generated during this study, each assay's limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantification (LOQ) were calculated (Table 1). The assay LOD was defined as the lowest quantity at which amplification occurs 95% of the time within 40 cycles, calculated as previously described (Verbyla *et al.*, 2016). The assay LOQ was defined as the lowest quantity that was reliably measured 100% of the time within the dynamic range of the assay. The process LOD, process LOQ and sample concentration were back-calculated to include all of the steps in the molecular and microbial concentration processes (GC/L).

### Environmental data

Water temperature (°C), pH, salinity (ppt), and turbidity (nephelometric turbidity unit; NTU) were measured with a YSI 556 Multiprobe (Rye Brook, USA) *in situ* at the time of sample collection. Rainfall (mm) in the12 h, 24 h, 48 h, 72 h and 96 h periods prior to sampling were calculated with hourly rainfall data provided by AyA Piedra Bruja weather station located in Jacó.

### Data analyses

Left-censored data were considered to be observations below the limit of detection (<LOD) or between the LOD and the limit of quantification (LOQ), which are considered detectable but not quantifiable (DNQ). Between 0% and 100% of observations for each pathogen (NoVGI, AdV, *Cryptosporidium* and *Giardia*) were left-censored per subwatershed (Table S1 and S2). MST marker observations (HF183 and PMMoV) in contrast, were 0% to 50% leftcensored, and FIB observations (enterococci and fecal coliforms) were not left-censored per subwatershed (Table S1, S2 and S3). Alternative fecal indicator microorganisms (C. perfringens, somatic and F+ coliphages were 0 to 23% left-censored (Table S1 and S2). Fecal coliform observations were the only ones that included right-censored data (>LOQ; 6%). Percentage of observations that were not quantifiable, arranged in order of non-detects (below the assay LOD), detected but not quantifiable (above assay LOD and below the assay LOQ) and quantifiable data (above assay LOQ) are also provided by season in Figure 1 and 2. Data were entered in a twotier censoring scheme that considered both the non-detects (<LOD) and DNQ observations. All values less than the LOD or LOQ were censored to LOD -1 or LOQ - 1, respectively (Helsel, 2011). The u-scores, which are the numerator in computation of Kendall's tau correlation and the basis for the Mann-Whitney test, were calculated for all the In-transformed interval microbial data to account for censored observations (Helsel, 2011). All environmental parameters were standardized by calculating their z-score and creating a Euclidean distance matrix. R version 4.0.2 was used to execute all statistical analyses: descriptive statistics, hypothesis testing, redundancy analyses, QMRA and sensitivity (correlation) analyses (R Core Team, 2013).

Descriptive statistics (mean and standard deviation) were calculated by season and subwatershed for all environmental and non-censored microbial data. If data were <80% left censored (observations below the process LOD or LOQ), descriptive statistics were estimated with Robust Regression on Order Statistics (rROS) using the "NADA" R package (Helsel, 2011; Lee, 2017). When observations were > 80% censored only the 90th and 95th percentiles were reported. The frequency of detection (>LOD) for each pathogen was determined.

### Differences by river and season

Since data were equally collected in three subwatersheds during the rainy and dry seasons, a two-way permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) was performed to determine if there is a significant subwatershed-by-season interaction effect in the concentration of all measured microorganisms in the river (enterococci, fecal coliforms, *C. perfringens*, somatic and F+ coliphages, *Giardia*, *Cryptosporidium*, NoVGI and AdV) and ocean (enterococci, fecal coliforms and HF183) data separately using the vegan R package (Oksanen *et al.*, 2016). PERMANOVA's assumption of homogeneity of multivariate dispersion was examined and determined to be met prior to testing for differences among groups, and a pairwise PERMANOVA with corrections for multiple testing (holm p-value adjustment method) was used to determine which groups varied from one another. Discriminant analysis using the canonical analysis of principal components (CAP) was performed with the Biodiversity R package to produce an ordination diagram to visualize differences in observations among subwatersheds and seasons (Kindt, 2019).

### Redundancy analysis- Effect of environmental variables on fecal microorganisms

Relationships among environmental parameters and fecal microorganisms were explored by employing an Akaike information criterion (AIC) based stepwise variable selection procedure with a redundancy analysis (RDA) approach to build an optimal model (most parsimonious) and test the following null hypothesis: There is no significant effect of the following selected variables: antecedent rainfall (12, 24, 48, 72 and 96 h prior to sampling), turbidity, and/or salinity, on fecal microbial concentrations in Jacó's subwatersheds. RDAs to test for multivariate linear relationships between environmental parameters and all measured fecal microorganisms were built for river and ocean data separately, with both rainy and dry season data combined. To reduce the number of species (microorganisms) plotted on the river RDA and help with interpretation, a multiple regression of species with linear scores of ordination axes was calculated and species were plotted based on goodness of fit. PMMoV, followed by *Salmonella*, NoVGI, F+ coliphage, and *C. perfringens*, were most highly associated with the first two RDA axes ( $r_2 > 0.4$ ) and are labelled in the river ordination plot (Table S4A, Figure S1). These analyses were performed using the vegan R package (Oksanen *et al.*, 2016).

### Risk of gastroenteritis and viral log10 reduction values required for safe swimming

OMRA was used to determine the risk of illness for swimmers in the rivers at Jacó beach in terms of risk from individual pathogens and cumulative risk from all measured pathogens (Sunger et al., 2019). The exposure assessment was defined for an individual who was submerged in the river (wetting head or face) and was calculated by river and season as previously described (Orner et al., 2021). Swimmer exposure in the river (dose ingested, d) was calculated by multiplying the assumed volume of water ingested (US EPA, 2010) (defined as a distribution, for mixed adult and child populations in swimming pools; Table S5) by the pathogen concentration derived from measurements in the river water (Table S5 and S6). Briefly, log10-normal distributions were used to describe pathogen concentrations in the river and the volume ingested (see SI for details; Table S5 & S6). When data were left-censored, the pathogens' log10-mean and log10-standard deviation concentrations were estimated using either robust rROS statistics (<80% left-censored; NADA package; Helsel, 2021) or 95th percentile estimation methods (>80% left-censored) (Orner et al., 2021; Verbyla et al., 2016). For each model parameter described as a distribution, a random set of 10,000 Monte Carlo values was used to account for model variability and uncertainty. To convert AdV gene copies to median tissue culture

infectious dose (TCD50) for the AdV dose ingested, the dose was multiplied by a harmonization factor described by a uniform distribution (Flint *et al.*, 2009; Heider and Metzner, 2014; Kundu *et al.*, 2013) (Table S5).

Risk of infection for each pathogen (Pinf) was calculated using the estimated dose ingested and the following dose-response models and model parameters: fractional Poisson for Cryptosporidium (Messner & Berger, 2016) and NoVGI (Messner et al., 2014), exponential for Giardia (Rose et al., 1991), beta function for Salmonella (Teunis et al., 2010), and the exact beta Poisson for AdV (P. Teunis et al., 2016) (Table S5). Norovirus GI was measured in this study because most data used to develop the NoV dose-response curve were from NoVGI feeding studies (Messner *et al.*, 2014) and this genogroup was previously identified as prevalent in the region (Symonds et al., 2017). The risk of infection from NoVGI was calculated using the aggregate and disaggregate values for the model parameter  $(\mu)$  separately because there is currently no consensus in the literature on the most appropriate value to use (Schmidt, 2015; Schoen et al., 2020; Sunger et al., 2019; Van Abel et al., 2017). Susceptibility to NoVGI (P) has a human genetic component (Nordgren et al., 2016) and was modified to reflect Costa Rica's population (Morera et al., 2003) as recommended (Van Abel et al., 2017). Subsequently, risk of GI illness (Pill) was calculated by multiplying the risk of infection by the morbidity ratio (DuPont et al., 1995; Haas et al., 2014; Rose et al., 1991; Soller et al., 2017) (Table S5). The cumulative risk of GI illness was then calculated by summing the risk of illness for each reference pathogen (NoVGI, AdV, Salmonella, Giardia, and Cryptosporidium) (Orner et al., 2021; Sunger et al., 2019).

Descriptive statistics describing the risk of illness were calculated for each pathogen, as well as cumulatively, for all measured pathogens for each river and season. Risk of illness was compared against the US EPA health benchmark (36 illnesses/1000 swimmers) (US EPA,

2012a). The sensitivity of the QMRA was evaluated by using Spearman rank order correlation analyses between simulated input parameters derived from the literature (Boehm *et al.*, 2018; Maier *et al.*, 2009; Messner *et al.*, 2014; Messner and Berger, 2016; Rose *et al.*, 1991; Stone *et al.*, 2008; Symonds *et al.*, 2017; P. Teunis *et al.*, 2016; Van Abel *et al.*, 2017) (Table S7) and the cumulative probability of illness from all measured pathogens ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ). Finally, since NoVGI and AdV contributed the most to cumulative risk of illness, the viral surface water log10 reduction value (LRV) needed to ensure safe swimming conditions in the rivers along Jacó beach were calculated for each river and season.

For this analysis, swimming conditions were considered safe when the 95th percentile of viral cumulative risk of GI illness was less than 0.036 (US EPA health benchmark recommendation 1) (US EPA, 2012a) as previously described (Orner *et al.*, 2021). The LRV was calculated separately using the NoVGI disaggregate or aggregate model for each river and season. Briefly, if the 95th percentile of the cumulative risk of illness of NoVGI and AdV exceeded the health benchmark, then viral concentrations in the exposure assessment were reduced by 0.1-log10. Subsequently, the risk of infection and illness were modeled with the same QMRA previously described until the 95th percentile of the cumulative viral risk of illness fell below the health benchmark (Orner *et al.*, 2021; Symonds *et al.*, 2014).

### Results

Jacó rivers are a source of wastewater pollution for Jacó beach. Exceedance of recreational water quality criteria (RWQC) for FIB occurred in the vast majority of river samples (90% to 97%), regardless of the regulatory criteria used, however, frequency of exceedance was lower and more variable in ocean samples (0 to 54%) (Table 3). RWQC exceedances in ocean samples

occurred much more frequently in the rainy (26% to 54%) than in the dry season (0% to 38%; Table 3). Most pathogens were frequently detected in the rivers (39% to 100% of observations) (Table S8) at high concentrations (i.e., 2.85 x 103 GC/L of NoVGI and 5.87 x 102 GC/L of AdV in the dry season) (Table S9); however, *Cryptosporidium* was detected in only 5 out of 78 river samples (Table S8). Pathogens were not assessed in the ocean, but mean HF183 concentrations were 3.33 x 104 GC/L in the rainy season and 2.78 x 104 GC/L in the dry season (Table S10), demonstrating year-around contamination by wastewater at Jacó beach.

### Differences in microbial concentrations by subwatershed and season

Copey, Naranjal and Madrigal rivers coupled with their associated ocean waters were each considered a separate subwatershed. Analysis was conducted separately in the river and ocean samples of each subwatershed. Microbial concentrations measured in Jacó rivers varied significantly by season (rainy vs. dry) and by river (Copey, Naranjal and Madrigal) according to the multivariate PERMANOVA analysis, which identified a significant interaction effect between river and season (Table S4B). Pairwise comparisons with Holm p-value correction for multiple testing were performed for all combined river and season interaction factors (e.g., Copey\*dry, Copey\*rainy) to identify which factors were significantly different (Table S4C). Canonical axes that best discriminate among microbial variables by site and season are shown in the ordination plot generated from CAP analysis (Figure 3). Microorganisms that contribute the most to differences in season/river groupings have arrows of greater magnitude and their direction is more horizontal along canonical axis I, which explained the greatest portion of the variability in the model (49.32%). Descriptive statistics and frequency of detection determined for the raw data are also shown in Figure 4 (Table S1 and S2) and Table 4:

Samples clustered distinctly by season and to a lesser extent by river. Increased concentrations of enterococci and AdV were the main drivers of clustering among samples from Naranjal River in the rainy season (Figure 3). Microbial levels in Naranjal River samples collected in the rainy season were significantly different from those in all other river\*season combinations (Table S4C). For example, the highest mean concentrations of AdV (1.45 x 103 GC /L) and enterococci (4.35 x 104 CFU/L) were measured in Naranjal River during the rainy season (Figure 3 and 4, Table S1), coinciding with the highest frequency of AdV detection (69%) (Table 4). AdV was consistently present year-round in at least one sample from each river, but it was infrequently detected in Madrigal River regardless of season (only 8% frequency), while detection frequency ranged from 38% to 62% in all other river/season combinations (Table 4). Enterococci mean concentrations were elevated one to two orders of magnitude above regulatory criteria in all rivers regardless of season but were typically at least one order of magnitude greater in the rainy versus dry season (Figure 4, Table S1 and S2).

High concentrations of HF183 and *C. perfringens* were the main drivers of the clustering observed among Copey River samples in the dry season (Figure 3). Copey River samples in the dry season were significantly different than samples from all pairs of river/season factors except for Naranjal River in the dry season (Table S4C). The Copey River dry season samples were characterized by the highest mean levels of HF183 (6.30 x 104 GC/L) and *C. perfringens* (8.87 x 102 CFU/L) (Figure 4, Table S2). The concentrations of these microorganisms were always greater in the dry season samples compared to the rainy season samples in all rivers (Figure 4, Table S1 and S2).

NoVGI and *Salmonella* were detected in 100% of the samples in all rivers during the dry season (Table 4). Increasing levels of *Salmonella* and NoVGI were the main drivers of the

clustering among Madrigal River samples in the dry season (Figure 3). Madrigal River samples in the dry season were significantly different from observations from all rivers sampled during the rainy and dry seasons, with the exception of samples from Naranjal River in the dry season (Table S4C). The highest mean concentrations of *Salmonella* (1.74 x 102 CFU /L) and NoVGI (4.52 x 103 GC /L) were found in Madrigal River in the dry season (Table S1 and S2). In the rainy season, NoVGI was infrequently detected in Copey (23% detection) and Madrigal (15% detection) rivers in comparison with Naranjal River (85% detection), and when detected, observations were often below the assay limit of quantification (Table 4). Mean concentrations of *Salmonella* in the rainy season samples were at least one order of magnitude greater at Madrigal River versus Copey and Naranjal rivers; Figure 3 (Table S1).

Fecal coliforms, enterococci and HF183 measured in the ocean samples were significantly different among ocean sites (Table S4B) (i.e., just outside the river plumes of Copey, Naranjal and Madrigal rivers), but not by season (Table S4D). Microbial concentrations at the Copey ocean site were significantly higher than those at Naranjal and Madrigal (Table S3 and S4D). Most (94.37%) of the variation among the ocean sites sampled was explained by canonical axis 1, where higher concentrations of HF183 and FIB were identified as the drivers of the observed clustering among samples from the ocean in the Copey subwatershed (Figure 5). Although HF183 diverges from FIB in Figure 4, canonical axis II only accounts for 5% of explained variability. The highest mean levels of enterococci (1.38 x 103 CFU/L), fecal coliforms (8.70 x 103 MPN/L) and HF183 (5.06 x 104 GC/L) were detected in the Copey ocean sites (Figure 5 and 6, Table S3).

### Relationship of environmental variables to microbial concentrations

RDA analysis found that a small, but significant, fraction of the variability in microbial concentrations was explained by environmental parameters (Table S4E and S4F). RDAs were performed separately for river and ocean data, and the selected models were those with the lowest AIC, composed of a subset of environmental parameters that best represented the relationship between microbial concentrations and environmental parameters. Variables that significantly optimized the relationship between microorganisms in the river RDA were rainfall 48 h prior to sampling and water temperature, and both had a significant effect on microbial concentrations (Table S4E, Figure S1). Greater concentrations of *Salmonella*, followed by NoVGI, F+ coliphage and PMMoV, were typically found in samples with low or no antecedent rainfall (Figure S1). In the ocean RDA, optimal selected variables were water temperature and rainfall 48 h and 96 h prior to sampling (Figure S2, Table S4F), yet only water temperature and rainfall 48 h prior sampling were significant predictors (Figure S2, Table S4F). Enterococci, fecal coliforms and HF183 clustered with a gradient of increasing rainfall and decreasing water temperature (Figure S2).

### Quantitative microbial risk assessment for GI illness due to swimming per season and river

Although the risk of infection from NoVGI was calculated using both the aggregate and disaggregate model parameter ( $\mu$ ), we focus our results section on the conservative disaggregate norovirus model which predicts higher risk to swimmers. Results for the aggregate model are shown in the supplementary material section (Figure S3 and S4, Table S11) and both models are compared in the discussion section. The cumulative risk of GI illness from exposure to all measured pathogens varied by season and river. Median cumulative risk exceeded the US EPA benchmark (36/1000, or 0.036) for safe recreation regardless of river (Figures 7 and S4). NoVGI

contributed the most to risk, followed by AdV, regardless of season and river (Figure 7 and S4). Median risk of GI illness from NoVGI always exceeded 0.036, while median risk due to AdV alone exceeded the benchmark only in Copey and Naranjal rivers in the dry season and in the Naranjal River during the rainy season (Figure 7). The contributions of *Giardia*, *Cryptosporid-ium*, and *Salmonella* to the cumulative risk of GI illness varied by river and season but were always much lower than the risk posed by viral pathogens (Figure 7 and S4). The QMRA was most sensitive to the exposure parameters, particularly the concentrations of *Cryptosporidium*, *Giardia*, and NoVGI, and volume ingested, followed by the risk characterization (dose-response) parameters (Figure S5). Since pathogen recovery efficiency was not among the most significantly correlated parameters with total pathogen risk of illness, this model parameter was not considered in the exposure assessment (Orner *et al.*, 2021).

### Viral log10 reduction values needed for safe swimming conditions per subwatershed

Jacó rivers require reductions in the concentration of viruses for safe swimming conditions to be met (i.e., for the 95th percentile of the cumulative risk of illness to be lower than U.S. EPA health benchmark of 36 illness per 1000 recreators). The viral LRV was calculated by season and river based on cumulative NoVGI and AdV risk of illness calculated with the QMRA (Table 5). The greatest viral LRV was calculated in the dry season for Madrigal River (4.1log10), followed by Naranjal River (3.9-log10) and Copey River (3.8-log10) (Table 5). LRVs during the rainy season showed a different pattern were Naranjal River was highest (3.2-log10), followed by Copey River (3.0-log10) and Madrigal River (2.7-log10).

### Discussion

This study analyzed pathogen levels to estimate the risk of gastroenteritis from waterborne pathogens among swimmers at a tropical beach that receives domestic wastewater pollution from septic systems and direct discharge from sewer pipes into rivers within the watershed. It builds upon QMRA studies using pathogen measurements from other latitudes, and improves upon others by measuring specific pathogens in the rivers, rather than relying on surrogates (indicator organisms or MST markers) or estimating pathogen concentrations from the literature (Ashbolt et al., 2010; Boehm et al., 2015; McBride et al., 2013; Sunger et al., 2019). By analyzing microbial levels and estimating risk of GI illness in each river, we were able to discern differences in pathogen levels and human health risk even though all rivers were highly polluted by wastewater and were located less than 2.5 km from one another. Despite using actual pathogen measurements to define distributions in the exposure assessment, it is important to note that risk of GI illness was significantly influenced by the volume of ambient water ingested. The ingestion parameter was derived from swimming pool studies that may or may not reflect human behavior and exposure to pathogens in a river. Future studies are needed to better understand and define this parameter in different contexts to improve the estimates of risk of GI illness to swimmers.

In our previous (2018) study, microbial concentrations in Jacó rivers varied seasonally (rainy versus dry) (González-Fernández *et al.*, 2021); however, differences by river were not explored. In the current study, high levels of most microorganisms were found in Jacó rivers during the dry season, but in the rainy season Naranjal River was differentiated from Copey and Madrigal rivers due to high concentrations of enterococci and AdV and more frequent detection of NoVGI. Median cumulative risk of GI illness was also greater during the dry season, in
agreement with a study that utilized the 2018 data for QMRA (Orner et al., 2021). Increased tourism in the dry season months increases the volume of wastewater discharged to surface waters, while decreased rainfall weakens natural river flow, resulting in less dilution of microbial pollutants. Furthermore, some seasonal workers who support the tourism industry are known to stay in informal settlements located in Copey and Naranjal during peak tourism season in dry months (Borowy, 2004; González-Fernández et al., 2021). These factors undoubtedly contribute to elevated levels of NoVGI, Salmonella, HF183, PMMoV, somatic coliphages and C. *perfringens* in all rivers during the dry season and generally elevated risk for swimmers in the rivers. Higher levels of most microorganisms, including NoVGI, MST markers, C. perfringens and somatic coliphages in Copey River and Naranjal River compared to Madrigal River are also likely to be influenced by land use, as these rivers have more urban development and a small percentage of the population lives in informal settlements without access to sanitary infrastructure. The Madrigal River subwatershed, in contrast, is characterized by more cattle grazing lands and lower human population density, as well as the presence of horses used for recreation on the beach (Orner et al., 2021; Orozco Montoya, 2015; Sánchez-Gutiérrez et al., 2020).

In the ocean, where pathogens were not measured due to documented low concentrations (González-Fernández *et al.*, 2021), HF183 and FIB levels varied in samples from each subwatershed but not by season. HF183 and FIB levels were higher in Copey and Naranjal ocean sites compared to Madrigal, reflecting the trend of greater pathogen concentrations in the rivers with more urban land use. A risk-based threshold for HF183 of 525 GC/100 ml was defined in a California QMRA study as the concentration of HF183 for which the median estimated risk of gastroenteritis from swimming is 32/1000 (Boehm & Soller, 2020) due to cumulative risk from exposure to AdV, NoV, *Giardia, Cryptosporidium, E. coli* O157:H7, *Campylobacter* and

53

*Salmonella.* We applied this benchmark to HF183 values measured in our study and determined that HF183 concentrations in 73% of the river samples exceeded the 525 GC/100 ml threshold, compared to only 26% exceedance in the ocean samples. The lower HF183 levels in the ocean reflect dilution and dispersion of microorganisms from the source (rivers) to the ocean and these physical processes are known to vary greatly both spatially and temporally (Horner-Devine *et al.*, 2015). From river samples that exceeded the 525 GC/100 ml threshold, 47% were from dry season data versus 26% from rainy season data. Interestingly, exceedance in the ocean was higher in the rainy season (9% were from dry season data versus 17% from rainy season data). Previously, Orner *et al.* (Orner *et al.*, 2021) identified significant differences in dilution and dispersion from these same rivers into the ocean that significantly varied by subwatershed and season and noted instances of limited dilution/dispersion in the rainy season, which may explain why exceedance was higher in the rainy season.

The variability in microbial concentrations explained by environmental variables decreased between study years, from 12.3% in the 2018 study (González-Fernández *et al.*, 2021) to 7.5% in the 2019 study, but was consistently a minor factor. Rainfall and water temperature were the only significant predictors of microbial levels in both years. In both studies, higher levels of *Salmonella* and NoVGI were associated with lower rainfall and decreased water temperature in rivers, while enterococci levels were positively associated with rainfall (González-Fernández *et al.*, 2021). Correlations with 12 h antecedent rainfall were observed in our 2018 study at Jacó, but different cumulative antecedent rainfall variables were not explored (González-Fernández *et al.*, 2021). Forty-eight-hour antecedent rainfall was the rainfall variable selected in the most parsimonious models that best captured the relationship between microorganism and the set of environmental variables measured [i.e., cumulative rainfall (12, 24, 48, 72 and 96 h prior to

54

sampling), water temperature and turbidity] in river and ocean samples from the 2019 study. Previous studies have identified positive correlations between FIB and environmental factors that include similar rainfall time-lags (Chase *et al.*, 2012; Harwood *et al.*, 2014; Laureano-Rosario *et al.*, 2021).

While enterococci concentrations were positively correlated with rainfall in the 2018 and 2019 sampling campaigns, this relationship was true for Cryptosporidium only during the first year of sampling (González-Fernández et al., 2021). Cryptosporidium was detected in 78% of rainy season samples and was not detected during the dry season in our 2018 study, while in our current 2019 study it was detected in 8% of the rainy season samples in the Copey and Madrigal rivers and 5% of the dry season samples in Copey River. In other tropical locations, Cryptospor*idium* prevalence in human populations has been positively correlated with wetter months and precipitation (Abeywardena et al., 2015; Jagai et al., 2009). However, Cryptosporidium has many non-human sources that include mammals, birds, reptiles, amphibians and fish (Abeywardena et al., 2015). A strong influence of livestock and agricultural activity with the cultivation of rice, beans and corn has been established upstream of Copey River but is yet to be determined for all other river areas (Mattey Trigueros *et al.*, 2017). However, we consistently observed cattle and horses in the Madrigal River, where land use was dominated by pasture lands. The difference in the frequency of detection of Cryptosporidium in the 2018 vs 2019 study could likely to be related to Hurricane Nate, which occurred a week prior to our earlier rainy season sampling campaign and caused severe flooding in Jacó (Chaves et al., 2017). Hence, flushing of Cryptosporidium into surface waters from animal and human sources could explain the increased frequency of detection noted during the 2018 study.

Pathogen levels measured in Jacó rivers led to a high estimated risk of GI illness to swimmers, particularly when the disaggregate parameter in the NoVGI dose-response model was used. In the absence of one best norovirus dose-response model, calculating risk of illness caused by NoVGI separately using the aggregate and disaggregate values, which represent a broad estimate of NoVGI infectivity, is considered a good practice (Orner et al., 2021; Sunger et al., 2019; Van Abel et al., 2017). The median cumulative risk of illness from all measured pathogens was at least one order of magnitude less when the NoVGI aggregate value was used compared to the disaggregate value. This is due to the dose-response model where the probability of infection is inversely proportional to  $\mu$  (mean aggregate size) and is over a thousand times greater when viral particles are assumed to be aggregated as compared to when they are assumed to be disaggregated (Messner et al., 2014; Teunis et al., 2008). Viral aggregation in the environment is governed by complex processes that are not well understood, but are dependent on the type of virus, concentration and chemistry of salts in solution, and pH (Gerba & Betancourt, 2017). However, it is likely that NoVGI is disaggregated in surface waters due to the relationship between the suspension pH and the viral isoelectric point (Grant, 1994; Hamadieh et al., 2021) and this approach is usually preferred for recreational water quality (Crank et al., 2019; Soller et al., 2016).

QMRA estimated that NoVGI and AdV contributed more than the bacterial and protozoan pathogens to the cumulative risk of GI illness for swimmers in the rivers. The relative contribution of NoVGI to cumulative risk depended on the mean aggregate size parameter, i.e., NoVGI contributes more to cumulative risk than AdV using the disaggregate value. AdV is the greatest contributor to risk when the aggregate value is used. A study conducted in O'ahu, Hawaii (US) found that risk of viral GI illness (enterovirus, AdV, NoVGI, and NoVGII) was significantly greater than from bacterial exposure (*Salmonella* and *Campylobacter*); it assumed a disaggregate NoVGI model and argued that viral aggregation is insignificant in natural waters (Viau *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, other studies have identified viruses, specifically NoVGI, as contributing the most to risk of GI illness to swimmers (Boehm *et al.*, 2018; McBride *et al.*, 2013).

QMRA has been applied in a variety of studies to understand the impact of swimming in contaminated waters and has recently been reviewed by Federigi et al. (2019). However, most research has focused on temperate regions (mainly US and Canada), with fewer studies performed in recreational tropical waters (Federigi et al., 2019). Much higher cumulative risk (up to 0.577) was determined for Jacó rivers in this study compared to other QMRA studies in tropical fresh and marine waters where viral pathogens were measured. For example, Viau et al. (Viau et al., 2011) estimated median cumulative risk of illness from exposure to a stream discharge at a beach in Hawai'i to range from 0 to 0.02 and Soller et al. (Soller et al., 2016) estimated an average of swimming-associated illness of 0.002 in coastal Puerto Rico. The greater risk of GI illness estimated for recreation in Jacó rivers compared to these studies is likely due to Jacó's lack of sanitation infrastructure and the direct proximity of the town and rivers to the beach (González-Fernández et al., 2021; Mora, 2009; Orner et al., 2021). Nevertheless, it is important to mention that when the less conservative approach is adopted using the aggregate value in this study, the median cumulative risks do not exceed the US EPA benchmark in rainy season in Copey and Madrigal River.

Log reduction values for pathogens facilitate translation of QMRA estimates of risk to actionable goals for safe recreation at beaches. The LRV is an expression of the magnitude of viral reduction needed to achieve safe swimming conditions. Because NoVGI is unlikely to be aggregated in natural waters, we focus our discussion on LRVs estimated using the disaggregate model. Microbial concentrations in the rivers needed to be reduced by at least 10,000-fold in the dry season and 1,000-fold in the rainy season. Viral LRVs calculated in all rivers for this study were greater than pathogen LRVs published from the 2018 sampling campaign, except for Copey River during dry season (Orner *et al.*, 2021). Differences in LRVs calculated between years are most certainly dependent upon how many, and which specific pathogens, are included in risk assessment. Orner *et al.* (Orner *et al.*, 2021) used cumulative risk of illness due to NoVGI, *Cryptosporidium, Giardia* and *Salmonella* for LRV calculations, while we calculated viral LRVs that considered cumulative risk due to NoVGI and AdV in this study. However, because both studies determined that *Cryptosporidium, Giardia* and *Salmonella* contributed very little to cumulative risk of illness it is likely that higher LRVs in the 2019 study (this paper) are related not only to increased detection of NoVGI, but the addition of AdV measurements.

Context-appropriate scenarios to achieve safe swimming conditions according to EPA recommendation 1 (36 illness per 1000 recreators) for Jacó have been previously identified by Orner *et al.* (Orner *et al.*, 2021). Two sanitation options were recommended for Jacó which remove nutrients and pathogens, and would therefore contribute to conditions suitable for recreation: (1) A wastewater treatment plant, which has a sanitary sewer, and primary, secondary, tertiary treatment and disinfection prior to the effluent being discharged to surface water or (2) a combination of centralized and decentralized treatment, where part of the population uses a septic tank with infiltration of the effluent into the ground, and another part is served by a wastewater treatment plant. Costa Rica is also taking important steps toward improved sanitation practices and has approved international financing for a wastewater sanitation project in Jacó (Diario oficial La Gaceta, 2018).

It is possible that the risk of GI illness is actually greater than that modeled in this paper because the QMRA model is most sensitive to pathogen concentration (Figure S5) and losses inevitably occurred during each step of the methods for each pathogen, from concentration to measurement (Mull & Hill, 2012). This caveat is applicable to all QMRA studies. Previous studies using similar methods have reported process recovery efficiencies as follows: MS2 (66 and 73%), *C. parvum* (49 and 83%), enterococci (85%), *E. coli* (81%), for *E. faecalis*, 78%; and *C. perfringens* (63 and 57%) (Mull and Hill, 2012; Smith & Hill, 2009). The average D/RNA extraction (-reverse transcription) efficiency observed in this study was 82% for Sketa (DNA) and 81% for FCV (RNA). Many other factors can also contribute to under- or over-estimation of the risk of infectious disease given that the QMRA is also sensitive to volume ingested, as well as the dose-response model parameters (Figure S5). Finally, it is likely that the risk of GI illness caused by NoV was underestimated in this study since only NoVGI was measured, and NoVGII was likely also prevalent (Eftim *et al.*, 2017).

The 2018 and 2019 studies support the transdisciplinary collaboration between microbiologists and anthropologists that will link human behavior at beaches with health outcomes (Workman *et al.*, 2021). It is an integral component of the development of a holistic water management approach in collaboration with the Costa Rican Institute of Aqueducts and Sewers that also relied on field work of students from the University of Costa Rica. Ethnographic analyses will improve our understanding of beachgoer behavior, which will allow us to develop better estimates of ingestion volumes, routes of exposure to pathogens, and pathogen influence on human health risk. This collaboration emphasizes using local knowledge to inform experimental design and interpretation of data. Rapid feedback of our findings to Costa Rican agencies, which are integral partners in this project, improve local efforts to protect beachgoer health, and support current plans of the Costa Rican government to improve wastewater treatment in cities like Jacó (PGR, 2022). This study provides a baseline for microbial water quality and health risk for beachgoers against which the cost of improvements in water quality can be weighed. This collaboration provides a template to government agencies in other countries, which may choose to follow Costa Rica's leadership by exploring the extent of wastewater impacts on beaches so that they can allocate resources to improve water quality and protect public health.

# Conclusions

- This study found differences in the magnitude of fecal microorganisms, pathogens, and human health risk by season, and at a local scale (<2.5 km), highlighting the value of detailed knowledge of the sources and seasonality of pollution at a given beach.
- The median risk of gastroenteritis for swimmers in the rivers estimated by QMRA was at least 0.317 (317 illnesses/1,000 swimmers).
- NoVGI and AdV contributed much more to risk of gastroenteritis from swimming in Jacó rivers than *Cryptosporidium*, *Giardia* and *Salmonella*.
- The NoV mean aggregate size parameter (µ) in the dose–response model greatly impacts QMRA risk predictions and LRVs needed for safe swimming conditions.
- Overall, microbial concentrations were greatest in the dry season; nevertheless, microbial concentrations were great enough in the rainy season such that excess risk to swimmers was present year-round.

## Acknowledgments

This work was supported by US NSF grants OCE-1566562 (USF) and OCE-1745934 (SMU). We would like to extended our sincere thanks to the following employees at the Costa Rican Aqueduct and Sewer Institute (Instituto Costarricense de Acueductos y Alcantarillados): Yamileth Astorga Espeleta, Rodolfo Lizano Rojas, Johanna Méndez Araya, Xinia Mesén Arroyo, Noilyn Castillo Ríos, Marlen Víquez Guerrero, Juan Carlos Calvo, Luis Vega Molina, Alejandra Gómez Mora, Melisa Chaves Mora, Diana Peña Flores and Adrián Rojas Barrantes. The authors would like to thank Dr. Mark E. Luther for advising the team about coastal physical oceanography, as well as Mark Wills and Surfline for providing discounted access to Surfline during the study. We would also like to thank Dr. Joshua Kilborn and teaching assistant Jonathan Peake for providing statistical guidance. We would like to thank Carlos Fernández Arce for his assistance, as well as providing photography and videography, during fieldwork.

# References

- Abeywardena, H., Jex, A.R., Gasser, R.B., 2015. A perspective on *Cryptosporidium* and *Giardia*, with an emphasis on bovines and recent epidemiological findings. Adv. Parasitol. 88, 243. https://doi.org/10.1016/BS.APAR.2015.02.001
- Ahmed, W., Hughes, B., Harwood, V.J., 2016. Current status of marker genes of bacteroides and related taxa for identifying sewage pollution in environmental waters. Water 8, 231. https://doi.org/10.3390/w8060231
- Ahmed, W., Stewart, J., Powell, D., Gardner, T., 2008. Evaluation of Bacteroides markers for the detection of human faecal pollution. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 46, 237–242. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2007.02287.x
- American Public Health Association, 2017. Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater., 23rd ed. ed. American Public Health Association Inc., Washigton, DC.
- American Society for Testing and Materials, 1996. Standard test method for detection and enumeration of *Clostridium perfringens* from water and extracted sediments by membrane filtration., American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) publication no. D5916-96(2002). West Conshohocken, PA. https://doi.org/10.1520/D5916-96R02
- Anderson, K.L., Whitlock, J.E., Harwood, V.J., 2005. Persistence and differential survival of fecal indicator bacteria in subtropical waters and sediments. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 3041–3048. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.6.3041-3048.2005

- Ashbolt, N.J., Schoen, M.E., Soller, J.A., Roser, D.J., 2010. Predicting pathogen risks to aid beach management: The real value of quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA). Water Res. 44, 4692–4703. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.06.048
- Bernhard, A.E., Field, K.G., 2000. A PCR assay to discriminate human and ruminant feces on the basis of host differences in Bacteroides-Prevotella genes encoding 16S rRNA. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66, 4571–4574. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.66.10.4571-4574.2000
- Boehm, A.B., Ashbolt, N.J., Colford, J.M., Dunbar, L.E., Fleming, L.E., Gold, M.A., Hansel, J.A., Hunter, P.R., Ichida, A.M., McGee, C.D., Soller, J.A., Weisberg, S.B., 2009. A sea change ahead for recreational water quality criteria. J. Water Health 7, 9–20. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2009.122
- Boehm, A.B., Graham, K.E., Jennings, W.C., 2018. Can we swim yet? Systematic review, metaanalysis, and risk assessment of aging sewage in surface waters. Environ. Sci. Technol. 52: 9634–9. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b01948
- Boehm, A.B., Soller, J.A., 2020. Refined ambient water quality thresholds for human-associated fecal indicator HF183 for recreational waters with and without co-occurring gull fecal contamination. Microb. Risk Anal. 16:100139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mran.° 2020.100139
- Boehm, A.B., Soller, J.A., Shanks, O.C., 2015. Human-associated fecal quantitative polymerase chain reaction measurements and simulated risk of gastrointestinal illness in recreational waters contaminated with raw sewage. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2, 270–275. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.5b00219
- Boehm, A.B., Van De Werfhorst, L.C., Griffith, J.F., Holden, P.A., Jay, J.A., Shanks, O.C., Wang, D., Weisberg, S., 2013. Performance of forty-one microbial source tracking methods: A twenty-seven lab evaluation study. Water Res. 47, 6812–6828. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012.12.046
- Borowy, F., 2004. Informe final investigación sobre el impacto socioeconómico de las instalaciones conocidas como Marina Los Sueños, localizadas en Playa Herradura, distrito de Jacó, cantón de Garabito, Puntarenas.
- Bustin, S.A., Benes, V., Garson, J.A., Hellemans, J., Huggett, J., Kubista, M., Mueller, R., Nolan, T., Pfaffl, M.W., Shipley, G.L., Vandesompele, J., Wittwer, C.T., 2009. The MIQE guidelines: Minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments. Clin. Chem. 55, 611–622. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2008.112797
- Byappanahalli, M.N., Nevers, M.B., Korajkic, A., Staley, Z.R., Harwood, V.J., 2012. Enterococci in the environment. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 76, 685–706. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00023-12
- Cabelli, V.J., 1978. Obligate anaerobic bacterial indicators., in: Berg, G. (Ed.), Indicators of Viruses in Water and Food. Ann Arbor Science Publishers, Inc., Ann Arbor MI, pp. 171–200.
- Cao, Y., Griffith, J.F., Dorevitch, S., Weisberg, S.B., 2012. Effectiveness of qPCR permutations, internal controls and dilution as means for minimizing the impact of inhibition while measuring Enterococcus in environmental waters. J. Appl. Microbiol. 113, 66–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2012.05305.x
- Chase, E., Hunting, J., Staley, C., Harwood, V.J., 2012. Microbial source tracking to identify human and ruminant sources of faecal pollution in an ephemeral Florida river. J. Appl. Microbiol. 113, 1396–1406. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12007
- Chaves, K., Bosque, D., Lara, J.F., 2017. ¡Nada se le escapó a la tormenta Nate! [WWW Document]. La Nación. URL https://www.nacion.com/sucesos/desastres/nada-se-le-escapo-a-latormenta-nate/NVIOIZVLNJHJ7DD2ZS3ANORPWE/story/ (accessed 11.23.21).

- Crank, K., Petersen, S., Bibby, K., 2019. Quantitative microbial risk assessment of swimming in sewage impacted waters using crAssphage and pepper mild mottle virus in a customizable model. Environ. Sci. Technol. 6, 571–577. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.9b00468
- DeFlorio-Barker, S., Wing, C., Jones, R.M., Dorevitch, S., 2018. Estimate of incidence and cost of recreational waterborne illness on United States surface waters. Environ Health 17:3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-017-0347-9
- Desmarais, T.R., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Palmer, C.J., 2002. Influence of soil on fecal indicator organisms in a tidally influenced subtropical environment. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 1165–1172. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.68.3.1165-1172.2002
- Diario oficial La Gaceta, 2018. Ley n.º 9723. Sistema Costarricense de Información Jurídica. Costa Rica.
- Dufour, A.P., Evans, O., Behymer, T.D., Cantú, R., 2006. Water ingestion during swimming activities in a pool: A pilot study. J. Water Health 4, 425–430. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2006.0026
- DuPont, H., Chappell, C., Sterling, C., Okhuysen, P., Rose, J., Jakubowski, W., 1995. The infectivity of Cryptosporidium parvum in healthy volunteers. N. Engl. J. Med. 332, 855–859. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199503303321304
- Eftim, S.E., Hong, T., Soller, J., Boehm, A., Warren, I., Ichida, A., Nappier, S.P., 2017. Occurrence of norovirus in raw sewage – A systematic literature review and meta-analysis. Water Res. 111, 366–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2017.01.017
- Federigi, I., Verani, M., Donzelli, G., Cioni, L., Carducci, A., 2019. The application of quantitative microbial risk assessment to natural recreational waters: A review. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 144, 334–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2019.04.073
- Fleming, L.E., Broad, K., Clement, A., Dewailly, E., Elmir, S., Knap, A., Pomponi, S.A., Smith, S., Solo Gabriele, H., Walsh, P., 2006. Oceans and human health: Emerging public health risks in the marine environment. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 53, 545–560. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2006.08.012
- Flint, S.J., Enquist, L.M., Racaniello, V., Skalka, A.M., 2009. Principles of virology. Vol. I: Molecular, 3rd ed. ed. ASM Press, Washington, D.C., 2009.
- Fujioka, R.S., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Byappanahalli, N.M., Kirs, M., 2015. U.S. recreational water quality criteria: A vision for the future. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 12, 7752–7776. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120707752
- Gawler, A.H., Beecher, J.E., Brandão, J., Carroll, N.M., Falcão, L., Gourmelon, M., Masterson, B., Nunes, B., Porter, J., Rincé, A., Rodrigues, R., Thorp, M., Martin Walters, J., Meijer, W.G., 2007. Validation of host-specific *Bacteriodales* 16S rRNA genes as markers to determine the origin of faecal pollution in Atlantic Rim countries of the European Union. Water Res. 41, 3780–3784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2007.01.028
- Gerba, C.P., Betancourt, W.Q., 2017. Viral aggregation: Impact on virus behavior in the environment. Environ. Sci. Technol. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b05835
- González-Fernández, A., Symonds, E.M., Gallard-Gongora, J.F., Mull, B., Lukasik, J.O., Rivera Navarro, P., Badilla Aguilar, A., Peraud, J., Brown, M.L., Mora Alvarado, D., Breitbart, M., Cairns, M.R., Harwood, V.J., 2021. Relationships among microbial indicators of fecal pollution, microbial source tracking markers, and pathogens in Costa Rican coastal waters. Water Res. 188, 116507. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116507

- Grant, S.B., 1994. Virus coagulation in aqueous environments. Environ. Sci. Technol. 28, 928–933. https://doi.org/10.1021/ES00054A026/SUPPL\_FILE/ES00054A026\_SI\_001.PDF
- Green, H.C., Haugland, R.A., Varma, M., Millen, H.T., Borchardt, M.A., Field, K.G., Walters, W.A., Knight, R., Sivaganesan, M., Kelty, C.A., Shanks, O.C., 2014. Improved HF183 quantitative real-time PCR assay for characterization of human fecal pollution in ambient surface water samples. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 80, 3086–3094. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.04137-13
- Haas, C., Rose, J., Gerba, C., 2014. Quantitative Microbial Risk Assessment: Second Edition. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Hamadieh, Z., Hamilton, K.A., Silverman, A.I., 2021. Systematic review of the relative concentrations of noroviruses and fecal indicator bacteria in wastewater: considerations for use in quantitative microbial risk assessment. J. Water Health 19, 918–932. https://doi.org/10.2166/WH.2021.068
- Haramoto, E., Kitajima, M., Kishida, N., Konno, Y., Katayama, H., Asami, M., Akiba, M., 2013. Occurrence of pepper mild mottle virus in drinking water sources in Japan. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79, 7413–8. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02354-13
- Harwood, V.J., Staley, C., Badgley, B.D., Borges, K., Korajkic, A., 2014. Microbial source tracking markers for detection of fecal contamination in environmental waters: Relationships between pathogens and human health outcomes. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 38, 1–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6976.12031
- Hedberg, K., Maher, J., 2019. Collecting data. CDC F. Epidemiol. Man.
- Heider, S., Metzner, C., 2014. Quantitative real-time single particle analysis of virions. Virology 462–463, 199–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VIROL.2014.06.005
- Heim, A., Ebnet, C., Harste, G., Pring-Åkerblom, P., 2003. Rapid and quantitative detection of human adenovirus DNA by real-time PCR. J. Med. Virol. 70, 228–239. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.10382
- Helsel, D.R., 2011. Statistics for censored environmental data using Minitab. John Wiley and Sons, NJ. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118162729
- Horner-Devine, A.R., Hetland, R.D., MacDonald, D.G., 2015. Mixing and transport in coastal river plumes. Annu. Rev. Fluid Mech. 47, 569–594. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-fluid-010313-141408
- Jagai, J.S., Castronovo, D.A., Monchak, J., Naumova, E.N., 2009. Seasonality of cryptosporidiosis: A meta-analysis approach. Environ. Res. 109, 465–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2009.02.008
- Kindt, R., 2019. Package for community ecology and suitability Analysis. Tree diversity analysis. Version 2.11.1.
- Kongprajug, A., Chyerochana, N., Rattanakul, S., Denpetkul, T., Sangkaew, W., Somnark, P., Patarapongsant, Y., Tomyim, K., Sresung, M., Mongkolsuk, S., Sirikanchana, K., 2021. Integrated analyses of fecal indicator bacteria, microbial source tracking markers, and pathogens for Southeast Asian beach water quality assessment. Water Res. 203, 117479. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2021.117479
- Kundu, A., McBride, G., Wuertz, S., 2013. Adenovirus-associated health risks for recreational activities in a multi-use coastal watershed based on site-specific quantitative microbial risk assessment. Water Res. 47, 6309–6325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.08.002

- Laureano-Rosario, A.E., Symonds, E.M., González-Fernández, A., Lizano R., O.G., Mora Alvarado, D., Rivera Navarro, P., Badilla-Aguilar, A., Rueda-Roa, D., Otis, D.B., Harwood, V.J., Cairns, M.R., Muller-Karger, F.E., 2021. The relationship between environmental parameters and microbial water quality at two Costa Rican beaches from 2002 to 2017. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 163, 111957. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111957
- Lee, L., 2017. CRAN Package NADA [WWW Document]. URL https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/NADA/index.html (accessed 10.13.19).
- Maier, R.M., Pepper, I.L., Gerba, C.P., 2009. Environmental microbiology. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Mattey Trigueros, D., Navarro Picado, J., Obando Rodríguez, P., Fonseca Sánchez, A., Núñez Solís, C., 2017. Caracterización de la cobertura vegetal dentro de la franja de protección del río Copey, Jacó, puntarenas, costa rica. Rev. Geográfica América Cent. 1, 275. https://doi.org/10.15359/rgac.58-1.11
- Mattison, K., Brassard, J., Gagné, M.J., Ward, P., Houde, A., Lessard, L., Simard, C., Shukla, A., Pagotto, F., Jones, T.H., Trottier, Y.L., 2009. The feline calicivirus as a sample process control for the detection of food and waterborne RNA viruses. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 132, 73– 77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2009.04.002
- McBride, G.B., Stott, R., Miller, W., Bambic, D., Wuertz, S., 2013. Discharge-based QMRA for estimation of public health risks from exposure to stormwater-borne pathogens in recreational waters in the United States. Water Res. 47, 5282–5297. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2013.06.001
- Messner, M.J., Berger, P., 2016. *Cryptosporidium* infection risk: results of new dose-response modeling. Risk Anal. 36, 1969–1982. https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12541
- Messner, M.J., Berger, P., Nappier, S.P., 2014. Fractional poisson A simple dose-response model for human norovirus. Risk Anal. 34, 1820–1829. https://doi.org/10.1111/RISA.12207
- Mora, D., 2009. Calidad sanitaria de las aguas de playa Jacó: Costa Rica 1986-2008. Rev. Costarric. Salud Pública 18, 5–9.
- Mora, D., 2007. Calidad sanitaria de las aguas de playa en Costa Rica. San José, Costa Rica.
- Morera, B., Barrantes, R., Marin-Rojas, R., 2003. Gene admixture in the Costa Rican Population. Ann. Hum. Genet. 67, 71–80. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1469-1809.2003.00010.X
- Mull, B., Hill, V.R., 2012. Recovery of diverse microbes in high turbidity surface water samples using dead-end ultrafiltration. J. Microbiol. Methods 91, 429–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2012.10.001
- Nguyen, K.H., Senay, C., Young, S., Nayak, B., Lobos, A., Conrad, J., Harwood, V.J., 2018. Determination of wild animal sources of fecal indicator bacteria by microbial source tracking (MST) influences regulatory decisions. Water Res. 144, 424–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.07.034
- Nordgren, J., Sharma, S., Kambhampati, A., Lopman, B., Svensson, L., 2016. Innate resistance and susceptibility to norovirus infection. PLoS Pathog. 12:1005385. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1005385
- Odagiri, M., Schriewer, A., Hanley, K., Wuertz, S., Misra, P.R., Panigrahi, P., Jenkins, M.W., 2015. Validation of Bacteroidales quantitative PCR assays targeting human and animal fecal contamination in the public and domestic domains in India. Sci. Total Environ. 502, 462–470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.09.040

- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G., Solymos, P., Henry, M., Stevens, H., Szoecs, E., H, W., 2016. Vegan: Community ecology package. R package version 2.3-5.
- Orner, K.D., Symonds, E.M., Madrigal-Solís, H., Orozco-Montoya, R.A., Fonseca-Sánchez, A., Verbyla, M.E., Cairns, M.R., 2021. Holistically managing pathogens and nutrients in urbanizing tropical towns: Can sanitation technologies create safer conditions for beach recreation? ACS ES&T Water 1, 1184–1197. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsestwater.0c00264
- Orozco Montoya, R., 2015. Propuesta de manejo de uso y cobertura de la tierra para la reducción del riesgo de contaminación del acuífero costero Jacó, Pacífico Central, Costa Rica. Tesis de Graduacion.
- Petterson, S.R., Ashbolt, N.J., 2016. QMRA and water safety management: review of application in drinking water systems. J. Water Health 14, 571–589. https://doi.org/10.2166/WH.2016.262
- PGR, 2022. Convenio cooperación técnica con Alemania federal n.º 3654 [WWW Document]. URL http://www.pgrweb.go.cr/SCIJ/Busqueda/Normativa/Normas/nrm\_texto\_completo.aspx?param1=NRTC&nValor1=1&nValor2=4605&nValor3=83453&strTipM=TC
- Prüss-Ustün, A., Bartram, J., Clasen, T., Colford, J.M., Cumming, O., Curtis, V., Bonjour, S., Dangour, A.D., De France, J., Fewtrell, L., Freeman, M.C., Gordon, B., Hunter, P.R., Johnston, R.B., Mathers, C., Mäusezahl, D., Medlicott, K., Neira, M., Stocks, M., Wolf, J., Cairncross, S., 2014. Burden of disease from inadequate water, sanitation and hygiene in low- and middle-income settings: A retrospective analysis of data from 145 countries. Trop. Med. Int. Health. 19, 894–905. https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.12329
- R Core Team, 2013. R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- Ramírez-Sánchez, I.M., Doll, S., Bandala, E.R., 2015. Drinking water and sanitation in central America: Challenges, perspectives, and alternative water treatment, in: ACS Symposium Series. American Chemical Society, pp. 53–70. https://doi.org/10.1021/bk-2015-1206.ch004
- Rosario, K., Symonds, E.M., Sinigalliano, C., Stewart, J., Breitbart, M., 2009. Pepper mild mottle virus as an indicator of fecal pollution. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75, 7261–7267. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00410-09
- Rose, J.B., Haas, C.N., Regli, S., 1991. Risk assessment and control of waterborne giardiasis. Am. J. Public Health 81, 709–713. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.81.6.709
- Sánchez-Gutiérrez, R., Mena-Rivera, L., Sánchez-Murillo, R., Fonseca-Sánchez, A., Madrigal-Solís, H., 2020. Hydrogeochemical baseline in a human-altered landscape of the central Pacific coast of Costa Rica. Environ. Geochem. Health 42, 2685–2701. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10653-019-00501-5
- Schmidt, P.J., 2015. Norovirus dose-response: Are currently available data informative Eenough to fetermine how susceptible humans are to infection from a single virus? Risk Anal. 35, 1364–1383. https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12323
- Schoen, M.E., Boehm, A.B., Soller, J., Shanks, O.C., 2020. Contamination scenario matters when using viral and bacterial human-associated genetic markers as indicators of a health risk in untreated sewage-impacted recreational waters. Environ. Sci. Technol. 54, 13101– 13109. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c02189

- Seurinck, S., Defoirdt, T., Verstraete, W., Siciliano, S.D., 2005. Detection and quantification of the human-specific HF183 Bacteroides 16S rRNA genetic marker with real-time PCR for assessment of human faecal pollution in freshwater. Environ. Microbiol. 7, 249–259. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2004.00702.x
- Sivaganesan, M., Haugland, R.A., Chern, E.C., Shanks, O.C., 2010. Improved strategies and optimization of calibration models for real-time PCR absolute quantification. Water Res. 44, 4726–4735. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.07.066
- Smith, C.M., Hill, V.R., 2009. Dead-end hollow-fiber ultrafiltration for recovery of diverse microbes from water. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75, 5284–5289. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00456-09
- Soller, J.A., Eftim, S., Wade, T.J., Ichida, A.M., Clancy, J.L., Johnson, T.B., Schwab, K., Ramirez-Toro, G., Nappier, S., Ravenscroft, J.E., 2016. Use of quantitative microbial risk assessment to improve interpretation of a recreational water epidemiological study. Microb. Risk Anal. 1, 2–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mran.2015.04.001
- Soller, J.A., Schoen, M., Steele, J.A., Griffith, J.F., Schiff, K.C., 2017. Incidence of gastrointestinal illness following wet weather recreational exposures: Harmonization of quantitative microbial risk assessment with an epidemiologic investigation of surfers. Water Res. 121, 280–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.05.017
- Stone, D.L., Harding, A.K., Hope, B.K., Slaughter-Mason, S., 2008. Exposure assessment and risk of gastrointestinal illness among surfers. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health. A 71, 1603–1615. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287390802414406
- Sunger, N., Hamilton, K.A., Morgan, P.M., Haas, C.N., 2019. Comparison of pathogen-derived 'total risk' with indicator-based correlations for recreational (swimming) exposure. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 26, 30614–30624. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-1881-x
- Svraka, S., van der Veer, B., Duizer, E., Dekkers, J., Koopmans, M., Vennema, H., 2009. Novel approach for detection of enteric viruses to enable syndrome surveillance of acute viral gastroenteritis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 47, 1674–9. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00307-09
- Symonds, E.M., Nguyen, K.H., Harwood, V.J., Breitbart, M., 2018. Pepper mild mottle virus: A plant pathogen with a greater purpose in (waste)water treatment development and public health management. Water Res. 144, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.06.066
- Symonds, E.M., Rosario, K., Breitbart, M., 2019. Pepper mild mottle virus: Agricultural menace turned effective tool for microbial water quality monitoring and assessing (waste) water treatment technologies. PLoS Pathog. 15, e1007639. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1007639
- Symonds, E.M., Sinigalliano, C., Gidley, M., Ahmed, W., McQuaig-Ulrich, S.M., Breitbart, M., 2016. Faecal pollution along the southeastern coast of Florida and insight into the use of pepper mild mottle virus as an indicator. J. Appl. Microbiol. 121, 1469–1481. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.13252
- Symonds, E.M., Verbyla, M.E., Lukasik, J.O., Kafle, R.C., Breitbart, M., Mihelcic, J.R., 2014. A case study of enteric virus removal and insights into the associated risk of water reuse for two wastewater treatment pond systems in Bolivia. Water Res. 65, 257–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.07.032
- Symonds, E.M., Young, S., Verbyla, M.E., McQuaig-Ulrich, S.M., Ross, E., Jiménez, J.A., Harwood, V.J., Breitbart, M., 2017. Microbial source tracking in shellfish harvesting waters in the Gulf of Nicoya, Costa Rica. Water Res. 111, 177–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.01.004

- Teunis, P., Schijven, J., Rutjes, S., 2016. A generalized dose-response relationship for adenovirus infection and illness by exposure pathway. Epidemiol. Infect. 144, 3461–3473. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268816001862
- Teunis, P.F.M., Kasuga, F., Fazil, A., Ogden, I.D., Rotariu, O., Strachan, N.J.C., 2010. Dose– response modeling of *Salmonella* using outbreak data. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 144, 243–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJFOODMICRO.2010.09.026
- Teunis, P.F.M., Moe, C.L., Liu, P., Miller, S.E., Lindesmith, L., Baric, R.S., Le Pendu, J., Calderon, R.L., 2008. Norwalk virus: how infectious is it? J. Med. Virol. 80, 1468–1476. https://doi.org/10.1002/JMV.21237
- Teunis, P.F.M., Reese, H.E., Null, C., Yakubu, H., Moe, C.L., 2016. Quantifying contact with the environment: Behaviors of young children in Accra, Ghana. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 94, 920–931. https://doi.org/10.4269/AJTMH.15-0417/-/DC12/SD12.PDF
- UN Habitat, WHO, 2021. Progress on wastewater treatment Global status and acceleration needs for SDG indicator 6.3.1., United Nations human settlements programme (UN-Habitat) and World Health Organization (WHO). Geneva.
- US EPA, 2015. Review of coliphages as possible indicators of fecal contamination for ambient water quality., U. S. Environmental Protection Agency. Washigton, DC, USA.
- US EPA, 2012a. Recreational water quality Criteria., U. S. Environmental Protection Agency. Washington, DC, USA.
- US EPA, 2012b. Method 1611: Enterococci in water by TaqMan® quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) assay, U. S. Environmental Protection Agency. Washigton, DC, USA.
- US EPA, 2010. "Quantitative microbial risk assessment to estimate illness in freshwater impacted by agricultural animal sources of fecal contamination." (EPA publication; n.º 822-R-10-005).
- US EPA, 2006. Method 1682: *Salmonella* in sewage sludge (biosolids) by modified semisolid rappaport-vassiliadis (MSRV) medium. Environ. Prot. 42.
- US EPA, 2005a. Method 1623: *Cryptosporidium* and *Giardia* in water by filtration/IMS/FA. US Environmental Protection Agency. 68.
- US EPA, 2005b. Method 1600: Enterococci in water by membrane filtration using membrane-*Enterococcus* indoxyl-B-D-glucoside agar (mEI).
- US EPA, 2001. Method 1601: Male-specific (F+) and somatic coliphage in water by two-step enrichment procedure. EPA Document 821-R-01-030, U. S. Environmental Protection Agency. Washigton, DC, USA.
- Vadde, K.K., McCarthy, A.J., Rong, R., Sekar, R., 2019. Quantification of microbial source tracking and pathogenic bacterial markers in water and sediments of Tiaoxi River (Taihu watershed). Front. Microbiol. 10, 699. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2019.00699
- Van Abel, N., Schoen, M.E., Kissel, J.C., Meschke, J.S., 2017. Comparison of risk predicted by multiple norovirus dose–response models and implications for quantitative microbial risk assessment. Risk Anal. 37, 245–264. https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12616
- Verbyla, M.E., Symonds, E.M., Kafle, R.C., Cairns, M.R., Iriarte, M., Mercado Guzmán, A., Coronado, O., Breitbart, M., Ledo, C., Mihelcic, J.R., 2016. Managing microbial risks from indirect wastewater reuse for irrigation in urbanizing watersheds. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 6803–6813. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.EST.5B05398
- Viau, E.J., Lee, D., Boehm, A.B., 2011. Swimmer risk of gastrointestinal illness from exposure to tropical coastal waters impacted by terrestrial dry-weather runoff. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 7158–7165. https://doi.org/10.1021/es200984b

- WHO and UNICEF, 2014. Progress on sanitation and drinking water: 2014. Joint monitoring programme for water supply and sanitation. World Health Organization.
- Workman, C.L., Cairns, M.R., De Los Reyes, F.L., Verbyla, M.E., 2021. Global water, sanitation, and hygiene approaches: Anthropological contributions and future directions for engineering. Environ. Eng. Sci. 38, 402–417. https://doi.org/10.1089/ees.2020.0321

# Tables

**Table 1:** Sampling design, concentration and analytical methods and their process limit of detection (pLOD) and quantification

 (pLOQ) in the rivers and ocean. See methods for citations for specific assays

Water Type (n)	Season (n)	Area (n)	Concentra- tion Method	Microbe	pLOD	pLOQ	Units	Analytical Method	
River (78)	Rainy (39) Dry (39)	ny Dry )) Copey (13) Na- ranjal (13) Madri- gal (13)	Ultrafiltration	C. perfringens	4.5	NA	CFU/L	Standard Method ASTM D5916-96(2002) <sup>a</sup>	
				somatic coliphage	4.2	NA	PFU/L	US EPA Method 1601 <sup>a</sup>	
				F+ coliphage	4.2	NA	PFU/L	US EPA Method 1602 <sup>a</sup>	
				Ultrafiltration	HF183	168.22	1210.21	GC/L	HF183 Bacteroides 16S rRNA qPCR <sup>b</sup>
				PMMoV	128.2	1155.2	GC/L	pepper mild mottle virus RT- qPCR assay <sup>b</sup>	
					Giardia	0.04	NA	Cysts/L	IMS <sup>c</sup> / microscopy US EPA Method 1623.1 <sup>c</sup>
				Cryptosporid- ium	0.04	NA	Oocysts/L	IMS/ microscopy by US EPA Method 1623.14 °	

				Salmonella	1.7 CFU/L	NA	CFU/L	US EPA Method 1682 <sup>a</sup>
				NoVGI	128.23	1210.21	GC/L	human norovirus genogroup I RT-qPCR <sup>b</sup>
				AdV	394.53	1155.2	GC/L	adenovirus qPCR assay <sup>b</sup>
			Membrane fil- tration	enterococci	1	NA	CFU/100 mL	US EPA Method 1600 <sup>a</sup>
			Most probable number (MPN)	fecal coliforms	1.8	NA	MPN/100 mL	APHA Standard Methods, Section 9221 <sup>a</sup>
Ocean (78)	Rainy (39) dry (39)	Rainy (9) dry (20) Rainy (13) Na- ranjal (13)	Membrane fil- tration	HF183	695	5000	GC/L	HF183 Bacteroides 16S rRNA qPCR <sup>b</sup>
			Membrane fil- tration	enterococci	1	NA	CFU/100 mL	US EPA Method 1600 <sup>a</sup>
		Madri- gal (13)	Most probable number (MPN)	fecal coliforms	1.8	NA	MPN/100 mL	APHA Standard Methods, Section 9221 E <sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Culture. <sup>b</sup>QPCR <sup>c</sup>IMS – immunomagnetic separation.

Assay	Primers and Probes (5' – 3')	Reaction	Reference
Human adeno- virus	F: GCCCCAGTGGTCTTACATGCACATC	Primers: 250 nM each	
(AdV),	R: GCCACGGTGGGGGTTTCTAAACTT	Probe: 250 nM	(Ahmed <i>et al.</i> , 2016; Heim <i>et al.</i> , 2003)
all 51 types	[6-FAM]TGCAC- CAGACCCGGGCTCAGGTACTCCGA[TAMRA]	Conditions: 95 °C for10 min then, 40 X	
		*(95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C for 1 min)	
	F: CARGCCATGTTYCGYTGGATG	Primers: 500 nM each	
Human no- rovirus GI	R: CCTTAGACGCCATCATCATTTAC	Probe: 250 nM	(Svraka <i>et al</i> ., 2009)
(NoVGI)	[6-FAM]TGGACAGGA- GAYCGCRATCT[BHQ1a~Q]	Conditions: 95 °C for10 min then, 40 X	
		*(95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C for 1 min)	
HF183	F: ATCATGAGTTCACATGTCCG	Primers: 1000 nM each	
Bacteroides	R: CTTCCTCTCAGAACCCCTATCC	Probe: 80 nM	

**Table 2:** (RT-)qPCR assay primers probes and reaction conditions. Modified from Gonzalez-Fernandez *et al.* (2021)

16S rRNA	FAM-CTAATGGAACGCATCCC-MGB	Conditions: 2 min at 50°C, 10 min at 95°C, then 40 X	(Green <i>et al.</i> , 2014)
		15 s at 95°C for 15 s and, 60 s at 60 °C for 1 min)	
Pepper mild mottle	F: GAGTGGTTTGACCTTAACGTTTGA	Primers: 400 nM each	
virus	R: TTGTCGGTTGCAATGCAAGT	Probe: 200 nM	
(PMMoV)	[6-FAM]CCTACCGAAGCAAATG[MGBNFQ]	Conditions: 95 °C for10 min then, 40 X	(Haramoto <i>et al.</i> , 2013)
		(95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C for 1 min)	
	F: CCGGGTGGGACTGAGTGG	Primers: 300 nM each	
Feline calicivi- rus (FCV)	R: GCATAACTCGTCGGAGGTGTC	Probe: 200 nM	
	[6-FAM]CGCCTTACGGATATGAG- CAGCCACATTAAC[IBRQ]	Conditions: 95 °C for10 min then, 40 X	(Mattison <i>et al.</i> , 2009)
		(95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C for 1 min)	
	F: GGTTTCCGCAGCTGGG	Primers: 1000 nM each	
Salmon testes DNA	R: CCGAGCCGTCCTGGTC	Probe: 80 nM	

(SKeta22)	[6~FAM]AGTCGCAGGCGGCCACCGT[TAMRA]	Conditions: 95 °C for10 min then, 40 X	(US EPA, 2012b)
		(95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C for 1 min)	

**Table 3:** Frequency of exceedance of recreational water quality criteria (RWQC) according to Costa Rican (CR) and US Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) recommendations in the rivers and the ocean (Mora, 2007; US EPA, 2012a) in the rainy and dry seasons. STV = statistical threshold value and GM= geometric mean. CR = Costa Rica

	Rive	r (n=78)	Ocean (n=78)		
Regulatory Standard	Dry (n=39) Rainy (n=39)		Dry (n=39)	Rainy (n=39)	
Enterococci US EPA STV <sup>a</sup>	90 % (35)	97 % (38)	0 %	26 % (10)	
Enterococci CR-GM <sup>b</sup>	NA <sup>e</sup>	NA	21 % (8)	46 % (18)	
Fecal coliform CR-GM <sup>c</sup>	95 % (37)	97 % (38)	38 % (15)	54 % (21)	

<sup>a</sup>>130 CFU/100 mL criterion for river and ocean samples.

<sup>b</sup>>35 MPN/100 mL criterion for river samples.

<sup>c</sup>>1000 MPN/100 mL criterion for river samples.

<sup>d</sup>>240 MPN/100 mL criterion for ocean samples.

NA<sup>e</sup>> CR Does not apply, Costa Rican enterococci GM criterion is only used in marine waters.

**Table 4:** Frequency of pathogen detection (percentage of positive observations) in rivers (n = 78) in the rainy (n=39) and dry seasons (n=39) per river sampled (n=13)

Dethogon	Rainy Season				
ramogen	Copey % (n)	Naranjal % (n)	Madrigal % (n)		
Giardia (cysts/L)	77% (10)	85% (11)	85% (11)		
Cryptosporidium (Oocysts/L)	15% (2)	15% (2) 0			
Salmonella (CFU/L)	77% (10)	69% (9)	77% (10)		
NoVGI (GC/L)	23% (3)	85% (11)	15% (2)		
AdV GC/L)	38% (5) 69% (9)		8% (1)		
Dathagar	Dry Season % (n)				
ratnogen	Copey % (n)	Naranjal % (n)	Madrigal % (n)		
Giardia (cysts/L)	100% (13)	92% (12)	46% (6)		
Cryptosporidium (Oocysts/L)	15% (2)	0	0		
Salmonella (CFU/L)	100% (13)	100% (13)	100% (13)		
NoVGI (GC/L)	100% (13)	100% (13)	100% (13)		
AdV GC/L)	62% (8)	46% (6)	8% (1)		

**Table 5:** Viral log10 reduction values (LRVs) needed to ensure safe swimming conditions at Jacó beach by river, and season. The LRV range represented was based upon the cumulative viral risk of GI illness to swimmers calculated using the norovirus genogroup I (NoVGI) disaggregate model

Divor	Viral log <sub>10</sub> Reduction Value			
Kiver	Dry Season	Rainy Season		
Сореу	3.8	3		
Naranjal	3.9	3.2		
Madrigal	4.1	2.7		

# Figures



**Figure 1:** Comparison of left censored observations for each microbial variable in river samples during the rainy(n=39) and dry season (n=39). Percent censored refers to the percentage of observations that were not quantifiable, arranged in order of non-detects (below the assay LOD), detected but not quantifiable (above assay LOD and below the assay LOQ) and quantifiable data (above assay LOQ)



**Figure 2:** Comparison of left censored observations for each microbial variable in ocean samples during the rainy (n=39) and dry season (n=39). The y-axis refers to the percentage of observations that were not detected (below the assay LOD), detected but not quantifiable (above assay LOD and below the assay LOQ) and quantifiable data (above assay LOQ)



**Figure 3:** Canonical analysis of principal components (CAP) ordination plot showing canonical axes that best discriminate microbial variables (enterococci, fecal coliforms, somatic and F+ coliphage, *C. perfringens, Salmonella, Giardia, Cryptosporidium*, NovGI, AdV) across river sites: Copey (CP), Naranjal (NJ) and Madrigal (MD), and season: rainy (circle) and dry (triangle) seasons. Fecal microorganism's vectors are depicted in the correlation biplot as arrows



Figure 4: Fecal indicator microorganism, microbial source tracking marker and pathogen mean concentrations across river sites:

Copey, Naranjal and Madrigal, in rainy (circle) and dry (triangle) seasons



**Figure 5:** Canonical analysis of principal components (CAP) ordination plot showing canonical axes that best discriminate microbial variables (enterococci, fecal coliforms and HF183) across ocean areas: Copey, Naranjal and Madrigal, regardless of season. Fecal microorganism's vectors are depicted in the correlation biplot as arrows



**Figure 6:** Fecal indicator microorganism and HF183 mean concentrations in Copey (red), Naranjal (blue) and Madrigal (green) in the ocean, regardless of season



**Figure 7:** Median risk of gastrointestinal (GI) illness to swimmers for each river and season by pathogen, as well as cumulatively. Estimates for NoVGI and cumulative risk were calculated with the disaggregate NoVGI model. Color scales indicate how the median value of risk compared to the US EPA Recreational Water Quality health benchmark (recommendation 1: 36 illness per 1000 recreators), with red exceeding the criteria. Microbial abbreviations are as follows: adenovirus (AdV), norovirus disaggregate model (NoVGI), all pathogens (Total)

# CHAPTER FOUR: MULTIDRUG-RESISTANT E. COLI AND ENTEROCOCCUS SPP. IN COSTA RICAN WASTEWATER AND SURFACE WATERS

### Authors

Adriana González-Fernández<sup>1</sup>, Eleanor Brodrick<sup>1</sup>, Pablo Rivera Navarro<sup>2</sup>, Andrei Badilla Aguilar<sup>2</sup>, Darner Mora Alvarado<sup>2</sup> and Valerie J. Harwood<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Integrative Biology, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL, USA

<sup>2</sup>Laboratorio Nacional de Aguas, Instituto Costarricense de Acueductos y Alcantarillados, Tres Ríos, Cartago, Costa Rica

A.G.F and V.J.H. conceived ideas, A.G.F and E.B oversaw experiments in Tampa, FL, A.G.F. conducted statistical analyses, and A.G.F wrote the paper with comments and edits from E.B and V.J.H

#### Abstract

Population Infections from antibiotic-resistant bacteria (ARB) are a global health concern. Humans can be exposed to ARB in recreational waters, particularly those that are impacted by wastewater discharges. Relatively little is known about the frequency of ARB in wastewater and surface waters in tropical countries. Here, *E. coli* and *Enterococcus spp.* were cultured with and without ampicillin from untreated wastewater originating from a hospital or neighborhood, from treated effluent and from the receiving estuary in Puntarenas, Costa Rica. Although no significant differences in the proportion of ampicillin-resistant fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) to total FIB among sampling sites was observed, ampicillin-resistant E. coli concentrations were significantly greater in residential wastewater compared to hospital wastewater (mean concentrations were 6.4 log<sub>10</sub> CFU/100 ml versus 4.9 log<sub>10</sub> CFU/100 ml). Resistance of ampicillin-resistant FIB to additional antibiotics was also tested. Greater frequency of resistance (more than 50% of isolates) to tetracycline in both FIB, and to trimethoprim- sulfamethoxazole in E. coli was determined in all sites when compared to all antibiotics tested. E. coli isolated from the hospital wastewater were most frequently resistant ( $\sim 40\%$  of isolates) to gentamicin, cefotaxime, and ciprofloxacin versus all other sites (<25%), while *Enterococcus* isolates from the estuary were more frequently resistant to tetracycline (>50% of isolates), erythromycin (~ 25%) and ciprofloxacin (~10% to 25% of isolates). Forty two percent of ampicillin-resistant E. coli isolates and 45% of ampicillin-resistant Enterococcus isolates were multidrug-resistant (resistant to three or more antibiotic classes) at least one antibiotic in three or more antibiotic categories. E. coli isolates that were resistant to a combination of 6 different classes of antibiotics were found frequently and exclusively in the hospital influent. Nevertheless, high levels of antibiotic resistant bacteria in treated effluent and the estuary are the most problematic sources for human contact, since it could impact the health of local populations and tourists and suggests that antibiotic stewardship efforts in the country should include the fate of antibiotic-resistant bacteria from wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) into the aquatic environment.

## Introduction

Antibiotic resistance is a major global health threat. A systematic analysis of global antibiotic resistance estimated 1.27 million deaths due to antibiotic resistance in 2019 (Murray *et al.*, 2022). Also concerning is the continued rise in infections caused by multidrug-resistant bacteria (i.e., resistant to at least one antibiotic in three or more antibiotic categories) (Basak *et al.*, 2016),

86

as these infections are more difficult to treat, and are likely to lead to poor outcomes for the patients (Nikaido, 2009). Antibiotic resistance is a global problem that has critical consequences for low- and middle income countries (Sulis *et al.*, 2022; Zheng *et al.*, 2021). Antibiotic resistance is a leading cause of death around the world, with the highest burdens in low-resource settings, which have a higher burden of infectious disease due to poverty and weak health systems (Murray *et al.*, 2022; Pokharel *et al.*, 2019). In Costa Rica, antibiotic resistance is a national public health problem. Antibiotic resistant bacteria and multidrug-resistant bacteria have been reported in hospitals and the community throughout the territory and in the livestock sector (Gobierno del Bicentenario Costa Rica, 2018; INCIENSA, 2022). Clinical data regarding antibiotic resistant bacteria of public health concern in Costa Rica are readily available, while data on antibiotic resistant bacteria isolated from wastewater and the environment is scarce (INCIENSA, 2022).

Aquatic ecosystems contain a pool of antibiotic resistant bacteria and resistance genes, making them potential reservoirs of antibiotic resistance and habitat-s where antibiotic resistance could be disseminated (Suzuki *et al.*, 2017). Untreated or inefficiently treated wastewater from wastewater treatment plants (WWTP), particularly those that receive hospital wastewater, have been described as hot spots for the accumulation and spread of antibiotic-resistant bacteria and their genes in the environment (Amarasiri *et al.*, 2020; Guo *et al.*, 2017; Paulus *et al.*, 2019; Rizzo *et al.*, 2013). The use of reclaimed water for agricultural irrigation, as well as the use of animal manure to fertilize crops leads to the spread of resistance through soil (Christou *et al.*, 2017; Ghosh & LaPara, 2007) and into the aquatic environment through coastal runoff (Hatosy & Martiny, 2015). Antibiotic resistant bacteria in bathing waters pose a threat to human health (Leonard *et al.*, 2022). Human exposure to antibiotic resistant bacteria in water may result in hard-to-treat infections. For example, studies have identified risk to recreational bathers of exposure to antibiotic-resistant *E. coli* (Leonard *et al.*, 2015, 2018). Increased risk on the skin infections is expected due to elevated levels of antibiotic resistance genes found in skin of individuals who swam in the ocean (Nielsen *et al.*, 2021). Although studies have reported the presence of clinically relevant antibiotic resistant bacteria and their genes in recreational waters (Leonard *et al.*, 2022), potential human health risks from exposure to aquatic environments with antibiotic- resistant bacteria and antibiotic resistance genes is still scarce, because information on dose-response curves and exposure assessment data are needed to conduct a quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) (Pepper *et al.*, 2018).

Relatively little is known about the frequency of antibiotic resistant bacteria in wastewater and recreational waters in tropical countries (Makkaew *et al.*, 2021). Most studies have been performed in temperate regions, where environmental conditions (i.e., rainfall) affect microbiological water quality differently (Strauch *et al.*, 2014). The influence of environmental variables on the distribution of resistance genes and a gradient of increased relative abundances of resistance genes in middle latitudes compared to high and low latitudes has been previously reported (Zheng *et al.*, 2021). Antibiotic contaminants in low- and middle-income economies characteristic of many tropical countries is higher when compared to high-income countries (Sulis *et al.*, 2022; Zheng *et al.*, 2021). Factors such as lower GDP per capita, insufficient sanitation infrastructure, limited access to healthcare, and antibiotic misuse have been invoked to explain the discrepancy (Morgan *et al.*, 2011; Pokharel *et al.*, 2019; Sulis *et al.*, 2022; Vila and Pal, 2010; WHO, 2014).
'Fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) that are commonly found in animal feces and in the environment are opportunistic pathogens (Stec *et al.*, 2022) that can be used to study antibiotic resistance in wastewater and surface waters (Hernando-Amado *et al.*, 2019; Oliveira *et al.*, 2020; Von Baum & Marre, 2005). FIB, including *Escherichia coli* and *Enterococcus spp.*, are easy to culture, and are used to assess microbial water quality (Griffith *et al.*, 2009; McQuaig *et al.*, 2012; US EPA, 2012a). Currently, the World Health Organization (WHO) Global Antimicrobial Resistance and Use Surveillance System (GLASS) (WHO, 2015), has a module directed towards extended- spectrum  $\beta$ - lactamase producing *E. coli* as a key indicator for global surveillance of antibiotic resistance (WHO, 2021, 2020). *E. coli* can readily acquire antibiotic resistance genes by horizontal gene transfer, and it frequently acquires extended- spectrum  $\beta$ -lactamases, which are an important cause of multidrug resistance in gram negative bacteria worldwide (Moghaddam *et al.*, 2015; Von Baum & Marre, 2005).

Deterioration of water quality at Puntarenas beach and in Puntarenas estuary in Costa Rica has been reported and well documented over the last 30 years (Anonymous, 2008; Marín Alpízar, 2006; Mora Alvarado, 2002). Puntarenas, Costa Rica is an appropriate test site to explore the prevalence of antibiotic resistance through wastewater treatment stages and the extent to which these bacteria are discharged into the environment because it enables testing for differences in susceptibility to multiple classes of antibiotics of *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* spp. among potential sources (hospital and residential wastewater), and WWTP effluent discharged into Puntarenas estuary that is adjacent to a popular beach. Identifying regionally specific patterns of resistance in Costa Rica is likely to improve our understanding of antibiotic resistance and subsequently inform decision and policy makers to develop locally relevant interventions.

89

#### Methods

#### Study site

Wastewater samples were collected in the city of Puntarenas on the central Pacific coast of Costa Rica (Figure 8). The population of the city of Puntarenas reached 41,528 inhabitants according to the 2011 census (INEC, 2011). Wastewater from several residential areas and Monseñor Sanabria Hospital enter El Roble Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP). After secondary treatment, and without disinfection, the effluent is discharged into Puntarenas estuary that drains into the Gulf of Nicoya (Figure 8). Several upgrades have been made to El Roble WWTP since it was built. Last published data indicated that the plant has a flow of 5 011 200 L per day and uses activated sludge technology (Mora-Alvarado and Portuguez-Barquero, 2016). Four sampling sites were chosen: the untreated wastewater discharged from the hospital, the wastewater from one of the residential areas, the treated effluent discharged from the WWTP (9°58'54.3"N, 84°44'18.8"W), and Puntarenas Estuary (9°59'02.0"N, 84°46'54.9"W), which receives the effluent.

#### Sampling and culture of FIB

Samples of 500 mL were collected at each of the four sites in Puntarenas, Costa Rica. Four sampling events occurred between October and December 2019. The estuary was sampled from shore with an open sampling container attached to a rope that was thrown 5 m into the estuary. The container was pulled back to shore, and the water was immediately poured into a sterile container. The samples were transported on ice to the Laboratorio Nacional de Aguas (National Water Laboratory) in Tres Rios, Cartago, Costa Rica. There, the bacteria were concentrated by membrane filtration following US EPA Method 1603 for enumeration of *E. coli* (US EPA, 2009) and US EPA Method 1600 for enumeration of *Enterococcus* spp. (US EPA, 2005). The volume that was filtered (1, 10 or 100 mL) varied depending on the sampling site and 1:10 dilutions were made, when necessary, to obtain countable numbers of colonies. After membrane filtration, filters were placed on mTEC agar plates without antibiotic to measure total *E. coli*, and on mTEC amended with 16  $\mu$ g/mL ampicillin to measure *E. coli* with intermediate resistance to ampicillin. Filters were placed on mEI agar plates without antibiotic to measure total *Enterococcus*, and on mEI amended with 16  $\mu$ g/mL ampicillin to measure ampicillin-resistant *Enterococcus* spp. Ten colonies per site for each FIB were selected from ampicillin-amended plates at each sampling event and subcultured to brain heart infusion (BHI) with ampicillin (16  $\mu$ g/mL), and ampicillin-resistant FIB were stored individually in cryovials containing 50% glycerol. These cryovials were stored at 4°C for a period of  $\approx$  2 weeks and shipped at room temperature to the University of South Florida (USF) for further antibiotic-resistance testing.

#### Phylogenetic confirmation of ampicillin-resistant isolates

Ampicillin-resistant isolates were stored at -80°C upon receipt at USF. Before further testing, the putative ampicillin-resistant *E. coli* and *Enterococcus spp.* were subcultured three times on brain heart infusion agar with ampicillin to ensure isolation of a pure culture. An isolated colony was picked from the most recent subculture and resuspended in 50 µL of nuclease free water, which was then boiled to extract the DNA via the boil lysis method. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) of the *uidA* gene, which is specific to *E. coli*, was used to confirm the species of putative *E. coli* isolates (US EPA, 2009). qPCR for the 23S rRNA gene was used to confirm the genus of putative *Enterococcus* spp. isolates (US EPA, 2012b). During shipping and a freezer malfunction some isolates were not recovered, therefore fewer than the anticipated 160 putative *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* isolates were recovered. All putative ampicillin-resistant *E.* 

*coli* (n= 116) and *Enterococcus* spp. (n= 58) isolates were confirmed to species or genus, respectively. Confirmed isolate number per site for *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* was as follows: Hospital influent (n = 27 *E. coli* and 11 *Enterococcus*), residential influent (n = 29 and 13), effluent (n = 28 and 18) and estuary (n= 28 and 16).

#### Frequency of resistance of E. coli and Enterococcus to ampicillin

We estimated the frequency of ampicillin-resistant *E. coli* and *Enterococcus spp*, at each site as the ratio between the concentration of bacteria on ampicillin-amended plates (ampicillin-resistant) divided by the concentration on unamended plates (total).

#### **Multidrug-resistance testing**

The susceptibility of isolates to additional antibiotic classes was determined using the Kirby-Bauer disc diffusion assay, and resistance to ampicillin was also confirmed by this procedure. The antibiotics used for the Kirby-Bauer disc diffusion assay were chosen from the CLSI test groups (A, B, C, O, U) (CLSI, 2016) (Table S1 and S2). Group A is comprised of antibiotics that are used for primary testing, while group B are used selectively (for example when the microorganism is resistant to antibiotics in Group A). Group U is comprised of antibiotic that are primarily used to treat urinary tract infections (UTIs). Group C are antibiotics used when reporting to infection control as an epidemiological aid. Group O antibiotics that have clinical relevance or that are frequently used in Costa Rica were selected. *E. coli* isolates were tested against ampicillin, ciprofloxacin, cefotaxime, amoxicillin with clavulanate, gentamycin, tetracycline and trimethoprim sulfamethoxazole, while *Enterococcus* spp. isolates were tested against ampicillin, ciprofloxacin, tetracycline, linezolid, gentamycin and erythromycin.

Isolates that had been stored in the -80°C freezer after confirmation as E. coli or Entero*coccus* spp. were recovered onto BHI plates amended with 16 µg/ml ampicillin (CLSI, 2016). Isolated colonies were picked using an inoculating loop and placed into 1 mL of a 0.85% saline solution. The density of bacteria in the solution was measured using a Nanodrop instrument, by measuring absorbance at 625 nm (Bauer et al., 1966). If necessary, saline or bacteria were added to achieve the ideal absorbance range (0.08-0.13 AU). Immediately following the absorbance measurement, a sterile swab was dipped into the prepared inoculum and streaked over a prepared Mueller-Hinton plate (Bauer et al., 1966). Antibiotic discs were placed on the plates using sterile twicers, and incubated at 35°C for E. coli isolates or 41°C for Enterococcus spp. for 24 hours. Briefly, the size (in millimeters) of each zone of inhibition was measured and recorded. The resistance or susceptibility of the bacteria to each antibiotic was determined according to CLSI standards (CLSI, 2016). Although E. coli and Enterococcus were isolated using ampicillin concentrations representing intermediate and full resistance, respectively (see methods section Sampling and culture of FIB), all E. coli isolates tested for multidrug-resistance (n=112) were confirmed to be fully ampicillin-resistant, hence will be referred to as ampicillin resistant E. coli isolates in this study.

#### Statistical data analysis

#### Frequency of resistance of E. coli and Enterococcus to ampicillin

We explored the relationship between the frequency of resistance to ampicillin (dependent variable) and FIB and sampling sites (independent variables) by means of a beta regression analysis using the betareg package (Cribari-Neto & Zeileis, 2010). A new variable frequency was calculated as the ratio between the concentration of *E. coli* or *Enterococcus* on ampicillinamended plates (ampicillin-resistant) divided by the concentration on unamended plates (total) for each observation. Since the frequency of resistance of FIB to ampicillin ranges between 0 to 1, the model assumes that the data follows a beta distribution. Pseudo-R-squared produced by the *summary* function in *betareg* were used as a measure for goodness of fit, and the test for the *p*-value for the model was produced using the *lrtest* function in the *lmtest* package (Zeileis & Ho-thorn, 2002). Lastly, after fitting the model we performed a post hoc comparison among groups by estimating and comparing marginal means (Least-Squares Means) derived from the model.

#### Differences in levels of ampicillin-resistant FIB among sampling sites

Concentrations of ampicillin-resistant *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* spp. were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA to determine if there were significant differences in ampicillin-resistant FIB levels among sampling sites. FIB data were log<sub>10</sub>-transformed to approximately conform to a normal distribution. Groups being compared were determined to have equal variance using the Bartlett test before performing ANOVA analysis. Tukey's HSD test, which accounts for the probability of making one or more Type I errors, was used as posthoc analysis to test for significant differences in all pairwise site comparisons.

#### Susceptibility of ampicillin-resistant FIB to other antibiotics

A binary variable was created where fully resistant isolates were designated with a 1, and intermediate resistant and susceptible isolates were designated with a 0. We fitted a linear logistic regression model to predict frequency of resistance of FIB to antibiotics (binary dependent variable) with sampling site and antibiotic (categorical independent variables) and the interaction between both factors (formula: Resistance ~ Site \* Antibiotic). An analysis of deviance was performed to compare how much the logistic regression model improved by adding the predictors

when compared to the null model (a model without predictors) and calculated a p-value to test if the independent variables provide a statistically significant improvement on the null model. The Akaike information criterion (AIC) was used to compare different possible models and determine which model explains the greatest amount of variation using the fewest possible independent variables. Tjur's coefficient of discrimination was used as a measure for goodness of fit (Tjur, 2009). Ninety-five percent confidence intervals (CIs) and p-values were computed using a Wald z-distribution approximation.

## Frequency of multidrug resistance

A new binary variable was created where multidrug resistant FIB isolates were designated with a 1 (resistant to three or more antibiotic classes) and isolates resistant to less than 3 antibiotic classes were designated with a 0. We fitted a linear logistic regression model (estimated using maximum-likelihood) to predict frequency of multidrug resistance with sampling site (multidrug resistance ~ site). An analysis of deviance was performed to compare how much the regression model improved by adding the predictor when compared to the null model (a model without predictors) and calculated a p-value to test if the independent variables provide a statistically significant improvement on the null model. The Cragg-Uhler (Nagelkerke) coefficient of discrimination was used as a measure for goodness of fit. Ninety-five percent confidence intervals (CIs) and p-values were computed using a Wald z-distribution approximation.

#### Results

Frequency of ampicillin-resistant E. coli and Enterococcus in wastewater, effluent, and the estuary

*E. coli* were more frequently resistant to ampicillin than were *Enterococcus* spp. (Figure 9). Ampicillin-resistant *E. coli* across all sites represented 18% of total *E. coli*, while ampicillin-resistant *Enterococcus* spp. represented 4% of total *Enterococcus* spp. A beta regression was used to test if FIB type (*E. coli* versus *Enterococcus*) and sampling sites significantly predicted the frequency of resistance of cultured bacteria to ampicillin (Figure 9). Indicator type (*E. coli* versus *Enterococcus* spp.) significantly predicted the frequency of resistance to ampicillin ( $\beta = 1.4$ , p-value = 0.0001). Sampling site was not a significant predictor ( $\beta = -2.2$ , p =0.1788) in the regression model.

Mean log<sub>10</sub> concentrations of ampicillin-resistant *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* were compared among sites. Ampicillin-resistant *E. coli* concentrations in residential wastewater were significantly greater than those at any other site (Figure 10, Table S3 and S4). Mean concentrations of ampicillin resistant *E. coli* were 6.4 log<sub>10</sub> CFU/100 ml in residential wastewater, followed by 4.9 log<sub>10</sub> CFU/100 ml in hospital wastewater, 4.6 log<sub>10</sub> CFU/100 ml in treated effluent and 3.9 log<sub>10</sub> CFU/100 ml in the estuary. No significant differences in mean log<sub>10</sub> concentrations of ampicillin-resistant *Enterococcus* spp. were observed among sites (Figure 10, Table S3). Mean concentration of *Enterococcus* among all sites ranged 3.1 to 3.6 CFU/ 100 ml.

#### Susceptibility of ampicillin-resistant FIB to other antibiotics

Susceptibility testing against seven additional antibiotics (Table S1 and S2) was performed on confirmed ampicillin-resistant FIB isolates. The frequency of confirmed *E. coli*  (n=112) and *Enterococcus* (n=58) isolates that were susceptible, intermediate, or fully resistant to each antibiotic is shown by site on Figure 11 and Figure 12 respectively. No *Enterococcus* isolates were resistant to vancomycin or linezolid, and most *E. coli* isolates were susceptible (82%) or displayed intermediate resistance (11%) to amoxicillin with clavulanic acid, therefore these antibiotics were not included in the logistic regression model.

The frequency of additional resistance phenotypes observed in ampicillin-resistant *E. coli* isolates was significantly different among antibiotic tested and sites (Figures 4 and 6, Table 6), and a significant interaction effect between site and antibiotic was identified (Table 6). The regression model (formula: resistance ~ site \* antibiotic) explained 31% of the variance, and the model significantly predicted frequency of resistance (p-value = 2.2e-16). Typically, *E. coli* had greater odds of being resistant to trimethoprim sulfamethoxazole (log odds antibiotic [SXT] = 2.71) and tetracycline (log odds antibiotic [TET] = 3.48), when compared to other antibiotics, and isolates from hospital wastewater had greater log odds of being resistant to antibiotics tested (log odds site [Hospital] = 2.50) (Table 7).

Resistance of *E. coli* isolated from hospital wastewater to specific antibiotics was different compared to all other sites (Figure 13). *E. coli* isolated from hospital wastewater were significantly less likely to be resistant to tetracycline than *E. coli* isolated from other sites (log odds site[hospital]\*antibiotic [TET] -2.92) (Figure 11 and 13, Table 7). While the frequency of resistance to tetracycline and trimethoprim sulfamethazine was high regardless of site (>0.5), typically resistance to tetracycline was highest followed by SXT, except for hospital wastewater (Figure 13), where this relationship is inverse. Conversely, frequency of resistance to gentamicin, cefotaxime and ciprofloxacin was low (<0.2), except for the hospital wastewater (>0.4) (Figure 11 and 13, Table 7). Like *E. coli*, site and antibiotic were significant predictors of resistance in *Enterococcus* isolates (Figure 12, Table 6), but no significant interaction effect was determined between sampling sites and antibiotics (p-value = 0.58573) (Table 6). The regression model (formula: resistance ~ site + antibiotic) explained 31% of the variance, and the model significantly predicted frequency of resistance (p-value = 7.775e-15). *Enterococcus* isolates from the estuary (log odds site[estuary] = 1.50), and the treated effluent (log odds site[effluent] = 1.13), had greater log odds of being resistant than isolates from the hospital or the residential wastewater (Figure 12, Table 8). Ampicillin-resistant-*Enterococcus* had greater log odds of tetracycline resistance (log odds site [TET] = 3.93) compared to the other antibiotics tested (Figure 12, Table 8).

#### Multidrug resistance in wastewater, effluent, and the estuary

More than 45% of *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* isolates were multidrug-resistant (resistant to three or more antibiotic classes) according to our testing scheme (Figure 14). The frequency of multidrug-resistant *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* was highest in hospital wastewater compared to other sites (Figure 14). The regression model (formula: multidrug resistance ~ site + FIB) explained only 6% of the variance, but the model significantly predicted frequency of multidrug resistance in FIB (*E. coli* + *Enterococcus*) (p-value= 0.04908), while FIB was not a significant predictor in the logistic regression model (p-value=0.14887). *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* isolates from the hospital wastewater were more likely to be multidrug-resistant than those from other sites (log odd site[hospital] = 3.63) (Table 9). The greatest number of resistance (n=7), while *Enterococcus* isolates from the estuary had the greatest number of resistance phenotypes in any one isolate (5 out of 7) (n=1) (Figure 15).

*E. coli* isolated from hospital wastewater were most frequently resistant to a combination of six antibiotics (AMP + TET + SXT + GEN+ CIP + CTX) (Figure 15 and 16), while *E. coli* from the residential wastewater (5 isolates) were typically resistant to a combination of 2 antibiotics (AMP + TET), the treated effluent (9 isolates) and the estuary (9 isolates) were typically resistant to a combination of only two (AMP + TET) or three antibiotics (AMP + TET + SXT) (Figure 15 and 16). *Enterococcus* isolates from hospital wastewater were most frequently resistant to a combination of three antibiotics (AMP + TET + CIP) (4 isolates), while *Enterococcus* from the residential wastewater were frequently resistant to ampicillin only (5 isolates) and treated effluent (7 isolates) and the estuary (6 isolates) were often resistant to a combination of two antibiotics (AMP + TET) (Figure 15 and 17).

## Discussion

The presence and persistence of antibiotic resistant bacteria in wastewater treatment plants and hospital wastewaters have led to their description as hot spots for the environmental release of antibiotics and the development of resistant bacteria (Guo *et al.*, 2017; Hultman *et al.*, 2018; Pazda *et al.*, 2019; Rizzo *et al.*, 2013). Many high-income countries have implemented antimicrobial stewardship programs; however, such measures are uncommon in low- and middleincome countries. These areas face unique socioeconomical challenges, antibiotic resistance frequency is higher, and wastewater treatment efficacy varies drastically (Kaiser *et al.*, 2022; Pierce *et al.*, 2020). As surveillance of antibiotic resistance becomes more important, our results highlight the different patterns of resistance of FIB that are opportunistic pathogens and are also used for monitoring water quality in wastewater and the environment in Costa Rica.

# Resistance of E. coli and Enterococcus to ampicillin in wastewater, effluent, and the Puntarenas estuary

Ampicillin-resistance frequencies of FIB isolated from wastewater and surface waters in this study are similar or lower than those reported in other regions. For example, in some European countries (Greece, Poland and Netherlands) the frequency of resistance to ampicillin in Enterococcus was reported at between 7.3 and 16% (Kolokotsa et al., 2021; Scheurer et al., 2015; Taučer-Kapteijn et al., 2016) Resistance to ampicillin in E. coli was 34% in Poland, 19% in Japan and 5% in the United States (Łuczkiewicz et al., 2010; Ma et al., 2022; Mukherjee et al., 2021) It is important to mention that although some dilution is observed in FIB levels in the treated effluent when compared to hospital and residential wastewater in this study, differences were not significant. El Roble wastewater treatment does not have a disinfection step prior to releasing the secondarily treated effluent into the environment. In countries like Europe or the United States, this is uncommon, for example some of these studies report at least a 2-log reduction of FIB after disinfection of treated effluent with chlorine (Kolokotsa et al., 2021; Łuczkiewicz et al., 2010). In this study, FIB resistance to ampicillin was ~ 18% for E. coli and ~4% for Enterococcus, and no other studies on resistance of FIB to ampicillin in wastewater were found in Costa Rica. One study in 2004 isolated E. coli from freshwater close to a hospital discharge in the metropolitan area and found that 45% of isolates were resistant to ampicillin, but intermediate and fully-resistant data were pooled and E. coli confirmation was performed using the API 20E system (Tzoc et al., 2004). Similar or lower resistance of FIB to ampicillin in Costa Rica compared to European countries and the United States is unexpected, as regulation of antibiotic use in Costa Rica is less stringent than in more developed countries. For example, Costa Rican law has required a prescription for the sale of antibiotics since 1998, nevertheless illegal

acquisition of antibiotics is a concern that has drawn the attention of the local media (Cordero Parra and Parra, 2019; Diario Oficial La Gaceta, 1998; unknown, 2021).

We found higher mean levels of ampicillin-resistant *Escherichia coli* in residential wastewater compared to hospital wastewater, yet almost identical mean levels of ampicillin-resistant *Enterococcus* spp. in residential and hospital wastewater. It has been suggested that most of the ampicillin-resistant *E. coli* in wastewater probably originated within the community and not from hospitals, given that ampicillin resistant *E. coli* are common in people who have not taken antibiotics or stayed in a healthcare facility (Linton *et al.*, 1974). A systematic review showed that *E. coli* isolated from healthy individuals in community settings in low- and middle-income countries were frequently resistant to ampicillin in hospital wastewater (70%) and in community wastewater (73%) (Nji *et al.*, 2021). The same cannot be said for *Enterococcus*, for example, an increase in ampicillin resistant enterococcal infections in hospitals has been previously reported in the Netherlands (Top *et al.*, 2008), and more than 90% *of E. faecium* isolates from hospitals in the United States exhibited ampicillin resistance (Weiner *et al.*, 2016).

#### Susceptibility of ampicillin-resistant FIB to other antibiotics

Together, complementary data on antibiotic resistance in the FIB *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* provide a more complete landscape of antibiotic resistance in Puntarenas. Greater frequency of resistance to tetracycline (in both FIB) and trimethoprim- sulfamethoxazole (*E. coli*), and to a lesser extent resistance to gentamicin (FIB), cefotaxime (*E. coli*), ciprofloxacin (FIB) and erythromycin (*Enterococcus*) compared to amoxicillin with clavulanic acid (resistant strains were rarely detected) was determined in our study. Tetracycline, trimethoprim- sulfamethoxazole, gentamicin, cefotaxime and ciprofloxacin are commonly used in Costa Rica. For example, estimates of national consumption of antibiotics, which were calculated from importation manufacture data, depicted ciprofloxacin, trimethoprim–sulfamethoxazole and cefotaxime to be among the antibiotics with a higher daily dose per 1000 inhabitants, while gentamicin was one of the main imports used for crops (Gobierno del Bicentenario Costa Rica, 2018). Although tetracycline was not listed in Costa Rican estimates of national consumption, oxytetracycline, a member of the tetracycline class of antibiotics, is one of the most commonly imported antibiotics for agriculture in the country. Tetracycline is known to be used in the food industry (i.e., pigs, chicken and tilapia fish) in Costa Rica (Gobierno del Bicentenario Costa Rica, 2018; Gutiérrez *et al.*, 2010). Although vancomycin resistance in *Enterococcus* is of concern in many regions (Ayobami *et al.*, 2020; Markwart *et al.*, 2019; Ping *et al.*, 2021), no *Enterococcus* isolated in this study were resistant to vancomycin.

Higher resistance of *E. coli* to trimethoprim- sulfamethoxazole in low- and middle-income countries when compared to high income countries such as the US and Sweden has been previously reported. It is a relatively inexpensive drug that has been in use for many decades and is widely used in low- and middle-income countries to treat various infections (Huovinen *et al.*, 1995). For example, it was estimated by the International WhoNET surveillance program that out of >20000 *E. coli* isolates, 41 to 62% of isolates from central America and Asia were resistant to trimethoprim- sulfamethoxazole, versus 9 to 23% of isolates that were resistant in the US and Sweden (Huovinen *et al.*, 1995) Resistance to trimethoprim- sulfamethoxazole has been previously documented in Central American and Costa Rica (Critchley *et al.*, 2020; Gupta *et al.*, 1999; Jimenez Pearson *et al.*, 2018; Murray *et al.*, 1985), therefore the high frequency of resistance of *E. coli* to trimethoprim- sulfamethoxazole found in this study is not surprising.

102

Ampicillin-resistant *E. coli* isolated from hospital wastewater were more likely to be resistant to most of the other antibiotics tested compared to all other sampling sites. For example, resistance of E. coli to cefotaxime, a third-generation cephalosporin, was  $\sim$ 50% in hospital wastewater and less than 25% in residential, treated effluent and the estuary. Resistance to cefotaxime is not surprising, as E. coli resistance to third generation cephalosporins has been increasing in hospital and community settings in all European countries. For example, the European Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance Network (EARS-Net) reported an increase in resistance  $(\sim 15\%)$  of E. coli to third generation cephalosporins in bacteraemias in the hospital setting during 2017 (ECDC, 2019). The WHO reported that resistance to third generation cephalosporines in Escherichia coli ranged from 2-70% in Africa, 16-68% in South-East Asia, and 0-77% in Western Pacific region in 2015. Resistance to third generation cephalosporins is considered a high community and health-care burden by the World Health Organization (WHO, 2017). For example during 2015, worldwide median estimates of the incidence of infections with E. coli resistant to third generation cephalosporins was 297,416, with 9,066 attributable deaths (Cassini et al., 2019).

# Multidrug resistance of E. coli and Enterococcus in wastewater, effluent, and the Puntarenas estuary

Although *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* isolates from the hospital wastewater were more likely to be multidrug-resistant compared to the residential wastewater, treated effluent and the estuary, the explanatory power of the logistic regression model is weak (6%), therefore unmeasured variables have a greater effect on the frequency of multidrug resistance. Multidrug-resistance of FIB in untreated hospital and residential wastewater is expected, as wastewater is considered a hotspot for antibiotic resistant bacteria and their genes (Che *et al.*, 2019; Guo *et al.*, 2017; Hultman *et al.*, 2018; Pazda *et al.*, 2019; Rizzo *et al.*, 2013). The prevalence of multidrug resistant bacteria after treatment in the effluent is not surprising as primary and secondary treatments of conventional WWTPs are not designed for the reduction of resistant microbes, and the effluent is not disinfected prior to its release into the estuary. However, the discharge of Puntarenas WWTP is probably not the only contributor to the high frequency of antibiotic resistance in the estuary. Deterioration of the water quality of Puntarenas estuary has been well described over the years (Marín Alpízar, 2006; Mora, 2011). For example, Puntarenas estuary not only receives the treated effluent of El Roble wastewater treatment plant, but it receives untreated wastewater from household onsite wastewater treatment systems (Anonymous, 2008).

#### Conclusions

Wastewater treatment reduces bacteria in wastewater, yet some antibiotic-resistant bacteria remain in the effluent, which is not disinfected (i.e., chlorine, ozone, UV light) prior to its release, therefore removal of bacteria may not prevent the spreading of antibiotic resistant bacteria into the aquatic environment. Our results indicate that wastewater from hospital and residential water can be important sources of antibiotic resistance bacteria, those bacteria are also present in high frequency in the treated effluent and the estuary. Identifying regionally specific patterns of resistance in wastewater and the environment in Costa Rica is likely to improve our understanding of antibiotic resistance to inform decision and policy makers to develop locally relevant interventions.

Antimicrobial stewardship is defined by the WHO as a "coherent set of actions which promote the responsible use of antimicrobials. This definition can be applied to actions at the individual level as well as the national and global level, and across human health, animal health

104

and the environment" (WHO, 2019, s. p.). Costa Rica has antibiotic hospital stewardship initiatives (Hegewisch-Taylor *et al.*, 2020). In 2019, the government of Costa Rica passed an executive decree with the officialization and declaration of public interest and national "Action Plan to tackle resistance to antimicrobial resistance. Costa Rica 2018-2025" (Diario Oficial La Gaceta, 2019, s. p.). Nevertheless, the scope of this plan focuses efforts to optimize the use of antibiotics and presents strategies to improve antibiotic stewardship in human health, animal health and plant health. The action plan does not address antibiotic resistant bacteria in wastewater effluent or surface waters as potential contributing factors to the rise in antibiotic resistance, nor does it include the environmental fate of antibiotics. Results from our study highlight the importance of treating wastewater effluent prior to its release into the environment. Antibiotic resistant bacteria in the environment and specifically address the environmental release of antibiotic resistant bacteria in wastewater into superficial waters.

#### References

- Amarasiri, M., Sano, D., Suzuki, S., 2020. Understanding human health risks caused by antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB) and antibiotic resistance genes (ARG) in water environments: Current knowledge and questions to be answered. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 2016–2059. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2019.1692611
- Anonymous, 2008. Catorce tuberías de aguas con heces caen en el estero de Puntarenas [WWW Document]. La Nac. URL https://www.nacion.com/el-pais/14-tuberias-de-aguas-con-heces-caen-en-el-estero-de-puntarenas/3RTTZZ2BFBH6XBUQS7OAS6S7BA/story/ (accessed 2.2.20).
- Basak, S., Singh, P., Rajurkar, M., 2016. Multidrug resistant and extensively drug resistant Bacteria: A study. J. Pathog. 2016, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/4065603
- Bauer, A.W., Kirby, W.M., Sherris, J.C., Turck, M., 1966. Antibiotic susceptibility testing by a standardized single disk method. Am. J. Clin. Pathol. 45, 493–496. https://doi.org/10.1093/AJCP/45.4\_TS.493

- Cassini, A., Högberg, L.D., Plachouras, D., Quattrocchi, A., Hoxha, A., Simonsen, G.S., Colomb-Cotinat, M., Kretzschmar, M.E., Devleesschauwer, B., Cecchini, M., Ouakrim, D.A., Oliveira, T.C., Struelens, M.J., Suetens, C., Monnet, D.L., Strauss, R., Mertens, K., Struyf, T., Catry, B., Latour, K., Ivanov, I.N., Dobreva, E.G., Tambic Andraševic, A., Soprek, S., Budimir, A., Paphitou, N., Žemlicková, H., Schytte Olsen, S., Wolff Sönksen, U., Märtin, P., Ivanova, M., Lyytikäinen, O., Jalava, J., Coignard, B., Eckmanns, T., Abu Sin, M., Haller, S., Daikos, G.L., Gikas, A., Tsiodras, S., Kontopidou, F., Tóth, Á., Hajdu, Á., Guólaugsson, Ó., Kristinsson, K.G., Murchan, S., Burns, K., Pezzotti, P., Gagliotti, C., Dumpis, U., Liuimiene, A., Perrin, M., Borg, M.A., de Greeff, S.C., Monen, J.C., Koek, M.B., Elstrøm, P., Zabicka, D., Deptula, A., Hryniewicz, W., Caniça, M., Nogueira, P.J., Fernandes, P.A., Manageiro, V., Popescu, G.A., Serban, R.I., Schréterová, E., Litvová, S., Štefkovicová, M., Kolman, J., Klavs, I., Korošec, A., Aracil, B., Asensio, A., Pérez-Vázquez, M., Billström, H., Larsson, S., Reilly, J.S., Johnson, A., Hopkins, S., 2019. Attributable deaths and disability-adjusted life-years caused by infections with antibiotic-resistant bacteria in the EU and the European Economic Area in 2015: a population-level modelling analysis. Lancet Infect. Dis. 19, 56-66. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(18)30605-4
- Che, Y., Xia, Y., Liu, L., Li, A.D., Yang, Y., Zhang, T., 2019. Mobile antibiotic resistome in wastewater treatment plants revealed by nanopore metagenomic sequencing. Microbiome 7, 44. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-019-0663-0
- Christou, A., Agüera, A., Bayona, J.M., Cytryn, E., Fotopoulos, V., Lambropoulou, D., Manaia, C.M., Michael, C., Revitt, M., Schröder, P., Fatta-Kassinos, D., 2017. The potential implications of reclaimed wastewater reuse for irrigation on the agricultural environment: The knowns and unknowns of the fate of antibiotics and antibiotic resistant bacteria and resistance genes – A review. Water Res. 123, 448–467. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WA-TRES.2017.07.004
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI). (2016). Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing. In *CLSI, Supplement M100*.
- Cordero Parra, M., Parra, A., 2019. Falta de competencia mantiene por las nubes el precio de los medicamentos • Semanario Universidad [WWW Document]. Sem. Univ. URL https://semanariouniversidad.com/pais/falta-de-competencia-mantiene-por-las-nubes-el-precio-de-los-medicamentos/ (accessed 7.7.22).
- Cribari-Neto, F., Zeileis, A., 2010. Beta Regression in R. J. Stat. Softw. 34, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.18637/JSS.V034.I02
- Critchley, I.A., Cotroneo, N., Pucci, M.J., Jain, A., Mendes, R.E., 2020. Resistance among urinary tract pathogens collected in Europe during 2018. J. Glob. Antimicrob. Resist. 23, 439– 444. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JGAR.2020.10.020
- Diario Oficial La Gaceta, 2019. Decreto n.º 41385-S, Sistema Costarricense de Información Jurídica. Diario Oficial La Gaceta, Costa Rica.
- Diario Oficial La Gaceta, 1998. Decreto n.º 26984-S, Sistema Costarricense de Información Jurídica. Costa Rica.
- ECDC, 2019. Surveillance of antimicrobial resistance in Europe 2018, EARS-Net. Stockholm.
- Ghosh, S., LaPara, T.M., 2007. The effects of subtherapeutic antibiotic use in farm animals on the proliferation and persistence of antibiotic resistance among soil bacteria. ISME J. 2007 13 1, 191–203. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2007.31

- Gobierno del Bicentenario Costa Rica, 2018. Plan de acción nacional de lucha contra la resistencia a los antimicrobianos costa rica 2018-2025. San Jose.
- Griffith, J.F., Cao, Y., McGee, C.D., Weisberg, S.B., 2009. Evaluation of rapid methods and novel indicators for assessing microbiological beach water quality. Water Res. 43, 4900–4907. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2009.09.017
- Guo, J., Li, J., Chen, H., Bond, P.L., Yuan, Z., 2017. Metagenomic analysis reveals wastewater treatment plants as hotspots of antibiotic resistance genes and mobile genetic elements. Water Res. 123, 468–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2017.07.002
- Gupta, K., Scholes, D., Stamm, W.E., 1999. Increasing prevalence of antimicrobial resistance among uropathogens causing acute uncomplicated cystitis in women. JAMA 281, 736–738. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.281.8.736
- Gutiérrez, K., Alfaro, M., Granados, F., Sánchez, J., García, F., Rodríguez, C., 2010. Detección de tetraciclinas en nueve lotes de alimentos para cerdos, tilapias y pollos producidos en Costa Rica: incumplimiento de normativas y disconformidades con el etiquetado oficial de garantía. Agron. Costarric. https://doi.org/10.15517/rac.v34i2.3628
- Hatosy, S.M., Martiny, A.C., 2015. The ocean as a global reservoir of antibiotic resistance genes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 81, 7593–7599. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00736-15
- Hegewisch-Taylor, J., Dreser-Mansilla, A., Romero-Mónico, J., Levy-Hara, G., 2020. Antimicrobial stewardship in hospitals in Latin America and the Caribbean: a scoping review. Rev. Panam. Salud Publica 44. https://doi.org/10.26633/RPSP.2020.68
- Hernando-Amado, S., Coque, T.M., Baquero, F., Martínez, J.L., 2019. Defining and combating antibiotic resistance from One Health and Global Health perspectives. Nat. Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-019-0503-9
- Hultman, J., Tamminen, M., Pärnänen, K., Cairns, J., Karkman, A., Virta, M., 2018. Host range of antibiotic resistance genes in wastewater treatment plant influent and effluent. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 94. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiy038
- Huovinen, P., Sundstrom, L., Swedberg, G., Skold, O., 1995. Trimethoprim and sulfonamide resistance. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. https://doi.org/10.1128/aac.39.2.279
- INCIENSA, 2022. Informe de vigilancia basada en laboratorio. Cartago.
- INEC, 2011. Población total por zona y sexo, según provincia, cantón y distrito [WWW Document]. Estadísticas demográficas. Censo. 2011. URL https://inec.cr/estadisticas-fuentes/censos/censo-2011 (accessed 3.11.22).
- Jimenez Pearson, A., Chaverri Murillo, J., Perez Corrales, C., Ramírez Cardoce, M., Bolaños Acuna, H.M., 2018. Informe técnico: Estrategia Vigilancia de laboratorio de la resistencia a los antimicrobianos de microorganismos de importancia en salud pública, 2018.
- Kaiser, R.A., Taing, L., Bhatia, H., 2022. Antimicrobial Resistance and Environmental Health: A Water Stewardship Framework for Global and National Action. Antibiotics 11, 63. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics11010063
- Kolokotsa, A., Leotsinidis, M., Kalavrouziotis, I., Sazakli, E., 2021. Effects of tourist flows on antibiotic resistance in wastewater of a Greek island. J. Appl. Microbiol. 130, 516–527. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.14808
- Leonard, A.F., Morris, D., Schmitt, H., Gaze, W.H., 2022. Natural recreational waters and the risk that exposure to antibiotic resistant bacteria poses to human health. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2021.10.004

- Leonard, A.F.C., Zhang, L., Balfour, A.J., Garside, R., Gaze, W.H., 2015. Human recreational exposure to antibiotic resistant bacteria in coastal bathing waters. Environ. Int. 82, 92–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2015.02.013
- Leonard, A.F.C., Zhang, L., Balfour, A.J., Garside, R., Hawkey, P.M., Murray, A.K., Ukoumunne, O.C., Gaze, W.H., 2018. Exposure to and colonisation by antibiotic-resistant E. coli in UK coastal water users: Environmental surveillance, exposure assessment, and epidemiological study (Beach Bum Survey). Environ. Int. 114, 326–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2017.11.003
- Linton, K.B., Richmond, M.H., Bevan, R., Gillespie, W.A., 1974. Antibiotic resistance and R factors in coliform bacilli isolated from hospital and domestic sewage. J. Med. Microbiol. 7, 91–103. https://doi.org/10.1099/00222615-7-1-91
- Łuczkiewicz, A., Jankowska, K., Fudala-Ksiazek, S., Olańczuk-Neyman, K., 2010. Antimicrobial resistance of fecal indicators in municipal wastewater treatment plant. Water Res. 44, 5089–5097. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2010.08.007
- Ma, C.Y., Sugie, Y., Yu, Z., Okuno, Y., Tanaka, H., Ihara, M., 2022. Occurrence of E. coli and antibiotic-resistant E. coli in the southern watershed of Lake Biwa, including in wastewater treatment plant effluent and inflow rivers. Chemosphere 301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.134372
- Makkaew, P., Kongprajug, A., Chyerochana, N., Sresung, M., Precha, N., Mongkolsuk, S., Sirikanchana, K., 2021. Persisting antibiotic resistance gene pollution and its association with human sewage sources in tropical marine beach waters. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 238, 113859. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHEH.2021.113859
- Marín Alpízar, B.E., 2006. Informe actualizado al año 2006 del proceso de recuperación del Estero de Puntarenas y su zona de influencia. Puntarenas, Costa Rica.
- McQuaig, S., Griffith, J., Harwood, V.J., 2012. Association of fecal indicator bacteria with human viruses and microbial source tracking markers at coastal beaches impacted by nonpoint source pollution. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 78, 6423–6432. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00024-12
- Moghaddam, M.J.M., Mirbagheri, A.A., Salehi, Z., Habibzade, S.M., 2015. Prevalence of class 1 integrons and extended spectrum beta lactamases among multi-drug resistant escherichia coli isolates from north of Iran. Iran. Biomed. J. 19, 233–239. https://doi.org/10.7508/ibj.2015.04.007
- Mora-Alvarado, D.A., Portuguez-Barquero, C.F., 2016. C. Rev. Tecnol. en Marcha 29, 43. https://doi.org/10.18845/tm.v29i2.2690
- Mora, A., 2011. Calidad sanitaria de los esteros y/o desembocaduras de ríos en los litorales de Costa Rica: 1996-2011. Cartago.
- Mora Alvarado, D.A., 2002. Evolución de la calidad de las aguas de playa de la ciudad de Puntarenas 1961-2001. Rev. costarric. salud pública 11, 41–50.
- Morgan, D.J., Okeke, I.N., Laxminarayan, R., Perencevich, E.N., Weisenberg, S., 2011. Nonprescription antimicrobial use worldwide: A systematic review. Lancet Infect. Dis. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(11)70054-8
- Mukherjee, M., Laird, E., Gentry, T.J., Brooks, J.P., Karthikeyan, R., 2021. Increased Antimicrobial and Multidrug Resistance Downstream of Wastewater Treatment Plants in an Urban Watershed. Front. Microbiol. 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2021.657353/FULL

- Murray, B.E., Alvarado, T., Kim, K.H., Vorachit, M., Jayanetra, P., Prenzel, I., Fling, M., Elwell, L., Mc Cracken, G.H., Madrigal, G., Odio, C., Trabulsi, L.R., 1985. Increasing resistance to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole among isolates of escherichia coli in developing countries. J. Infect. Dis. 152, 1107–1113. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/152.6.1107
- Murray, C.J., Ikuta, K.S., Sharara, F., Swetschinski, L., Robles Aguilar, G., Gray, A., Han, C., Bisignano, C., Rao, P., Wool, E., Johnson, S.C., Browne, A.J., Chipeta, M.G., Fell, F., Hackett, S., Haines-Woodhouse, G., Kashef Hamadani, B.H., Kumaran, E.A.P., McManigal, B., Agarwal, R., Akech, S., Albertson, S., Amuasi, J., Andrews, J., Aravkin, A., Ashley, E., Bailey, F., Baker, S., Basnyat, B., Bekker, A., Bender, R., Bethou, A., Bielicki, J., Boonkasidecha, S., Bukosia, J., Carvalheiro, C., Castañeda-Orjuela, C., Chansamouth, V., Chaurasia, S., Chiurchiú, S., Chowdhury, F., Cook, A.J., Cooper, B., Cressey, T.R., Criollo-Mora, E., Cunningham, M., Darboe, S., Day, N.P.J., De Luca, M., Dokova, K., Dramowski, A., Dunachie, S.J., Eckmanns, T., Eibach, D., Emami, A., Feasey, N., Fisher-Pearson, N., Forrest, K., Garrett, D., Gastmeier, P., Giref, A.Z., Greer, R.C., Gupta, V., Haller, S., Haselbeck, A., Hay, S.I., Holm, M., Hopkins, S., Iregbu, K.C., Jacobs, J., Jarovsky, D., Javanmardi, F., Khorana, M., Kissoon, N., Kobeissi, E., Kostyanev, T., Krapp, F., Krumkamp, R., Kumar, A., Kyu, H.H., Lim, C., Limmathurotsakul, D., Loftus, M.J., Lunn, M., Ma, J., Mturi, N., Munera-Huertas, T., Musicha, P., Mussi-Pinhata, M.M., Nakamura, T., Nanavati, R., Nangia, S., Newton, P., Ngoun, C., Novotney, A., Nwakanma, D., Obiero, C.W., Olivas-Martinez, A., Olliaro, P., Ooko, E., Ortiz-Brizuela, E., Peleg, A.Y., Perrone, C., Plakkal, N., Ponce-de-Leon, A., Raad, M., Ramdin, T., Riddell, A., Roberts, T., Robotham, J.V., Roca, A., Rudd, K.E., Russell, N., Schnall, J., Scott, J.A.G., Shivamallappa, M., Sifuentes-Osornio, J., Steenkeste, N., Stewardson, A.J., Stoeva, T., Tasak, N., Thaiprakong, A., Thwaites, G., Turner, C., Turner, P., van Doorn, H.R., Velaphi, S., Vongpradith, A., Vu, H., Walsh, T., Waner, S., Wangrangsimakul, T., Wozniak, T., Zheng, P., Sartorius, B., Lopez, A.D., Stergachis, A., Moore, C., Dolecek, C., Naghavi, M., 2022. Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis. Lancet 399, 629-655. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02724-0
- Nielsen, M.C., Wang, N., Jiang, S.C., 2021. Acquisition of antibiotic resistance genes on human skin after swimming in the ocean 3 4 5.
- Nikaido, H., 2009. Multidrug resistance in bacteria. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 78, 119. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.BIOCHEM.78.082907.145923
- Nji, E., Kazibwe, J., Hambridge, T., Joko, C.A., Larbi, A.A., Damptey, L.A.O., Nkansa-Gyamfi, N.A., Stålsby Lundborg, C., Lien, L.T.Q., 2021. High prevalence of antibiotic resistance in commensal Escherichia coli from healthy human sources in community settings. Sci. Reports 2021 111 11, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-82693-4
- Oliveira, A.M.S., Baraúna, R.A., Marcon, D.J., Lago, L.A.B., Silva, A., Lusio, J., Tavares, R.D.S., Tacão, M., Henriques, I., Schneider, M.P.C., 2020. Occurrence, antibiotic-resistance and virulence of E. coli strains isolated from mangrove oysters (Crassostrea gasar) farmed in estuaries of Amazonia. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 157, 111302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111302
- Paulus, G.K., Hornstra, L.M., Alygizakis, N., Slobodnik, J., Thomaidis, N., Medema, G., 2019. The impact of on-site hospital wastewater treatment on the downstream communal wastewater system in terms of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 222, 635–644. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHEH.2019.01.004

- Pazda, M., Kumirska, J., Stepnowski, P., Mulkiewicz, E., 2019. Antibiotic resistance genes identified in wastewater treatment plant systems – A review. Sci. Total Environ. 697, 134023. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.134023
- Pepper, I.L., Brooks, J.P., Gerba, C.P., 2018. Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria in Municipal Wastes: Is There Reason for Concern? Environ. Sci. Technol. 52, 3949–3959. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.EST.7B04360/ASSET/IMAGES/MEDIUM/ES-2017-04360F\_M007.GIF
- Pierce, J., Apisarnthanarak, A., Schellack, N., Cornistein, W., Maani, A. Al, Adnan, S., Stevens, M.P., 2020. Global Antimicrobial Stewardship with a Focus on Low- and Middle-Income Countries. Int. J. Infect. Dis. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2020.05.126
- Pokharel, S., Raut, S., Adhikari, B., 2019. Tackling antimicrobial resistance in low-income and middle-income countries. BMJ Glob. Heal. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2019-002104
- Rizzo, L., Manaia, C., Merlin, C., Schwartz, T., Dagot, C., Ploy, M.C., Michael, I., Fatta-Kassinos, D., 2013. Urban wastewater treatment plants as hotspots for antibiotic resistant bacteria and genes spread into the environment: A review. Sci. Total Environ. 447, 345–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.01.032
- Scheurer, M., He
  ß, S., L
  üddeke, F., Sacher, F., G
  üde, H., L
  öffler, H., Gallert, C., 2015. Removal of micropollutants, facultative pathogenic and antibiotic resistant bacteria in a full-scale retention soil filter receiving combined sewer overflow. Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts 17, 186–196. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4em00494a
- Stec, J., Kosikowska, U., Mendrycka, M., Stępień-Pyśniak, D., Niedźwiedzka-Rystwej, P., Bębnowska, D., Hrynkiewicz, R., Ziętara-Wysocka, J., Grywalska, E., 2022. Opportunistic pathogens of recreational waters with emphasis on antimicrobial resistance—A possible subject of human health concern. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19127308
- Strauch, A.M., Mackenzie, R.A., Bruland, G.L., Tingley, R., Giardina, C.P., 2014. Climate Change and Land Use Drivers of Fecal Bacteria in Tropical Hawaiian Rivers. J. Environ. Qual. 43, 1475–1483. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2014.01.0025
- Sulis, G., Sayood, S., Gandra, S., 2022. Antimicrobial resistance in low- and middle-income countries: current status and future directions. Expert Rev. Anti. Infect. Ther. 20, 147–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/14787210.2021.1951705
- Suzuki, S., Pruden, A., Virta, M., Zhang, T., 2017. Editorial: Antibiotic resistance in aquatic systems. Front. Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00014
- Taučer-Kapteijn, M., Hoogenboezem, W., Heiliegers, L., de Bolster, D., Medema, G., 2016. Screening municipal wastewater effluent and surface water used for drinking water production for the presence of ampicillin and vancomycin resistant enterococci. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 219, 437–442. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHEH.2016.04.007
- Tjur, T., 2009. Coefficients of determination in logistic regression models A new proposal: The coefficient of discrimination. Am. Stat. 63, 366–372. https://doi.org/10.1198/TAST.2009.08210
- Top, J., Willems, R., Van Der Velden, S., Asbroek, M., Bonten, M., 2008. Emergence of clonal complex 17 Enterococcus faecium in The Netherlands. J. Clin. Microbiol. 46, 214. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01351-07

- unknown, 2021. Farmacéuticos, microbiólogos y médicos de la CCSS luchan contra mal uso de antimicrobianos Periódico Mensaje Guanacaste [WWW Document]. Period. Mensaje. URL https://www.periodicomensaje.com/salud/7879-farmaceuticos-microbiologos-y-medi-cos-de-la-ccss-luchan-contra-mal-uso-de-antimicrobianos (accessed 7.7.22).
- US EPA, 2012a. Recreational water quality Criteria., U. S. Environmental Protection Agency. Washington, DC, USA.
- US EPA, 2012b. Method 1611: Enterococci in water by TaqMan® quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) assay, U. S. Environmental Protection Agency. Washigton, DC, USA.
- US EPA, 2009. Method 1603: Escherichia coli (E. coli) in water by membrane filtration using modified membrane-thermotolerant Escherichia coli agar. Epa-821-R-09-007 13.
- US EPA, 2005. Method 1600: Enterococci in water by membrane filtration using membrane-Enterococcus indoxyl-B-D-glucoside agar (mEI).
- Vila, J., Pal, T., 2010. Update on antibacterial resistance in low-income countries: Factors favoring the emergence of resistance. Open Infect. Dis. J. 4, 38–54. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874279301004020038
- Von Baum, H., Marre, R., 2005. Antimicrobial resistance of Escherichia coli and therapeutic implications. Int. J. Med. Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmm.2005.07.002
- Weiner, L.M., Webb, A.K., Limbago, B., Dudeck, M.A., Patel, J., Kallen, A.J., Edwards, J.R., Sievert, D.M., 2016. Antimicrobial-resistant pathogens associated with healthcare-associated infections: Summary of data reported to the national healthcare safety network at the centers for disease control and prevention, 2011-2014. Infect. Control Hosp. Epidemiol. 37, 1288–1301. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2016.174
- WHO, 2021. WHO integrated global surveillance on ESBL-producing E. coli using a "One Health" approach: implementation and opportunities, World Health Organization, Global Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance System (GLASS), Surveillance Prevention and Control. Geneva.
- WHO, 2020. Global antimicrobial resistance and use surveillance system (GLASS) Report, World Health Organization.
- WHO, 2019. Antimicrobial stewardship programmes in health-care facilities in low- and middleincome countries: a WHO practical toolkit. JAC-Antimicrobial Resist. 1. https://doi.org/10.1093/jacamr/dlz072
- WHO, 2017. Prioritization of pathogens to guide discovery, research and development of new antibiotics for drug-resistant bacterial infections, including tuberculosis.
- WHO, 2015. Global antimicrobial resistance surveillance system. World Health Organization 36.
- WHO, 2014. Antimicrobial resistance. Global report on surveillance. World Health Organization 61, 383–394. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13312-014-0374-3
- Zeileis, A., Hothorn, T., 2002. Diagnostic Checking in Regression Relationships. R News 2, 7–10.
- Zheng, D., Yin, G., Liu, M., Chen, C., Jiang, Y., Hou, L., Zheng, Y., 2021. A systematic review of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in estuarine and coastal environments. Sci. To-tal Environ. 777, 146009. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2021.146009

# Tables

**Table 6:** Comparison of analysis of deviance results and calculated p-value to test if the independent variables provide a statistically significant improvement on the null model for: A) Logistic regression models used separately to predict *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* frequency of resistance with sampling sites, antibiotics tested and their interaction (sites\*antibiotic) and B) a linear regression model used to predict FIB (*E. coli* and *Enterococcus*) frequency of resistance to three or more antibiotic classes with sampling site and FIB type

(A)

Model	FIB	Chisq (χ2)	p-value
	E. coli	29.076	2.16E-06
Site	Enterococcus	Chisq (χ2) 29.076 9.862 141.95 71.301 30.312 7.495	0.01977
	E. coli	141.95	< 2.2e-16
Antibiotic	Enterococcus	141.95 71.301 30.312 7.495	2.25E-15
	E. coli	30.312	0.002506
Site: Antibiotic	Enterococcus	7.495	0.58573
(B)			
Model	Chisq (χ2)	p-value	
Site	7.8561	0.04928	
FIB	2.0838		0.14887

 Table 7: Influence of site and antibiotics on the log odds of *E. coli* resistance frequency to addi 

 tional antibiotics. The model's intercept corresponds to site [residential wastewater], antibiotic

 [GEN] or their interaction [residential wastewater] \* [GEN]. Significant relationships are bolded

 (P-values <0.05)</td>

Resistance			
Predictors	Log-Odds	CI	р
(Intercept)	-2.56 ***	-4.391.36	<0.001
Site [Hospital]	2.50 **	1.06 - 4.43	0.002
Site [Effluent]	0.82	-0.91 - 2.86	0.371
Site [Estuary]	0.44	-1.43 - 2.53	0.641
Antibiotic [TET]	3.48 ***	2.01 - 5.46	<0.001
Antibiotic [CTX]	1.04	-0.60 - 3.05	0.24
Antibiotic [SXT]	2.71 **	1.27 – 4.65	0.001
Antibiotic [CIP]	0.44	-1.43 - 2.53	0.641
Site [Hospital] *Antibiotic [TET]	-2.92 **	-5.111.08	0.003
Site [Effluent] *Antibiotic [TET]	-0.25	-2.61 - 1.91	0.823
Site [Estuary] *Antibiotic [TET]	0.43	-2.00 - 2.75	0.714
Site [Hospital] *Antibiotic [CTX]	-1.04	-3.26 - 0.90	0.313
Site [Effluent] *Antibiotic [CTX]	-1.82	-4.54 - 0.58	0.153
Site [Estuary] *Antibiotic [CTX]	-1.04	-3.62 - 1.36	0.401
Site [Hospital] *Antibiotic [SXT]	-1.49	-3.69 - 0.37	0.137

R <sup>2</sup> Tjur	0.314		
Observations	560		
Site [Estuary] *Antibiotic [CIP]	-0.12	-2.69 – 2.37	0.926
Site [Effluent] *Antibiotic [CIP]	-1.95	-5.42 - 0.80	0.192
Site [Hospital] *Antibiotic [CIP]	-0.72	-3.03 - 1.41	0.507
Site [Estuary] *Antibiotic [SXT]	-0.59	-2.90 - 1.55	0.591
Site [Effluent] *Antibiotic [SXT]	-0.74	-3.00 - 1.29	0.488

\* p<0.05 \*\* p<0.01 \*\*\* p<0.001

**Table 8:** Influence of site and antibiotic on the log odds of *Enterococcus* resistance frequency to additional antibiotics. The model's intercept corresponds to site [residential wastewater] and antibiotic [GEN]. Significant relationships are bolded (P-values <0.05)

Resistance			
Predictors	Log Odds	CI	р
(Intercept)	-3.68***	-5.122.48	<0.001
Site [Hospital]	1.06	-0.00 - 2.17	0.055
Site [Effluent]	1.13*	0.18 – 2.15	0.024
Site [Estuary]	1.50**	0.53 - 2.54	0.003
Antibiotic [TET]	3.93***	2.81 - 5.29	<0.001
Antibiotic [CIP]	1.59	0.48 – 2.91	0.009
Antibiotic [ERY]	1.94**	0.86 - 3.24	0.001
Observations	232		
R <sup>2</sup> Tjur	0.310		

\* p<0.05 \*\* p<0.01 \*\*\* p<0.001

**Table 9:** Influence of site and FIB on the log odds of multidrug resistance frequency. The model's intercept corresponds to site [residential wastewater] or FIB [*E. coli*]. Significant relationships are bolded (P-values <0.05)

Multidrug Resistance			
Predictors	Log Odds	CI	р
(Intercept)	0.74	0.38 - 1.42	0.373
Site [Hospital]	3.63 **	1.46 - 9.43	0.006
Site [Effluent]	1.71	0.72 - 4.12	0.224
Site [Estuary]	1.76	0.74 - 4.26	0.201
FIB [Enterococcus]	0.62	0.32 – 1.19	0.150
Observations	170		
R <sup>2</sup> Nagelkerke	0.078		

\* p<0.05 \*\* p<0.01 \*\*\* p<0.001

# Figures



**Figure 8:** Map of the study site. El Roble Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) and Monseñor Sanabria Hospital appear on map. Sampling stations are designated: A) hospital wastewater, B) residential wastewater, C) treated effluent, and D) Puntarenas estuary where the WWTP effluent is discharged



**Figure 9:** Comparison of the frequency of ampicillin-resistant *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* spp. (proportion of total population) with data combined from all sites. The figure shows estimated least-square (LS) means derived from the fitted beta regression model. Whiskers are the 95% confidence intervals (CIs). The means of groups that do not share a letter are significantly different (p-value <0.05). Comparison among sampling sites is not shown in figure as sampling site was not a significant predictor



**Figure 10:** Comparison of  $\log_{10}$  mean concentrations ( $\log_{10}$  CFU/100 mL) of ampicillin resistant *Enterococcus* spp. and *E. coli* among sampling sites. Boxplots represent 1<sup>st</sup>, median and 3<sup>rd</sup> quartile, and the dotted line represents the mean. Whiskers are the minimum and maximum and dots are outliers. The means of groups that share a letter are not significantly different



**Figure 11:** Frequency of susceptibility of ampicillin-resistant *E. coli* isolates at each site to the following antibiotics: cefotaxime (CTX), ciprofloxacin (CIP), amoxicillin with clavulanic acid (AMC), gentamicin (GEN), tetracycline (TET), and trimethoprim sulfamethoxazole (SXT). Ampicillin is not shown in the plot as all isolates tested were fully resistant to ampicillin, the selective antibiotic in the isolation procedure. Larger circles denote higher frequency of isolates and smaller circles denote lower frequency. Additionally, the color scale from blue to red demotes increasing frequency of isolates



**Figure 12:** Frequency of susceptibility of ampicillin-resistant *Enterococcus* isolates to the following antibiotics: ciprofloxacin (CIP), erythromycin (ERY), gentamycin (GEN), linezolid (LZD), tetracycline (TET), and vancomycin (VAN). Ampicillin is not shown in the plot as all isolates tested were fully resistant to ampicillin, the selective in the isolation procedure. Larger circles denote higher frequency of isolates and smaller circles denote lower frequency. Additionally, the color scale from blue to red demotes increasing frequency of isolates



**Figure 13:** Frequency of additional resistance phenotypes in ampicillin-resistant *E. coli* isolates by site. CN (gentamicin), TE (tetracycline), CTX (cefotaxime), trimethoprim sulfamethazole (SXT) and ciprofloxacin (CIP). We fitted a logistic model to predict resistance (yes/no) with site, antibiotic, and the interaction effect between both factors (site\* antibiotic). Predicted frequency of resistance (dots) and confidence intervals (CI) are shown in figure



**Figure 14:** Comparison of frequency of multidrug resistance of *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* isolates per sampling site. The percent of multidrug-resistant isolates ( $\geq$  3 antibiotic classes) is shown in a pie chart for *E. coli* (overall n= 112) (left) and *Enterococcus* (overall n = 58) (right). Sample size per site for *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* is as follows: Hospital influent (n = 27 and 11), residential influent (n=29 and 13), effluent (n = 28 and 18) and estuary (n=28 and 16)



**Figure 15:** Proportion of isolates to multiple classes of antibiotics among *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* isolates at each site. Sample size per site for *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* is as follows: Hospital influent (n = 27 and 11), residential influent (n=29 and 13), effluent (n = 28 and 18) and estuary (n=28 and 16)


#### **COMBINATION OF ANTIBIOTICS**

**Figure 16:** Proportion of different combinations of antibiotics found in sampling sites for *E. coli* isolates. Sample size per site is as follows: Hospital influent (n = 27), residential influent (n=29), effluent (n = 28) and estuary (n=28)



**Figure 17:** Proportion of different combinations of antibiotics found in sampling sites for *Enter*ococcus spp. isolates. Sample size is as follows: Hospital influent (n = 11), residential influent (n = 13), effluent (n = 18) and estuary (n=16)

### AFTERWORD

### **Summary**

This research provides valuable information that can be used to inform and help evaluate future beach management strategies in Costa Rica, raise awareness on the risk of swimming in tropical polluted waters, and protect public health.

My research demonstrated that there is high risk of gastrointestinal illness associated with swimming in polluted rivers in tropical Costa Rica, primarily due to the presence of human enteric viruses in the rivers. These rivers are a year-round source of pollution to the beach, and this pollution persists to a lesser extent in the ocean. My results also reaffirm that hospital and residential wastewater are an import source of antibiotic resistant bacteria, and highlight the importance of disinfection (i.e., chlorine, UV, ozone) of the treated effluent prior to its release to the environment.

### **Future directions**

Effective monitoring strategies are essential to characterize water quality and support management strategies to protect human health and the environment. This research provides data that can be used as a baseline when establishing future strategies for the surveillance of microorganisms of public health concern (i.e., pathogens and antibiotic resistant bacteria) in tropical regions at a localized scale.

127

APPENDICES

### Appendix A. Chapter two

Note to reader:

This chapter has been previously published in *Water Research* (2021) doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116507 and has been reprinted with permission from © 2021 Elsevier, which allows authors to include their full articles in a thesis or dissertation for non-commercial purposes.

### **Appendix B. Chapter three**

Note to Reader.

This chapter contains information used for a manuscript that has been submitted to *Applied and environmental microbiology* (2022) and is under revision. It is included with permission from *Journal of Applied Microbiology* © 2022 Society for Applied Microbiology, which allows authors to include their full articles in a thesis or dissertation for non-commercial purposes.

### Appendix C. Chapter three supplementary materials

Risk of Gastroenteritis from Swimming at a Wastewater-Impacted Tropical Beach Varies across Localized Scales.

Supplementary Material Submitted to Applied and Environmental Microbiology.

Supplementary material contains Table S1 through S11 and Figure S1 through S5.

**Table S1:** Descriptive statistics for rivers (CP= Copey, NJ=Naranjal and MD= Madrigal) sampled (n=13) during the rainy season (n=39). A) bacterial indicator microorganisms, B) viral indicator microorganisms, C) microbial source tracking (MST) markers and D) pathogens. Percent censored refers to the percentage of observations that were not quantifiable, arranged in order of non-detects (below the assay LOD)/ detected but not quantifiable (above assay LOD and below the assay LOQ)/combined non-detect and detected but not quantifiable. SD = standard deviation

A)

Microbe	Enterococci CFU/L			Fecal colifor MPN/L	ms		C. perfringens CFU/L			
River	СР	NJ	MD	СР	NJ	MD	СР	NJ	MD	
% cen- sored	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	
Mean	1.9x10 <sup>4</sup>	4.3x10 <sup>4</sup>	1.4x10 <sup>4</sup>	2.1x10 <sup>5</sup>	6.4x10 <sup>5</sup>	4.1x10 <sup>5</sup>	$2.2 \times 10^2$	$4.0 \times 10^2$	$2.4 \times 10^2$	
SD	1.8x10 <sup>4</sup>	5.2x10 <sup>4</sup>	9.9x10 <sup>3</sup>	2.1x10 <sup>5</sup>	6.2x10 <sup>5</sup>	5.4x10 <sup>5</sup>	$1.3 \times 10^2$	6.5x10 <sup>2</sup>	$1.3 \times 10^2$	

## B)

Microbe	Somatic coliphage PFU/L			F+ coliphage PFU/L			
River	СР	NJ	MD	CP NJ		MD	
% censored	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/23/23	0/8/8	0/15/15	
Mean	10.0x10 <sup>2</sup>	$1.2 \times 10^3$	6.6x10 <sup>2</sup>	$4.6 \mathrm{x} 10^1$	$2.3 \times 10^2$	1.9x10 <sup>2</sup>	
SD	$1.2 \times 10^3$	$8.9 \times 10^2$	8.0x10 <sup>2</sup>	$7.9 x 10^{1}$	$5.8 \times 10^2$	5.1x10 <sup>2</sup>	

C)

Microbe	HF183 GC/L			PMMoV GC/L			
River	СР	NJ	MD	СР	NJ	MD	
% censored	0/0/0	8/0/8	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	
Mean	2.6x10 <sup>4</sup>	$7.4 \times 10^3$	$7.4 \times 10^3$	5.4x10 <sup>4</sup>	6.4x10 <sup>4</sup>	3.1x10 <sup>5</sup>	
SD	$3.4 \times 10^4$	9.8x10 <sup>3</sup>	$1.0 \times 10^2$	5.5x10 <sup>4</sup>	$4.3 \times 10^4$	9.0x10 <sup>5</sup>	

## D)

Mi- crobe	be Giardia Cysts/L		Crypto Oocyst	Cryptosporidium Oocysts/L		Salmonella CFU/L		NoVGI GC/L			AdV GC/L				
River	СР	NJ	MD	СР	NJ	MD	СР	NJ	MD	СР	NJ	MD	СР	NJ	MD
% cen- sored	23/0/2 3	15/0/1 5	15/0/1 5	85/0/8 5	100/0/1 00	92/0/9 2	23/0/2 3	31/0/3 1	24/0/2 4	62/38/1 00	15/69/ 84	85/8/9 2	62/38/ 100	31/38/ 69	92/0/9 2
Mean	2.4x10	2.4x10	1.1x10	NA <sup>a</sup>	NA	NA	7.4x10	5.8x10	2.6x10	NA	NA	NA	NA	1.5x10	NA
SD	1.7x10	3.7x10	1.3x10	NA	NA	NA	6.4x10	4.7x10	2.0x10	NA	NA	NA	NA	3.1x10	NA

NA<sup>a</sup>= Does not apply, mean and standard deviation not calculated because percent of left censored observations >80%

**Table S2:** Descriptive statistics per river (CP= Copey, NJ=Naranjal and MD= Madrigal) sampled (n=13) during the dry season (n=39). A) bacterial indicator microorganisms, B) viral indicator microorganisms, C) MST markers and D) pathogens. Percent censored refers to the percentage of observations that were not quantifiable, arranged in order of non-detects (below the assay LOD)/ detected but not quantifiable (above assay LOD and below the assay LOQ)/combined non-detect and detected but not quantifiable. SD = Standard deviation

A)

Microbe	Enterococci CFU/L			Fecal colifor MPN/L	ms		C. perfringens CFU/L			
River	СР	NJ	MD	СР	NJ	MD	СР	NJ	MD	
% cen- sored	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	
Mean	1.4x10 <sup>4</sup>	6.4x10 <sup>3</sup>	8.8x10 <sup>3</sup>	7.5x10 <sup>5</sup>	2.2x10 <sup>5</sup>	1.5x10 <sup>5</sup>	8.9x10 <sup>2</sup>	$7.4 \times 10^2$	4.5x10 <sup>2</sup>	
SD	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		6.8x10 <sup>3</sup>	6.3x10 <sup>5</sup>	2.3x10 <sup>5</sup>	2.4x10 <sup>5</sup>	8.4x10 <sup>2</sup>	$6.5 \times 10^2$	$4.8 \times 10^2$	

## B)

Microbe	Somatic coliphage PFU/L			F+ coliphage PFU/L			
River	СР	NJ	MD	СР	MD		
% censored	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	15/0/0	0/0/0	
Mean	$2.0 \times 10^3$	$1.4 \times 10^3$	6.9x10 <sup>3</sup>	$8.8 \times 10^{1}$	$1.7 \text{x} 10^2$	7.9x10 <sup>1</sup>	
SD	$2.0 \times 10^3$	1.6x10 <sup>3</sup>	$2.6 \times 10^2$	$1.1 \times 10^2$	$2.8 \times 10^2$	9.0x10 <sup>1</sup>	

C)

Microbe	HF183 GC/L			PMMoV GC/L			
River	СР	NJ	MD	СР	NJ	MD	
% censored	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	
Mean	6.3x10 <sup>4</sup>	$4.2 \times 10^4$	$2.7 \times 10^4$	1.6x10 <sup>5</sup>	1.7x 0 <sup>5</sup>	1.4x10 <sup>5</sup>	
SD	5.7x10 <sup>4</sup>	5.2x10 <sup>4</sup>	$4.0 \mathrm{x} 10^4$	1.6x10 <sup>5</sup>	1.3x10 <sup>5</sup>	1.9x10 <sup>5</sup>	

# D)

Mi- crobe	De Giardia Cysts/L			Cryptosporidium Oocysts/L		Salmonella CFU/L		NoVGI GC/L			AdV GC/L				
River	СР	NJ	MD	СР	NJ	MD	СР	NJ	MD	СР	NJ	MD	СР	NJ	MD
% cen- sored	0/0/0	8/0/8	54/0/5 4	85/0/8 5	100/0/ 100	100/0/ 100	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/23/2 3	0/23/2 3	0/38/3 8	38/38/ 76	54/8/6 2	92/8/1 00
Mean	1.5x10	1.4x1 $0^{0}$	2.7x10	NA <sup>a</sup>	NA	NA	3.4x10	1.3x10	1.7x10	1.6x10	2.4x10	4.5x10	7.0x10	9.8x10	NA
SD	2.3x10	2.9x1 $0^{0}$	4.1x10	NA	NA	NA	2.6x10	2.4x10	1.4x10	1.7x10	4.6x10	9.0x10	4.5x10	1.1x10	NA

NA<sup>a</sup>= Does not apply, mean standard deviation not calculated because percent of left censored observations >80%

**Table S3:** Descriptive statistics for microbial variables at ocean sites impacted by each river regardless of season (n=26 samples per ocean site). Percent censored refers to the percentage of observations that were not quantifiable, arranged in order of non-detects (below the assay LOD)/ detected but not quantifiable (above assay LOD and below the assay LOQ)/combined non-detect and detected but not quantifiable. SD = standard deviation.

Mi- crobe	Enterococci CFU/L			Fecal col MPN/L	iforms		HF183 GC/L			
River	CP NJ MD		СР	NJ	MD	СР	NJ	MD		
% cen- sored	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	8/12/19	8/24/32	8/42/50	
Mean	1.4x10 <sup>3</sup>	9.2x10 <sup>2</sup>	3.3 x 10 <sup>2</sup>	8.7x10 <sup>3</sup>	3.8x10 <sup>3</sup>	2.9x10 <sup>3</sup>	5.1x10 <sup>4</sup>	3.8x10 <sup>4</sup>	$4.0 \times 10^3$	
SD	$2.5 \times 10^3$	$2.1 \times 10^3$	$6.1 \times 10^2$	$6.2 \times 10^3$	$6.2 \times 10^3$	$4.4 \times 10^3$	1.6x10 <sup>5</sup>	$1.7 \times 10^5$	$8.4 \times 10^3$	

**Table S4:** Statistical output of A) Multiple regression of species (microorganisms) with ordination axes in data. P-values <0.05 are bolded, B) Permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) to test for differences in microorganisms between seasons, subwatersheds and the interaction effect between season and subwatershed in river and ocean data, C) Pairwise PERMANOVA with Holm p-value adjustment in river data, D) Pairwise PERMANOVA with Holm p-value adjustment in ocean data, E) Redundancy analysis (RDA) in river data, F) RDA analysis in ocean data

A)

Microorganism	r	P-value
Giardia	0.11	0.02
Cryptosporidium	0.00	0.95
Salmonella	0.61	0.01
NoVGI	0.59	0.01
AdV	0.07	0.09
enterococci	0.22	0.01
fecal coliforms	0.08	0.07
C. perfringens	0.40	0.01
somatic coliphage	0.09	0.03
F+ coliphage	0.43	0.01
HF183	0.38	0.01
PMMoV	0.77	0.01

## B)

Crowns	River	Ocean		
Groups	F statistic	p-value	F statistic	p-value
seasons (rainy vs. dry)	3.82	0.001	2.36	0.09
river areas (Copey, Naranjal and Madrigal)	16.94	0.001	7.85	0.001
Interaction season:river areas	16.94	0.001	0.25	0.921

# C)

Combined factor subwatershed/season	Copey_rainy	Naranjal_rainy	Madrigal _rainy	Copey _dry	Naranjal _dry
Naranjal_rainy	0.02				
Madrigal_rainy	0.176	0.015			
Copey_dry	0.015	0.015	0.015		
Naranjal_dry	0.015	0.015	0.015	0.176	
Madrigal_dry	0.015	0.015	0.015	0.015	0.063

## D)

Factor	Сореу	Naranjal
Naranjal	0.003	
Madrigal	0.003	0.747

E)

River RDA Analysis			
constrained proportion	9.40%		
Pseudo F statistic	3.93		
p-value	0.001		
Adjusted R2	7.10%		
Optimal environmental variable	Pseudo F statistic	P-value	
Cummulative rainfall 48 h	5.8	0.001	
Water temperature	2.2	0.029	

## F)

Ocean RDA Analysis				
constrained proportion	12.20%			
Pseudo F statistic	3.6			
p-value	0.002			
Adjusted R2	8.00%			
Optimal environmental variable	Pseudo F statistic	P-value		
Water temperature	4.00	0.026		
Cummulative rainfall 48 h	3.79	0.030		
Cummulative rainfall 96 h	2.60	0.095		

**Table S5:** Quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) model parameter assumptions and

equations

Parameter	Units	Value or distribution	Reference
Volume ingestion rate for general population	ml min <sup>-1</sup>	log <sub>10</sub> normal(1.267, 0.628)	(US EPA, 2010)
Human Adenovirus Harmo- nization factor	TCID <sub>50</sub> copies <sup>-1</sup>	uniform (0.00143, 0.1)	(Flint <i>et al.</i> , 2009; Heider and Metzner, 2014; Kundu <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2013)

Pathogen dose-Response models to calculate probability of Infection ( $P_{inf}$ ), where d = dose

Human Adenovirus (oral)	Exact Beta- Poisson	$P_{inf} = 1 - {}_{1}F_{1}(\alpha, \alpha + \beta, -d)$ $\alpha = 5.11; \beta = 2.80$	(Teunis <i>et al.</i> , 2016)
Cryptosporidium spp.	Fractional Pois- son	$P_{inf} = P \times [1 - e^{\frac{-d}{\mu}}]$ P = 0.737, $\mu = 1$	(Messner & Berger, 2016)
Giardia lamblia	Exponential	$P_{inf} = 1 - e^{\frac{-d}{k}}$ k = 50	(Rose <i>et al.</i> , 1991)
Norovirus genotype I	Fractional Pois- son	$P_{inf} = P \times \left[1 - e^{\frac{-d}{\mu}}\right]$ P = 0.87, $\mu$ = 1106 (aggregate), 1 (disaggregate)	(Messner <i>et al.</i> , 2014; Morera <i>et al.</i> , 2003; Van Abel <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
Salmonella enteritidis Salmonella typhimurium	Beta Function (simplified con- ditional func- tion, originally Hypergeometric Beta Poisson)	$P_{inf} = \frac{B(\alpha, \beta + d)}{B(\alpha, \beta)}$ $\alpha = 0.0085, \beta = 3.14$	(Teunis <i>et al.</i> , 2010)

Probability of Illness (P <sub>ill</sub> ) is c 2019)	(Sunger et al.,	
Morbidity Ratio ( <i>M</i> )	proportion	
MAdenovirus	0.5	(Haas <i>et al.</i> , 2014)
$M_{Cryptosporidium}$	0.39	(DuPont <i>et al.</i> , 1995)
$M_{Giardia}$	0.5	(Rose <i>et al.</i> , 1991)
M <sub>Norovirus</sub>	0.6	(Eftim <i>et al</i> ., 2017)
MSalmonella	0.2	(Haas <i>et al.</i> , 2014)

**Table S6:** Estimated distribution of pathogen concentrations in rivers calculated for quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA). CFU = colony forming units, rROS = robust regression on order statistics

Parameter	Units Log10normal Distribu- tion		rameter Units		Estimation Method
		(mean, standard devia- tion)			
Copey River – Rainy Se	ason				
Adenovirus	Copies L <sup>-1</sup>	(1.94, 0.70)	95 <sup>th</sup> percentile estimation		
Cryptosporidium	Oocysts L <sup>-1</sup>	(-1.52, 0.30)	95 <sup>th</sup> percentile estimation		
Giardia	Cysts L <sup>-1</sup>	(0.22, 0.48)	rROS		
Norovirus	Copies L <sup>-1</sup>	(1.92, 0.70)	95 <sup>th</sup> percentile estimation		
Salmonella	CFU L <sup>-1</sup>	(0.66, 0.49)	rROS		
Copey River – Dry Seas	on				
Adenovirus	Copies L <sup>-1</sup>	(2.77, 0.26)	rROS		
Cryptosporidium	Oocysts L-1	(-1.67, 0.32)	95 <sup>th</sup> percentile estimation		
Giardia	Cysts L <sup>-1</sup>	(-0.07, 0.45)	N/A; data not censored		
Norovirus	Copies L <sup>-1</sup>	(2.97, 0.45)	rROS		
Salmonella	CFU L <sup>-1</sup>	(1.41, 0.34)	N/A; data not censored		
Naranjal River – Rainy	Season				
Adenovirus	Copies L <sup>-1</sup>	(2.33, 0.92)	rROS		
Cryptosporidium	Oocysts L <sup>-1</sup>	(-2.30, 0.36)	95 <sup>th</sup> percentile estimation		
Giardia	Cysts L <sup>-1</sup>	(-0.23, 0.89)	rROS		

Norovirus	Copies L <sup>-1</sup>	(2.48, 0.35)	95 <sup>th</sup> percentile estimation
Salmonella	CFU L <sup>-1</sup>	(0.60, 0.42)	rROS
Naranjal River – Dry Se	eason		
Adenovirus	Copies L <sup>-1</sup>	(2.74, 0.49)	rROS
Cryptosporidium	Oocysts L <sup>-1</sup>	(-2.30, 0.36)	95 <sup>th</sup> percentile estimation
Giardia	Cysts L <sup>-1</sup>	(-0.39, 0.72)	rROS
Norovirus	Copies L <sup>-1</sup>	(2.99, 0.54)	rROS
Salmonella	CFU L <sup>-1</sup>	(1.64, 0.60)	N/A; data not censored
Madrigal River – Rainy	Season		
Adenovirus	Copies L <sup>-1</sup>	(1.56, 0.66)	95 <sup>th</sup> percentile estimation
Cryptosporidium	Oocysts L <sup>-1</sup>	(-1.85, 0.23)	95 <sup>th</sup> percentile estimation
Giardia	Cysts L <sup>-1</sup>	(-0.36, 0.71)	rROS
Norovirus	Copies L <sup>-1</sup>	(1.69,0.66)	95 <sup>th</sup> percentile estimation
Salmonella	CFU L <sup>-1</sup>	(1.30, 0.35)	rROS
Madrigal River – Dry S	eason		
Adenovirus	Copies L <sup>-1</sup>	(2.04, 0.50)	95 <sup>th</sup> percentile estimation
Cryptosporidium	Oocysts L <sup>-1</sup>	(-2.27, 0.35)	95 <sup>th</sup> percentile estimation
Giardia	Cysts L <sup>-1</sup>	(-1.06, 0.74)	rROS
Norovirus	Copies L <sup>-1</sup>	(3.00, 0.76)	rROS
Salmonella	CFU L <sup>-1</sup>	(2.06, 0.46)	N/A; data not censored

**Table S7:** Quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) model parameter assumptions for sensitivity analyses with realistic values

from the literature

Parameter	Units	Value or distribution	Explanation	Reference
Pathogen river concentrations				
Human Adenovirus	copies l <sup>-1</sup>	log <sub>10</sub> uniform (-3.00, 3.86)	full range from 0.001 to maximum mean wastewater concentrations	(Symonds <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
Cryptosporidium spp.	oocysts l <sup>-1</sup>	log <sub>10</sub> uniform (-3.00, 4.40)		(Boehm <i>et al</i> ., 2018)
Giardia lamblia	cysts l <sup>-1</sup>	log <sub>10</sub> uniform (-3.00, 5.02)	_	(Maier et al., 2009)
Norovirus genotype I	copies l <sup>-1</sup>	log <sub>10</sub> uniform (-3.00, 6.73)	_	(Symonds <i>et al</i> ., 2017)
Salmonella enteritidis Salmonella typhimurium	CFU 1 <sup>-1</sup>	log <sub>10</sub> uniform (-3.00, 4.70)	_	(Boehm <i>et al.</i> , 2018)
Volume of water ingested	ml	log <sub>10</sub> uniform (0, 2.08)	Extreme values, 0 ml to 120 ml	(Stone <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
Human Adenovirus Harmonization factor	TCID <sub>50</sub> copies <sup>-1</sup>	uniform (0.00143, 0.1)	Did not change from the original model	(Flint <i>et al.</i> , 2009; Heider and Metzner, 2014; Kundu <i>et al.</i> , 2013)

Dose-Response models to calcu	late probability	of infection $(P_{inf})$		
Human Adenovirus (oral)		$\alpha = 5.11; \beta = 2.80$	Paired values; could not change	(Teunis et al., 2016)
Cryptosporidium spp.		p: uniform (0.67, 0.08) μ: 1	90% credible interval given one oo- cyst	(Messner & Berger, 2016)
Giardia lamblia		k: uniform (28, 102)	95 <sup>th</sup> percentile confidence interval estimate	(Rose et al., 1991)
Norovirus genotype I		p: uniform (0.72, 1) μ: uniform (1, 1106)	<ul> <li>p: susceptible population could be as</li> <li>high as 100% or as low as 72%</li> <li>µ: disaggregate to aggregate NoVGI</li> </ul>	(Messner <i>et al.</i> , 2014; Van Abel <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
Salmonella enteritidis Salmonella typhimurium		$\alpha = 0.0085, \beta = 3.14$	Paired values; could not change	(Teunis et al., 2010)
Morbidity ratio (M)				
M <sub>Adenovirus</sub>	proportion	uniform (0.25, 1)		(Viau <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
M <sub>Cryptosporidium</sub>	proportion	uniform (0.2, 1)	The minimum value reported in the	(US EPA, 2010)
M <sub>Giardia</sub>	proportion	uniform (0.2, 1)	sible corresponding to 100% illness	(US EPA, 2010)
M <sub>Norovirus</sub>	proportion	uniform (0.3, 1)		(Teunis <i>et al.</i> , 2008; US EPA, 2010)

<b>M</b> Salmonella	proportion uniform (0.17, 1)	(Boehm <i>et al.</i> , 2018; Haas <i>et al.</i> , 2014)
---------------------	------------------------------	---

**Table S8:** Frequency of pathogen detection (percentage of observations >LOD) with data combined from all rivers in the rainy and dry seasons. The theoretical process limit of detection and quantification is included in Table 1

Pathogen	pLOD	pLOQ	Units	Dry Season % (n) Detected	Rainy Season % (n) Detected
Giardia	<0.04	NA	Cysts/ L	79% (31)	82% (32)
Cryptosporidium	<0.04	NA	Oocysts/ L	5% (2)	8% (3)
Salmonella	<1.7	NA	CFU/ L	100% (39)	74% (29)
NoVGI	<128.2	1210.2	GC/ L	100% (39)	41% (16)
AdV	<168.2	1155.2	GC/ L	39% (15)	39 % (15)

**Table S9:** Mean and standard deviation of pathogens in the river data (n = 78) per season sampled (n=39). Percent left-censored refers to the percent of observations that are below the LOD of *Giardia*, *Cryptosporidium* and *Salmonella* assays and below the LOD and LOQ of NoVGI and AdV assays

		Season	
Microorganism	Units	Rainy	Dry
Giardia	Cysts/ L	$1.97 \ge 10^{\circ} \pm 2.51$	$1.08 \ x \ 10^{0} \pm 2.19$
Cryptosporidium	Oocysts/ L	NA <sup>a</sup>	NA
Salmonella	CFU/ L	$1.27 \ge 10^1 \pm 15.45$	$1.12 \text{ x } 10^2 \pm 166.24$
NoVGI	GC/ L	NA	$2.85 \text{ x } 10^3 \pm 5.88 \text{ x } 10^3$
AdV	GC/ L	NA	$5.87 \ge 10^2 \pm 7.69 \ge 10^2$

NA<sup>a</sup> Does not apply, mean standard deviation not calculated because percent of left censored observations >80%

**Table S10:** Descriptive statistics in the ocean data (n = 78) per season sampled (n=39). Percent censored refers to the percentage of observations that were not quantifiable, arranged in order of non-detects (below the assay LOD)/ detected but not quantifiable (above assay LOD and below the assay LOQ)/combined non-detect and detected but not quantifiable. SD = standard deviation

Microbe	Enterococci CFU/L		Fecal coliforms MPN/L		HF183 GC/L	
Season	Rainy	Dry	Rainy	Dry	Rainy	Dry
% censored	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	0/0/0	8/26/34	8/26/34
Mean	1.48 x 10 <sup>3</sup>	$2.77 \times 10^2$	$5.50 \ge 10^3$	4.79 x 10 <sup>3</sup>	3.33 x 10 <sup>4</sup>	2.78 x 10 <sup>4</sup>
SD	2.61 x 10 <sup>3</sup>	$3.19 \ge 10^2$	$6.10 \ge 10^3$	1.39 x 10 <sup>3</sup>	1.31 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	1.39 x 10 <sup>5</sup>

**Table S11:** Viral log10 reduction values (LRVs) needed to ensure safe swimming conditions at Jacó beach by river, and season. The

 LRV range represented was based upon the cumulative viral risk of GI illness to swimmers calculated using the norovirus genogroup I

 (NoVGI) aggregate (agg) model

D:	Viral log <sub>10</sub> Reduction Value			
River	Dry Season	Rainy Season		
Сореу	1.9	1.5		
Naranjal	2.1	2.2		



**Figure S1:** Redundancy analysis (RDA) ordination plot showing that water temperature and rainfall 48 h prior to sampling (blue arrows) were the environmental variables that optimized the relationship between microorganisms in rivers. Species (red) plotted were selected based on goodness of fit ( $r^2=0.4$ )



**Figure S2:** Redundancy analysis (RDA) ordination plot showing that water temperature and rainfall 48 h and 96 h prior of sampling were the environmental variables that optimized the relationship between microorganisms in the ocean



Median risk of GI illness per river/season

(0.01,0.02] (0.02, 0.03](0.04,0.2]

Figure S3: Median risk of gastrointestinal (GI) illness to swimmers for each river and season by pathogen, as well as cumulatively. Estimates for NoVGI and cumulative risk were calculated with the aggregate NoVGI model. Color scales indicate how the median value of risk compared to the US EPA Recreational Water Quality health benchmark (recommendation 1: 36 illness per 1000)



**Figure S4:** Risk of gastrointestinal (GI) illness for swimmers recreating in the rivers during the dry and rainy seasons by pathogen, as well as cumulatively for all pathogens, in comparison to the US EPA Recreational Water Quality benchmark of 36 GI illness per 1000 swimmers (Recommendation 1, 0.036). Adenovirus (AdV), *Cryptosporidium* (Crypto), norovirus aggregate model (NoV\_agg), norovirus dissagregate model (NoV\_dis), all pathogens with NoVGI aggregate model (Path\_agg), all pathogens with NoVGI dissagregate model (Path\_dis). Boxes represent 25<sup>th</sup>, 50<sup>th</sup>, 75<sup>th</sup> quartiles and whiskers represent minimum and maximum



**Figure S5:** Sensitivity analysis of the quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) for swimmers in the rivers, demonstrating the sensitivity of each model parameter (y axis) on the cumulative pathogen illness based upon Spearman rank order correlations (x axis) depicted in a tornado plot

### References

- Boehm, A.B., Graham, K.E., Jennings, W.C., 2018. Can we swim yet? Systematic review, metaanalysis, and risk assessment of aging sewage in surface waters. Environ. Sci. Technol. 52: 9634–9. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b01948
- DuPont, H., Chappell, C., Sterling, C., Okhuysen, P., Rose, J., Jakubowski, W., 1995. The infectivity of Cryptosporidium parvum in healthy volunteers. N. Engl. J. Med. 332, 855–859. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199503303321304
- Eftim, S.E., Hong, T., Soller, J., Boehm, A., Warren, I., Ichida, A., Nappier, S.P., 2017. Occurrence of norovirus in raw sewage - A systematic literature review and meta-analysis. Water Res. 111, 366–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2017.01.017
- Flint, S.J., Enquist, L.M., Racaniello, V., Skalka, A.M., 2009. Principles of virology. Vol. I: Molecular, 3rd ed. ed. ASM Press, Washington, D.C., 2009.
- Haas, C.N., Rose, J.B., Gerba, C.P., 2014. Quantitative microbial risk assessment, Second. ed. Wiley-Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118910030
- Heider, S., Metzner, C., 2014. Quantitative real-time single particle analysis of virions. Virology 462–463, 199–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VIROL.2014.06.005
- Kundu, A., McBride, G., Wuertz, S., 2013. Adenovirus-associated health risks for recreational activities in a multi-use coastal watershed based on site-specific quantitative microbial risk assessment. Water Res. 47, 6309–6325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.08.002
- Maier, R.M., Pepper, I.L., Gerba, C.P., 2009. Environmental microbiology. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Messner, M.J., Berger, P., 2016. Cryptosporidium infection risk: results of new dose-response modeling. Risk Anal. 36, 1969–1982. https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12541
- Messner, M.J., Berger, P., Nappier, S.P., 2014. Fractional poisson A simple dose-response model for human norovirus. Risk Anal. 34, 1820–1829. https://doi.org/10.1111/RISA.12207
- Morera, B., Barrantes, R., Marin-Rojas, R., 2003. Gene admixture in the Costa Rican Population. Ann. Hum. Genet. 67, 71–80. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1469-1809.2003.00010.X
- Rose, J.B., Haas, C.N., Regli, S., 1991. Risk assessment and control of waterborne giardiasis. Am. J. Public Health 81, 709–713. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.81.6.709
- Stone, D.L., Harding, A.K., Hope, B.K., Slaughter-Mason, S., 2008. Exposure assessment and risk of gastrointestinal illness among surfers. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health. A 71, 1603–1615. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287390802414406
- Sunger, N., Hamilton, K.A., Morgan, P.M., Haas, C.N., 2019. Comparison of pathogen-derived 'total risk' with indicator-based correlations for recreational (swimming) exposure. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 26, 30614–30624. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-1881-x
- Symonds, E.M., Young, S., Verbyla, M.E., McQuaig-Ulrich, S.M., Ross, E., Jiménez, J.A., Harwood, V.J., Breitbart, M., 2017. Microbial source tracking in shellfish harvesting waters in the Gulf of Nicoya, Costa Rica. Water Res. 111, 177–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.01.004
- Teunis, P., Schijven, J., Rutjes, S., 2016. A generalized dose-response relationship for adenovirus infection and illness by exposure pathway. Epidemiol. Infect. 144, 3461–3473. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268816001862
- Teunis, P.F.M., Kasuga, F., Fazil, A., Ogden, I.D., Rotariu, O., Strachan, N.J.C., 2010. Dose– response modeling of Salmonella using outbreak data. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 144, 243– 249. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJFOODMICRO.2010.09.026

- Teunis, P.F.M., Moe, C.L., Liu, P., Miller, S.E., Lindesmith, L., Baric, R.S., Le Pendu, J., Calderon, R.L., 2008. Norwalk virus: How infectious is it? J. Med. Virol. 80, 1468–1476. https://doi.org/10.1002/JMV.21237
- US EPA, 2010. Quantitative Microbial Risk Assessment to Estimate Illness in Freshwater Impacted by Agricultural Animal Sources of Fecal Contamination. USEPA 822-R-10-005.
- Van Abel, N., Schoen, M.E., Kissel, J.C., Meschke, J.S., 2017. Comparison of risk predicted by multiple norovirus dose–response models and implications for quantitative microbial risk assessment. Risk Anal. 37, 245–264. https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12616
- Viau, E.J., Lee, D., Boehm, A.B., 2011. Swimmer risk of gastrointestinal illness from exposure to tropical coastal waters impacted by terrestrial dry-weather runoff. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 7158–7165. https://doi.org/10.1021/es200984b

### Appendix D. Chapter four supplementary materials

Multidrug-resistant E. coli and Enterococcus sp. in Costa Rican wastewater and surface

waters.

Supplementary material contains Table S1 through S4.

Antibiotic	Test Group	Class	Disk Content	Relevance	Therapeutic use
Ampicillin	A <sup>a</sup>	Penicillins	10 ug	High resistance in Costa Rica (Tzoc <i>et al</i> ., 2004)	Treat infection (i.e., throat, sinuses, lungs, reproductive organs, urinary tract, and gastrointestinal tract
Gentamycin	A	Aminoglycosides	10 ug	Used in Costa Rica (Gobierno del Bicen- tenario Costa Rica, 2018)	Treat infection (i.e., blood, abdo- men (stomach area), lungs, skin, bones, joints, and urinary tract).
Ciprofloxacin	В	Fluoroquinolones	5 ug	Used in Costa Rica (Gobierno del Bicen- tenario Costa Rica, 2018)	Treat infection (i.e., gonorrhea, ty- phoid fever, infectious diarrhea and infections of the skin, bone, joint, abdomen, and prostate)
Cefotaxime	В	Cephem	30 ug	Used in Costa Rica (Gobierno del Bicen- tenario Costa Rica, 2018)	To treat infection (i.e., gonorrhea, meningitis, abdominal, female re- productive organs, skin, blood, bone, joint, and urinary tract infec- tions)
Amoxicillin with clavulanate	В	Beta-Lactamase inhibitor combina- tions	20/10 ug	Used in Costa Rica (Gobierno del Bicen- tenario Costa Rica, 2018)	To treat infection (i.e., pneumonia, ear infections, bronchitis, urinary tract infections, and infections of the skin)

**Table S1:** Antibiotics chosen for the Kirby-Bauer disc diffusion assay for *E. coli* as well as their relevance to the study
## Table S1 (continued)

Tetracycline	С	Tetracyclines	30 ug	Used in Costa Rica (Gobierno del Bicen- tenario Costa Rica, 2018; Gutiérrez <i>et al.</i> , 2010).	Treat infection (pneumonia and other respiratory tract infections; skin, eye, lymphatic, intestinal, gen- ital and urinary system infections)
Trimethoprim- sulfamethoxazole	В	Folate pathway in- hibitors	1.25/23.75 ug	Used in Costa Rica (Gobierno del Bicen- tenario Costa Rica, 2018)	Treat infection (i.e., prevent urinary tract infections (UTIs), such as cys- titis)

<sup>a</sup> Group A appropriate to include in primary testing.
<sup>b</sup> Group B when the microorganism is resistant to antibiotics in Group A.

Antibiotic	CLSI Test Group	Class	Disk Con- tent	Relevance	Therapeutical use
Ampicillin	A	Penicillins	10 ug	High resistance in Costa Rica (Tzoc <i>et al.</i> , 2004)	Treat infection (i.e., throat, sinuses, lungs, reproductive organs, urinary tract, and gastrointestinal tract
Gentamycin	А	Aminoglyco- sides	10 ug	Used in Costa Rica (Gobierno del Bicentenario Costa Rica, 2018)	Treat infection (i.e., blood, abdo- men (stomach area), lungs, skin, bones, joints, and urinary
Ciprofloxacin	U	Quinolones and Fluoroquin- olones	5 ug	Used in Costa Rica (Gobierno del Bicentenario Costa Rica, 2018)	Treat infection (i.e., sexually trans- mitted disease, typhoid fever, in- fectious diarrhea and infections of the skin, bone, joint, abdomen, and prostate)
Vancomycin	В	Glycopeptides	30 ug	Resistance in Costa Rican (INCIENSA, 2011)	Treat infection in intestines and en- terocolitis
Tetracycline	С	Tetracyclines	30 ug	Used in Costa Rica (Gobierno del Bicentenario Costa Rica, 2018)	Treat infection (pneumonia and other respiratory tract infections; skin, eye, lymphatic, intestinal, genital and urinary system infec- tions)

Table S2: Antibiotics chosen for the Kirby-Bauer disc diffusion assay for *Enterococcus spp.* as well as their relevance to the study

## Table S2 (continued)

Linezolid	В	Oxazolidones	30 ug	World-wide use (O'Driscoll & Crank, 2015)	Treat infection (i.e., pneumonia, and infections of the skin)
Erythromycin	Ο	Macrolides	15 ug	Widely used in clinical medicine (Dinos, 2017)	Treat infection (i.e., respiratory tract infections, skin infections, diphtheria, acute pelvic inflamma- tory disease, Legionnaire's disease, intestinal amebiasis and syphilis)

<sup>a</sup> Group A appropriate to include in primary testing.
<sup>b</sup> Group B when the microorganism is resistant to antibiotics in Group A
<sup>c</sup> Group C when reporting to infection control as an epidemiological aid.
<sup>o</sup> Group O are not tested routinely in the US
<sup>u</sup> Group U for specific urinary pathogens.

**Table S3:** Statistical results for testing for differences in  $log_{10}$  mean total and ampicillin-resistant *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* concentrations among sampling sites. Significant differences (P-values <0.05) are bolded. P- values associated to Tuckey HSD test are shown in the last column

EID	Tota	al	Ampicillin-resistant		
FIB	F statistic	P- value	F statistic	P- value	
E. coli	23.13	0.0000	9.4	0.0018	
Enterococcus spp.	7.01	0.0056	0.5	0.687	

**Table S4:** Significance of pairwise comparisons of  $\log_{10}$  mean concentrations of *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* by site. Significant differences between sites (P-values <0.05) are bolded

Deimine companient	E. coli	Enterococcus spp	
Pairwise comparison	Ampicillin-resistant	Ampicillin-resistant	
Residential-Hospital	0.047	NA	
Residential-Effluent	0.0137	NA	
Residential-Estuary	0.0012	NA	
Hospital-Effluent	0.8923	NA	
Hospital-Estuary	0.1961	NA	
Effluent-Estuary	0.5051	NA	

NA- ANOVA (Table S3) found no significant difference among  $log_{10}$  mean concentrations of ampicillin-resistant *Enterococcus* by site, therefore a post-hoc test was not necessary.